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Transmit Entertainment Limited
(Stock code: 1326)

As an enterprise with diversified development having a focus on
film, television and variety show content creation and production
with the spirit of business value “Enabling”, Transmit Entertainment
Limited principally engages in (i) film, TV series and variety
show production, distribution and licensing of film rights; (ii) film
exhibition; (iii) pan entertainment (including artiste and celebrity
agency business as well as pan entertainment businesses along
the value chain); and (iv) other businesses. The Group continuously
implements its development strategy of brand diversification. In
addition, the Group endeavors to develop its self-owned full industry
chain model and construct a unique soft power desirable to the
Group through persistently combined resources of scriptwriters,
directors and artistes to offer quality content, nurture talented
artistes and explore, cultivate and create popular film and television
copyright.

Taking advantages of online platforms to cultivate new artistes
and celebrities, the Group focuses on the creation of high-quality
film and TV content whilst proactively broadening its revenue base
by continuously identifying business opportunities in film, TV and
entertainment consumption from four aspects including online
streaming, short videos, celebrity cultivation and traffic monetization
with the aim to focus on film, television and variety show as
its business direction following the Group's core. Meanwhile,
the Group attaches great importance to expanding its business
dimension through collaboration with partners and establishing
more sophisticated upstream and downstream industry chains by
enriching the industry layout with physical products, thereby seizing
new opportunities arising from the pan entertainment business.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERERE

On behalf of the board of directors

(the “Board”) of Transmit Entertainment
Limited (“Transmit Entertainment” or the
“Company”), | am pleased to present to
you the annual results of the Company and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year
ended 30 June 2023.
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During the year under review, the global economy was fraught
with increased uncertainty due to rising inflation levels and
tightening global movement. Nevertheless, as a series of major,
favourable policies rolled out and the consumption-stimulating
policies continued to take effect, the Chinese economy was rapidly
recovering and continued to maintain a strong, stable and healthy
development momentum. According to the macroeconomic data
released by the National Bureau of Statistics of China, the total
retail sales of social consumer goods from January to August
2023 increased by 7% year-on-year, and the retail sales of
services increased by 19.4%. The surge in service consumption
has injected fresh vigour into the optimisation of consumption
patterns and the pursuit of high-quality economic development.
Among which, in August 2023, both the total retail sales of social
consumer goods and the added value of industrial enterprises above
designated scale exhibited a higher year-on-year growth rate, and
the business activity index of various service industries, including
telecommunication, radio and TV broadcasting as well as satellite
transmission services, was also booming, demonstrating the
presence of a strong momentum of service consumption.
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Meanwhile, the long-term development of the film, TV and
entertainment markets was bolstered by an increasing rate of
mobile internet penetration, continuous improvements in digital
infrastructure construction and growing concern and interest in
customised digital consumption experiences among consumers.
According to the data released by the China Internet Network
Information Center, the number of internet users in China further
increased from 1.051 billion in June 2022 to 1.079 billion in June
2023, and the number of online video users further expanded from
995 million in June 2022 to 1.044 billion in June 2023, accounting for
96.8% of the total internet users. Further, the demand for diversified
and high-quality film and TV content was boosted by a more precise
and sophisticated content distribution based on big data technology
and the popularisation of home entertainment terminals. According
to PwC’'s Global Entertainment & Media Outlook, the OTT video
market in China is poised to grow with the total revenue projected
to increase from US$18.1 billion in 2022 to US$25.9 billion in 2027,
representing a compound growth rate of 7.41% per annum and
signifying enormous development potential in the markets for
high-quality film and TV content.

To keep up with current trends and the entertainment preferences
of young people, Transmit Entertainment will continue to focus
on creative production and branding of series and variety shows.
We will seize the development opportunities brought about by
the upgrade of entertainment content consumption by carefully
selecting themes for film and TV and rolling out more high-quality
works.

To conclude, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this
opportunity to express my most sincere gratitude to all our
shareholders, partners and dedicated senior management team
for their long-term care and support and to all the staff for their
unremitting efforts.

Zhang Liang, Johnson
Chairman

27 September 2023

HINFEE  BBEBELAERBERT K
FEBRIIEERITHE  HBEHREN
LR BT E BB A E &R B =18 -
AYRBRETSNREBERREETAENY
B BEPBEEBAEEEROEMHEE
PERARBEEH2022F6 AH10.51EE—
HIBRE2023F6 ARI10.7918 @ BIEAIE
FAEREBIRNE2022F6 AH9.95EH — F1%
RZE2023F6 AM10.4418 (EBEREDN
96.8% ° ER ABUERIMTMBEERD B H
BRANRERSELIEHE R - Y — S
HZTEMBETRABTHF R - RIFLEKX
ERREREBITERERE FEHOTT
RIETISTE S E R R - AW AT H20224F
18113 A E2027F 126918 % 7T -
EEFRRERETANYG BEYRADTHIE
BRENEE -

SR SAMMNEFEANRESL - FER
LGREZINBIR ML B A AIEI
K h@iTiE - BBBORERREM - H D
EZEBEER BRERRENTHEAR
wOREERME -

REE AANBUKEERREFTERMER
HUARBOMS I ARENEARR - A1F
BH ARITENSREEBRE R TES A
WERE THMUKHABRNHE -

x
&

[

202349 A27H

EIRIREAE R A A 2022/23 F 3R

7



8

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB T

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in (i) TV series and variety
show production and distribution; (ii) film exhibition; and (iii) pan
entertainment. The Group mainly produces Chinese variety shows
and TV series in both Mainland China and Hong Kong as its main
markets. It also currently operates one Hong Kong based cinema.
During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group further advanced its
brand diversification development strategy. The Group's proportion
of revenue from Mainland China was 57.0%. Mainland China
continues to be the major source of income and business growth of
the Group.

TV series and variety show production and
distribution

Following the development dynamics of the industry and the
entertainment tastes of young viewers, the Group has continued
to focus on the development and production of outstanding variety
contents, while actively exploring innovative business models
such as web series, online movies and short videos. For the year
ended 30 June 2023, the TV series and variety show production
and distribution business remained as the core business of the
Group with recorded revenue of approximately HK$24.2 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 95.2% as compared to
last year. The decrease was mainly attributable to the fact that
no major TV series or variety shows were released by the Group
during the year, and the inspiring urban workplace TV series “The
Ideal City” and the megahit detective reality show “The Detectives’
Adventures” were released last year, resulting in a decrease in
revenue from the production and distribution of TV series and variety
shows during the year.

The love-story variety show “l Love You, Me Too" Season 4 was
smoothly broadcasted in March 2023. Its creative and unique
contents were well-received by the audience, leading to a surge in
popularity of the show and sparking internet-wide discussions. The
show has also topped multiple trending lists and reached a new peak
in popularity on the iQlYI platform. Moreover, the scriptwriter and
director teams of the Group also engaged in the development and
production of various trending TV series during the year, including
“Never Give Up”, “Pagoda” and “Choice Husband"”.
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Considering that the novel coronavirus disease (“COVID-19")
pandemic has brought about a challenging business environment for
the film exhibition business, the Group had disposed of its partial
equity interests in the film exhibition business aiming to reallocate
financial resources to other businesses with higher development
potential, with the purpose of generating better returns for the
Shareholders. The disposal transaction was completed on 26 May
2021. Thereafter, in accordance with a management agreement and
a supplemental agreement entered into among the Group, Cinema
City (WL) Limited and Mandarin Motion Pictures Limited, the Group
earned fees for the operation of Langham Place Cinema in Hong
Kong during the term of the agreement. The management believes
that the above-mentioned strategic measures will have a positive
impact on the Group's future results and financial performance.
For further details of the disposal and the management agreement,
please refer to the announcements of the Group dated 18 January
2021 and 26 May 2021, respectively.

The Group's revenue from film exhibition amounted to
approximately HK$71.6 million for the year, representing an
increase of approximately 30.9% as compared to last year, which
was mainly benefited from the gradual relaxation of the Hong Kong
Government’s measures to shut down cinemas.

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group continued to
improve its industry chain and broaden its revenue base and the
influence of the Group’s artistes and celebrities in market segments
continued to grow. The Group’s artistes participated in the starring
and endorsement activities of various TV series and films. Among
which, Yang Chaoyue starred in the situation comedy “Sisterhood”,
the eighth season of the large variety show “Go Fighting”, the
reality show “On Air! Sitcom”, the costume TV drama “Chong Zi",
the costume fantasy drama “Love You Seven Times”, etc.

The Group's pan entertainment recorded a total revenue of
approximately HK$70.6 million for the year, representing a decrease
of approximately 50.1% as compared to approximately HK$141.4
million last year. This business segment recorded a profit of
approximately HK$7.9 million for the year ended 30 June 2023 (year
ended 30 June 2022: a profit of approximately HK$28.7 million).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue of the Group for the year amounted to approximately
HK$166.4 million, representing a decrease of approximately
HK$537.6 million or 76.4% as compared to last year, which was
mainly contributed by the revenue of approximately HK$71.6 million
and HK$70.6 million from the film exhibition segment, and the pan
entertainment segment respectively.

For the TV series production and distribution segment, the Group's
recorded revenue for the year ended 30 June 2023 was mainly
contributed by the production of TV series and variety shows.
The love-story variety show “l Love You, Me Too"” Season 4 was
smoothly broadcasted in March 2023 and the revenue generated
was recognised this year. For the film exhibition segment, the
Group completed the disposal of its partial equity interests in
the film exhibition business on 26 May 2021, and entered into a
management agreement and a supplemental agreement for the
operation of the Langham Cinema in Hong Kong. Benefited from
the gradual relaxation of the Hong Kong Government’s measures
to shut down cinemas, the revenue from film exhibition amounted
to approximately HK$71.6 million for the year, representing an
increase of approximately 30.9% as compared to last year. For the
pan entertainment segment, the Group recorded a total revenue of
approximately HK$70.6 million from artiste management services
during the year ended 30 June 2023, representing a decrease of
approximately 50.1% as compared to last year.

Gross profit of the Group was approximately HK$46.2 million,
representing a decrease of approximately HK$80.0 million or
approximately 63.4% as compared to last year. Gross profit margin
for the year was approximately 27.8%, representing an increase of
approximately 9.8 percentage points as compared to last year, which
was mainly attributable to Group’s increased proportion of revenue
from film exhibition and the gross profit margin of the film exhibition
business being higher than other businesses.

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2022/23
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREHRAHN

Other gains and losses and other income

During the year ended 30 June 2023, other gains and losses
and other income amounted to approximately HK$52.4 million,
representing a decrease of approximately HK$13.4 million or
approximately 20.3% as compared to last year. Other gains and
losses and other income mainly included cinema operation right
income, cinema promotion income, etc.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses decreased by approximately
HK$9.3 million or 11.0% from approximately HK$84.2 million last
year to approximately HK$74.9 million for the year, which was
mainly attributable to the effective internal control measures on
costs.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses decreased by approximately HK$17.1
million or approximately 20.7% from approximately HK$82.6 million
last year to approximately HK$65.5 million for the year, which was
benefited from the effective internal control measures on costs.

Loss for the year

This year, the Group’'s loss and total comprehensive expense
attributable to the owners of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$186.9 million (year ended 30 June 2022: loss
of approximately HK$92.2 million) and approximately HK$212.6
million (year ended 30 June 2022: total comprehensive expense of
approximately HK$102.9 million) respectively.

This was mainly attributable to the fact that (i) no major TV series
or variety shows were released by the Group during the year, and
the inspiring urban workplace TV series “The Ideal City” and the
megahit detective reality show “The Detectives’ Adventures”
were released last year, resulting in a decrease in revenue from
the production and distribution of TV series and variety shows
during the year; and (ii) there was delay in the production of various
TV series of the Group and the work arrangement of the Group's
artistes due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and the related
restrictive measures, and given the current market environment, the
intensified competition after the pandemic and the uncertainty of
the future, the Company provided for an impairment on goodwill of
approximately HK$118 million during the reporting period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERE DR

IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON GOODWILL
(THE “IMPAIRMENT")

Background

As disclosed in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements,
goodwill has been allocated to the cash-generating-units (“CGUs")
of the Khorgas Group and Wenlan. The carrying amounts of goodwill
(before impairment loss) allocated to the CGUs of the Khorgas
Group and Wenlan amounted to approximately HK$386.8 million
and HK$39.2 million, respectively as at 30 June 2023 (approximately
HK$419.0 million and HK$42.5 million, respectively as at 30 June
2022).

The Impairment loss of goodwill of the Khorgas Group and Wenlan
amounting to approximately HK$100.7 million and HK$17.1 million,
respectively, was made for the year (approximately HK$43.7
million and HK$23.9 million, respectively for 30 June 2022), which
was determined after considering the difference between the
recoverable amount based on value in use calculations and the
carrying value as at 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2022.

The Khorgas Group was engaged in film and TV series production,
distribution and licensing business whereas Wenlan was engaged
in artiste management business. The management assessed
the revenue and profit margin to be generated therefrom after
taking into account the key factors specified in the section headed
“Circumstances leading to the Impairment” below.

Circumstances leading to the Impairment

For the years ended 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2022, the
management of the Company assessed the carrying value and
recoverable amount of the CGUs and goodwill allocated to the CGUs
after taking into account the following factors:

(@) the adverse impact of COVID-19 pandemic on the film and TV
industry for the years ended 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2022
leading to the slowdowns and postponements in shooting of
movies and TV series, which had significant negative impact
on the progress and original schedules of the film and TV
productions as well as the artistes” work schedules;

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2022/23

IR EEE ([RE])

=1
A=

ylil

UGG AT B RRMEIGEHBEE  BED
EDRZERRTEBNERCReEELS
M ([BREEEENMN]) - R2023F6A301 -
ErREzERRITESERBERsREELS
Iz AEBEEAAECREREN) DN ESEE
386.8 BB TR BMK3I9.2H & T (R20224F
6H30H @ DRI4EE419.08E L RABK

e —

425HE8TT) °

ERRNSELRERcHEREBES LY
BEE100.7BE L BT A BEETERARSFE
FEVER (FR20229F6 A30H © D RI4)B43.7
AETLMBE239EBET)  TIEEBENF
REEFTEMNTIE S EHR2023F6 H30
AX2022F6 AS0HMEEME MM E5EZ
EEE o

ERARNEENCEEZ RERBEIE - BT
REERY  MERAKEEATERS -
EEELER NN [BBRENER]IME
TBERER  FENHEREESAELE 2K
SRR -

EHRENREE

RE E2023F6 A30H KX20229F6 A30H8 I+
FE  ARREEEFNGHREESEMRE
PREERCEABEM CHENREAERTRK
C&%  EFEEEUTEE

(a) REE202346A30H 202246 A
30B L - COVID-19EBHBE
RERITXERABTE  BLERR
EENEERAMEIIE FEXER
MRTREFESHEEUARBANT
ERRSZRERNTHE



(c)

the adverse impact of COVID-19 pandemic on the financial
performance of the peers in the media and entertainment
industry and certain online streaming platforms for the years
ended 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2022, and thus, further
cost control measures are expected to be taken by industry
participants;

the intensified market competitions among film and TV
production companies in the post-pandemic era, which will
further squeeze the revenues and profit margins of film and
TV production companies as well as service income earned by
artistes management companies;

the implementation of certain government restrictive rules and
regulations such as imposing a cap on the salaries of actors
and actresses, a cap on the maximum number of episodes of
each TV drama, etc.;

the review and comparison of the budgets of the Khorgas
Group and Wenlan prepared for the years and the actual
revenue and profit generated from the Khorgas Group and
Wenlan during the years, from which a shortfall from the
projected revenue and operating profit was found, preliminarily
due to the impact of COVID-19 pandemic and its related
restrictive measures for the years ended 30 June 2023 and 30
June 2022, which had resulted in unexpectable interruptions
in films and TV productions and artistes’ work schedules as
stated above;

the decrease in the revenue and expected decrease in the
future revenue of the Khorgas Group and Wenlan due to the
current and future challenging macroeconomic environment in
the post-pandemic era; and

the need to adopt a more reasonable approach in evaluating
the cashflow to be generated from the Khorgas Group and
Wenlan by the adoption of a pre-tax discount rate of 25.6%
and 30.01% respectively (30 June 2022: 25.0% and 24.94%
respectively) with reference to the use of weighted average
costs of capital when the recoverable amount was determined
based on value in use calculations.

The above factors were identified close to the end of the years
ended 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2022 and were assessed and
considered during the course of the preparation of the annual
financial information of the Khorgas Group and Wenlan for the years
ended 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERE DR

The method, basis and key assumptions used in
determining the amount of the Impairment and the
recoverable amount

The Impairment relied on the assessment based on the discount
cash flow method ("DCF"). DCF is adopted because:

(@) the entire carrying amount of the CGUs was tested for
impairment in accordance with the HKAS 36 issued by the
HKICPA by comparing its recoverable amount with its carrying
amount; and

(b)  the Group adopted the DCF method under the income-based
approach in arriving at the value in use. According to the HKAS
36, measuring value in use of an entity should consider an
estimate of the future cash flows the entity expects to derive
from the CGUs. Therefore, the Company adopted the DCF.

The basis and key assumptions used in the assessment are as
follows:

(@) the Group recognised the impairment loss on goodwill due
to the deteriorating economic environment brought by the
COVID-19 pandemic in the film and TV series productions,
licensing and distribution business as well as artiste
management sector;

(b)  the economic downturn and the negative impact of COVID-19
pandemic will be a mid-to-long term issue;

(c) the intensified market competition among film and TV
production companies and artiste management companies in
the post-pandemic era and the cost control measures taken
by the online streaming platforms and film and TV production
companies;

(d) the interest rate of the banking facilities obtained by the Group
for the operation of the Khorgas Group and Wenlan will not
decrease substantially in the foreseeable period and hence
affecting the discount rate used when adopting the DCF
approach; and
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(e) for the impairment testing, the recoverable amount was
determined based on value in use calculations which was
performed by the management. The cash flow projection of
the Khorgas Group was based on financial budgets approved
by the management of the Company covering a five-year
period and a pre-tax discount rate of 25.6% (30 June 2022:
25.0%). The Group's management prudently estimated that
the Khorgas Group’s revenue from films and TV series would
be decreasing and recognised in the later years of forecast
periods after taking into consideration the factors stated in
“Circumstances leading to the Impairment” as compared to
the previous years’ financial budgets. The impairment was
also due to the postponement in shootings, post productions
and release dates of certain TV dramas to the later years of
the forecast periods, although these films and TV dramas
were originally planned to complete in the earlier years of
the forecast periods. The key assumption includes the future
expected cash flows based on management’s view of future
business prospects and historical performance of the Khorgas
Group.

In addition, the cash flow projection of Wenlan was based
on financial budgets approved by the management of the
Company covering a five-year period and a pre-tax discount
rate of 30.01% (30 June 2022: 24.94%). The Group's
management estimated that Wenlan's revenue from artiste
management business would drop during the forecast
periods after taking into consideration the factors stated in
“Circumstances leading to the Impairment” as compared to
the previous years' financial budgets. Management prudently
predicted that there would be no significant revenue growth
in the forecast period. The key assumption includes the future
expected cash flows based on management’s view of future
business prospects and historical performance of Wenlan.

Taking into account the above factors and the reasonable approach
of adopting the relevant accounting standard and the more
suitable discount rate when making cash flow projections, the
Board considers that the Impairment is fair and reasonable. Under
the current challenging environment of film and TV productions,
distribution and licensing business and artiste management
business brought by the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group's
management will closely monitor the market situations and adjust
business strategy timely.
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 30 June 2023, the Group’s bank balances and cash amounted
to approximately HK$85.1 million (30 June 2022: approximately
HK$103.5 million), which are denominated mainly in HK$, United
States Dollar (“US$"”) and Renminbi (“RMB").

As at 30 June 2023, the Group's total debts, including bank and
other borrowings, bonds payable and loans from related companies
amounted to approximately HK$98.3 million, approximately HKS$NIil
and approximately HK$83.4 million, respectively (30 June 2022:
approximately HK$109.1 million, approximately HK$14.3 million and
approximately HK$40.7 million, respectively). As at 30 June 2023,
the gearing ratio, representing the ratio of total debts to total assets,
was approximately 19.7% (30 June 2022: approximately 13.0%).

On 16 May 2019, 16 September 2019 and 24 February 2020, the
Group and Royston Securities Limited (the “Placing Agent”) entered
into a placing agreement, pursuant to which the Placing Agent
conditionally agreed to procure, on a best efforts basis, placees to
subscribe in cash for the bonds in an aggregate principal amount
of up to HK$150,000,000 during the placing period. Details of the
placing of bonds are set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 16 May 2019, 16 September 2019, 24 February 2020 and 21
August 2020 respectively. As at 30 June 2023, the Group’s bonds
payable amounted to approximately HK$Nil (31 December 2022:
approximately HK$14.3 million).

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had total non-current assets of
approximately HK$377.0 million (31 December 2022: approximately
HK$601.5 million), net current liabilities of approximately
HK$114.4million (31 December 2022: net current assets of
approximately HK$62.3 million) and net assets of approximately
HK$167.2 million (31 December 2022: approximately HK$399.0
million). The current ratio of the Group, representing the ratio of
current assets to current liabilities, was approximately 0.83 as at 30
June 2023 (31 December 2022: approximately 1.10).

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group mainly funded
its liquidity by bank and other borrowings, loans from related
companies, and resources generated internally. The Group’s
financial resources are sufficient to support its business and
operations. The Group would also consider other financing activities
when appropriate business opportunities arise under favourable
market conditions.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREHRAHN

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group did not hold
any significant investment projects, and there was no material
acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and associates save for
the disposal of certain subsidiaries as disclosed in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 30 June 2023, the Group employed a total of 90 permanent
employees (30 June 2022: 140) in Mainland China and Hong Kong.
During the year ended 30 June 2023, the total salaries and wages,
including the Directors’ remuneration and part-time workers'
salary, amounted to approximately HK$32.7 million (30 June 2022:
approximately HK$37.4 million).

The Group offers remuneration packages for employees mainly
based on their performances and experiences, and with reference
to prevailing industry practices. In addition to enrolling the new
employees into the mandatory provident fund scheme in Hong Kong
and the State-managed pension scheme in the PRC and making
contributions for them on a periodic basis, the Group also provides
medical coverage, internal and external training programs and
grants share options and discretionary bonuses to employees based
on employees’ individual performances and the Group's overall
performance. The Group reviews the remuneration policies and
packages on a regular basis.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had bank deposits amounting to
approximately HK$0.7 million (30 June 2022: approximately HK$0.7
million) that were pledged to banks for the bank guarantee provided
to a subsidiary of the Company regarding its due payment under a
cinema equipment rental agreement. The Group's bank borrowings
of RMB15,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$16,200,000)
were secured by pledged bank deposits of HK$20,000,000. The
Group's other bank borrowings of approximately RMB30,000,000
(equivalent to HK$32,411,000) were secured by pledged bank
deposits of RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to HK$21,600,000) and
trade receivables of approximately HK$15,809,000. In addition,
the Group's other borrowings of HK$24,855,000 were secured by
the Group's trade receivables of RMB17,905,000 (equivalent to
HK$19,338,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERE DR

TREASURY POLICY

The Group's business operations were conducted mainly in
Mainland China and Hong Kong with transactions principally
denominated in HK$, US$ and RMB. The monetary assets and
liabilities are denominated mainly in HK$, US$ and RMB. Apart
from HKS$, which is pegged to US$, any significant exchange rate
fluctuations of HK$ against RMB may have a financial impact on
the Group. As the foreign exchange risks arising from sales and
purchases can be eliminated against each other, and the fluctuations
of RMB during the year had no significant impact on the costs and
operations of the Group for the year, the Directors do not foresee
significant risk in exchange rate fluctuation. Currently, the Group
has not entered into any financial instrument for hedging purposes.
However, the Group will closely monitor its overall foreign exchange
exposures and interest rate exposures, and consider hedging
against the exposures should the need arise.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

As at 30 June 2022 and 2023, the Group did not have any significant
capital commitments.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 June 2022 and 2023, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.
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OUTLOOK

Looking forward, the Group will continue to focus on the
development of film and television production business as well as
artiste and celebrity agency business in Mainland China, and will
strive to create a pan entertainment ecosystem, integrate upstream
and downstream industry chains, and proactively expand various
realization channels from downstream industry chains, in a bid to
attain its strategic deployment of fusing its strengths and resources.
Taking advantages of the ample resources of online collaboration
platforms, the Group will continue to focus on the creation of high-
quality film and TV content whilst proactively broadening its revenue
base by continuously identifying business opportunities in the
film, television and entertainment markets from the four aspects
including online streaming, short videos, celebrity cultivation and
traffic monetization.

The Group is currently in preparation of a number of projects,
including an urban mystery TV series “Frozen Surface” and a
costume romantic mystery drama “Holding my Koi Husband”. With
the good viewing performance and online popularity of the work, the
Group plans to create a self-developed multi-season variety show
brand by producing the fifth season of "I Love You, Me Too"”. In
addition, the Group will proceed to the development and production
of a series of highly popular copyrighted works, such as “The Ideal
City 2", "Love Destiny”, “Wishful Egg”, “Romance in the City",
“Queen of the Sea”, “Locard’s Theory”, etc

As an enterprise with diversified development having a focus on
film, television and variety show content creation and production
with the spirit of business value “Enabling”, the Group will make
good use of the combined resources of scriptwriters, directors
and celebrities to cultivate, explore and create popular films and
television copyrights by continuously offering quality content and
nurturing talented artistes in order to develop its self-owned full
industry chain model and build up a unique soft power, thereby
continuously enhancing profitability, sharpening competitive edges
in the industry and generating favorable long term returns for the
Shareholders.
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Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 42, was appointed
as an executive Director and the chairman of the Board on 13
December 2017. Mr. Zhang is responsible for the overall corporate
and business development and strategic direction of the Group, and
provides leadership for the Board of Directors. He is an entrepreneur
in various industries, including real estate and energy etc. Mr.
Zhang has more than 12 years of experience in the energy sector.
He served as an executive director from March 2012 to May 2022
and remains as a controlling shareholder of Kinetic Development
Group Limited (formerly known as Kinetic Mines and Energy
Limited) (stock code: 1277), a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
which principally engages in coal production and coal trading. Mr.
Zhang is also a controlling shareholder, an executive director and
the chairman of the board of Brainhole Technology Limited (formerly
known as Top Dynamic International Holdings Limited) (stock code:
2203), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Zhang has more than 14 years of experience in the real estate
sector. He is a director of Seedland Construction Holdings Limited,
a company incorporated in Hong Kong on 15 July 2008 with limited
liability which, through its subsidiaries, principally engaged in real
estate business.
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Ms. Zhao Wenzhu (“Ms. Zhao"), aged 38, joined the Company
as the President of the Company on 17 September 2018 and was
appointed as an executive Director of the Company on 26 November
2018. She holds a Master of Filmography from the Communication
University of China* (R EI{EHKE). Ms. Zhao has over 13 years
of experience in mass communications. She is a dynamic leader
with broad exposure and has spearheaded growth initiatives in
her different roles in various companies in mass communication.
Ms. Zhao is currently the general manager of Khorgas Houhai
Culture Media Company Limited (“Houhai Culture”) (ER RH &
8 AL EE A BR 2 A]), the manager and an executive director of
Beijing Juhai Culture Media Company Limited* (it REB/E (bR
BFRA7R]), an executive director of Huzhou Houhai Culture Media
Company Limited* (#ME&G LB HEAER A F]), the manager and
an executive director of Tianjin Chuan Di Zhong Xing Entertainment
Limited* (R 2ERER 2R L HF R 2 7) (since March 2019), an
executive director of Tianjin Chuan Di Si Li Culture Media Limited*
(REEENH XL EBE AR AT (since June 2019), a director of
Tianjin Chuan Di Wei Lai Culture Media Limited* (K32 EIERKX
L2 AR A al) (since June 2019), and an executive director of
Tianjin Chuan Di Shuo Chi Advertising Limited* (RZ{ZiEME 5 E &
BBRAF]) (since August 2019), all being subsidiaries of the Group.
Prior to this, she was the deputy director of Dongyang Sansang
Media Co., Ltd.* (5R[5=mEHRMHBBRAF]) until 2013. She was
also the distribution director and vice-president of Beijing Xishiji
Film and Television Culture Development Co., Ltd.* (1t =% 42
XL EEREAMR A A) in 2014 and the general manager and vice-
president of the department of filmography and television of Nanjing
Avenue Hengzhi Culture Media Co., Ltd.* (MR ABITHI L E
BBR/AF]) from 2014 to 2016. She gained abundant experience by
participating in many television entertainment shows and television
series before, including “Three Kingdoms” ({=FE)), “Long Trip to
Beautiful Rivers and Mountains” ({F5E)LIL)), “The Lost Tomb”
(CEEZEZ)), "Go Fighting” (CIRFRPKEL)) and “Give Me Five” (&
e FE)D).

*  For identification only
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Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick (“Mr. Lee”), aged 48, was appointed
as an executive Director on 1 December 2017. Mr. Lee was
appointed as a member of each of the Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee on 13 December 2017. Mr. Lee has over
20 years of experience in the financial services industry. He obtained
a Bachelor of Business degree from the La Trobe University,
Melbourne Victoria Australia in 1997. During the period from 1997
to 2006, he was employed by HSBC Broking Securities (Asia) Ltd
with his last position as a vice president. He was also a type 4
(advising on securities), type 5 (advising on futures contracts), type
6 (advising on corporate finance) and type 9 (asset management)
licensed representative of the HSBC group from 2003 to 2004, and a
type 1 (dealing in securities), type 2 (dealing in futures contracts) and
type 3 (leveraged foreign exchange trading) licensed representative
of the HSBC group from 2003 to 2006. He then worked as the
personal assistant of Mr. Zhang, an existing executive Director and
the chairman of the Board and the controlling shareholder of the
Company, from 2006 to 2011. Since 2011, he has been employed as
a financial analyst by Kinetic (Asia) Limited which is a wholly owned
subsidiary of Kinetic Development Group Limited (formerly known
as Kinetic Mines and Energy Limited) (stock code: 1277), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, of which Mr. Zhang
is a controlling shareholder. Since 2016, he has also been a director
of Seedland Construction Holdings Limited, a company indirectly
wholly owned by Mr. Zhang.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Bo (“Mr. Wang"”), aged 47, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of each of the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee, and a
member of the Audit Committee on 13 December 2017. Mr. Wang
has over 25 years of experience in financing and insurance industry.
He received from the Sun Yat-Sen University in China his Bachelor
of International Accounting degree minoring in international finance
in June 1998. He was the general manager of Guangdong Baolihua
New Energy Stock Co., Ltd. (stock code: 000690), a company listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, from August 2015 to March 2018.
From July 1998 to June 2015, he was employed by Guangdong
Finance Investment (Holding) Corporation Limited with his last
position as the deputy general manager in the financial planning
department. During the course of employment with Guangdong
Finance Investment (Holding) Corporation Limited, he also served as
the deputy general manager of Guangdong Finance Trust Company
Limited, the director of Zhong Cheng Vehicle Insurance Company
Limited and Zhu Jiang Life Insurance Company Limited, and the
supervisor in Guangdong Guanhao High-tech Co., Ltd. (stock code:
600433), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Xiang Feng (“Mr. Xiang”), aged 46, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, a member of each of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee on 13 December 2017. Mr. Xiang has over 18 years
of experience in the movie industry. He received his Bachelor of
Economics degree from the University of International Business and
Economics in China in July 1998 and his Master of Arts in Media
Production degree from the Griffith University in Australia in April
2005. He has been a general manager of Funtasy Pictures Co., Ltd.
Since February 2015. He has also been a supervisor of Fengzhimeng
Visual Media Culture (Beijing) Company Limited from October 2013
to March 2019. Previously he has served as the chief operating
officer of the Entgroup from March 2009 to September 2010. Mr.
Xiang was also the executive producer of the movie “No Liar, No
Cry"”, the art director interpreter of the movie “the Mummy, Tomb
of the Dragon Emperor”, the script planner of the movie “Cities in
Love”, the bilingual production coordinator of the movie “Up in the
Wind"”, and the line producer of the movie “Last Flight”.

Mr. Chang Eric Jackson (“Mr. Chang”), aged 43, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director and the chairman of
the Audit Committee on 13 December 2017. Mr. Chang has
over 20 years of experience in accounting, finance and business
advisory work. He received his Bachelor of Commerce degree
from the University of British Columbia in May 2002. He is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
since September 2005 and the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since January 2005. Mr. Chang has been
an independent non-executive director of Yik Wo International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8659), a company listed on the GEM
of the Stock Exchange since June 2022. Mr. Chang has been an
independent non-executive director of DL Holdings Group Limited
(previously known as Season Pacific Holdings Ltd) (stock code:
1709), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
since May 2018. From September 2019 to May 2020, Mr. Chang
was the independent non-executive director of Centenary United
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1959). From 2015 to 2021, he was the
chief financial officer and company secretary of a number of listed
companies on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SR NEREEEME

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ma Jin (“Mr. Ma”), aged 40, joined Houhai Culture on 1
December 2017. Mr. Ma is currently the deputy general manager of
Houhai Culture, an executive Director of Tianjin Miu Si Culture Media
Limited* (RZERZHLEE AR A ), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company and the general manager of Chuan Di Living
Technology (Tianjin) Limited* (FiRAFERF(KFE)BRAF]). He
graduated from Zhejiang University of Technology with a Bachelor
degree in Law and obtained a professional certificate in production
and direction from the academy of visual arts of the Shanghai Fudan
University. Mr. Ma has 11 years of experience in variety shows and
the film and television industry. From 2012 to 2015, he has been
the assistant of general manager of Blue Star Company under the
Zhejiang Radio and TV Group as well as being responsible for and
participating in the production, planning and promotion of variety
show “Running Man"” (Z#IE5.55)) as well as movie like “Running
Man” (B2 55)), “Monster Hunt” ((#2#K52)). From 2015 to November
2016, he was the general manager of TV entertainment show
department of the Beijing Jingxi Culture & Tourism Co., Ltd (stock
code: 000802. SZ) who was responsible for the content production
and artiste arrangement of Dragon TV's variety shows “Go Fighting”
(CHBBRPEEL)) and “Girls Fighting” ()R 3 2% )). He was the
executive filmmaker of Zhejiang TV's “Give Me Five” ({iZREF
[#)) Season | and Il as well as the executive filmmaker of iQIY! love
programme "I Love You, Me Too" ({ZER - Ft2)).

*  For identification only
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Mr. Wang Jun, aged 42, joined Houhai Culture on 1 April 2017.
Mr. Wang Jun is currently the deputy general manager of Houhai
Culture, the vice-president of Guangzhou Daide Management
Consultancy Company Limited (“Guangzhou Daide”), a subsidiary of
the Company, the general manager of Tianjin Chuan Di Zhong Xing
Entertainment Limited* (RKEEREREIRLBFR A F)]), the general
manager of Tianjin Chuan Di Wei Lai Culture Media Limited* (XZ{&
EARE S EE AR AR, the general manager of Chuan Di Family
(Shanghai) Technology Limited* ({EiEXRE(_ &) BHEERAF]) and
the general manager of Tianjin Chuan Di Ai Yu Culture Limited* (X
FEEETIREL AR AF]). He graduated from the Business School
of the University of Shanghai for Science and Technology with a
bachelor’'s degree in management. Mr. Wang Jun has 19 years
of experience in the film and television industry and was the vice
president of Cathay Media (Beijing) Co., Ltd. from 2014 to 2016,
of which he was responsible for the production and marketing of
TV dramas, namely “Gods of Honour” ({¥ft#)) and “The Condor
Heroes” ({f#B&{2)). From 2013 to 2014, he was the marketing
director of B A & 18 & 9 & R 2 7] and was responsible for the
production and marketing of the TV drama namely “Bu Bu Jing
Qing” ((FFHEE)) as well as the promotion of artistes like Hu Ge,
Liu Shishi and Gulinazha. From 2004 to 2012, he was the promotion
director of L REFEFAREMBR AR who was responsible for TV
dramas, namely “the Dream of the Red Chamber” ((AT#£)), “Ma
La Po Xi" (ffERE14E)) and movies like “Gongfu Xia" ((Z1KK)) and
“Door” ({F9)) as well as the promotion of artistes ranging from Chen
Kun, Yang Mi, Yang Yang and Li Qin.

*  For identification only
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Mr. He Xian (“Mr. He"), aged 37, joined Houhai Culture on 26
October 2016. Mr. He is currently the producer of Houhai Culture
and the general manager of Tianjin Chuan Di Kua Ke Culture
Media Limited* (RKZEFIES = X(LEEBR 2 F]), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. He graduated from the Communication
University of China with a Master's degree in filming. Mr. He
has 12 years of experience in the film and television industry, of
which he was in charge of film and television program planning
and distribution in Dongyang Sansang Media Co., Ltd.* (5 =#
X 1t & 1% A 7)) and was responsible for the post-production and
overseas distribution of the movie version of “New Romance of
the Three Kingdoms” ({(Z=E)) from 2011 to 2014. He was the
producer of Nanjing Avenue Hengzhi Culture Media Co., Ltd.* (/G
RABITHXLERARRAR]) from 2014 to 2016, during which he
was the executive producer of “Singing All Along” KFEIILZ &
#17)), the executive producer of TV drama “Naughty Grandfather
and Grandson” (AR EST)), the executive producer of web drama
“The Lost Tomb" ((ABEZE:Z)), the joint producer of movie “Bad
Guys Always Die” ({(ZEZE 7B )) and the executive producer of
“Go Fighting — Royal Treasure” ((iRR BB 2 EXEH )). He is
currently responsible for web dramas namely “Hikaru no Go” ({1
Z8)), “Persuader” ({5277 2 #)REN)) and “Love Destiny” (B H
RED).

Ms. Lau Yee Wa (“Ms. Lau”) was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company and the authorized representative under
Rule 3.05 of the Listing Rules on 4 April 2018. Ms. Lau has over 21
years of experience in the corporate secretarial field and provides
professional corporate services to Hong Kong listed companies as
well as multinational, private and offshore companies. Ms. Lau is
a Chartered Secretary and an Associate of both The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute and The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators in the United Kingdom. She holds
a Bachelor's degree in Business Administrative Management from
University of South Australia. Ms. Lau is a director of the corporate
services division of Tricor Services Limited.

*  For identification only
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEQRE

The Directors are pleased to present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30
June 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities and other particulars of the Company’s
subsidiaries are set out in Note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group’s business for the year ended 30 June
2023, a discussion on the Group's future business development
and a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that the
Group may be facing are set out in the Chairman’s Statement on
pages 5 to 7 and the Management Discussion and Analysis on
pages 8 to 19 of this annual report. The capital risk management and
financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are
set out in Notes 34 and 35 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively. An analysis of the Group's performance during the
year using financial key performance indicators is set out in the
Financial Summary on pages 251 to 252 of this annual report. These
discussions form part of this report.

The Group respects the environment and is committed to the
sustainable development of the environment and the society. For
details of the Group's environmental policies and performance
during the year, please refer to the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report on pages 78 to 123 of this annual report.

The Group and its business operations are subject to various laws,
rules and regulations. The Company seeks to ensure adherence to
such laws, rules and regulations through various measures such as
internal controls, approval procedures, staff trainings and overseeing
the business operations at different levels of the Group. The Board
also monitors the Group's policies and practices on compliance with
relevant laws, rules and regulations on a regular basis.
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So far as the Directors and senior management are aware of, for
the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group has obtained the requisite
approvals, permits, consents, licences and registrations for its
business and operations.

To the best knowledge, information and belief of the Directors,
having made all reasonable enquiries, the Group has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the business and operation of the Group during
the year ended 30 June 2023.

The Group believes that its success depends on the support from
key stakeholders which comprise employees, customers and
suppliers.

The Group recognises that employees are the valuable assets of the
Group. The Group has complied with the applicable employment
laws and regulations and periodically reviews the remuneration
package of the Group’s employees with reference to market
conditions and conform to the performance, qualifications and
experience of employees.

The key customers of the Group include the co-producers,
distributors, online video-streaming platforms and cinemagoers.
The Group is committed to providing good quality service to
its customers and enhancing the loyalty of the customers by
increasing the interaction with customers through social media
platforms, which provide good development to the Group’s overall
performance in the long run.

The Group has maintained solid and good relationships with its

suppliers which ensures quality supply so as to provide high quality
films and services to customers.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s loss for the year ended 30 June 2023 is set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 130 to 131 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend payment of any final dividend for
the year ended 30 June 2023 (30 June 2022: Nil).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
HELRS

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of the segment information of the Group are set out in Note
6 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the past five financial years as extracted from the
consolidated financial statements in the annual reports 2018/19,
2019/20, 2020/21, 2021/22 and this annual report, respectively are
set out on pages 251 to 252 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

There were no significant movements in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the years ended 30 June 2023 and
30 June 2022.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of bank and other borrowings during the year ended 30 June
2023 are set out in Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements
of the Group.

CAPITALISATION OF INTEREST

The Group has not capitalised any interest during the year ended 30
June 2023 (30 June 2022: Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the
year ended 30 June 2023 are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Details of other equity-linked agreements are included in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme"” in this report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
HELRS

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year ended 30 June 2023 are set out in Note 39
to the consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 134-135 of this annual
report, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 30 June 2023, the Company had no reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act,
Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands (30 June 2022: HK$Nil).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company during the
year ended 30 June 2023.

ISSUE OF DEBENTURES

Details of perpetual bonds during the year ended 30 June 2023 are
set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements of the
Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 30 June 2023, income received/
receivable from the top five customers in aggregate accounted
for approximately 23.8% of the Group's revenue (30 June 2022:
73.5%). During the same period, income received/receivable from
the single largest customer accounted for approximately 10.5% of
the Group's revenue (30 June 2022: 65.5%).

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the fees paid/payable to the
top five suppliers in aggregate constituted approximately 17.3%
(30 June 2022: 18.3%) of the Group's total fees paid/payable to the
suppliers. During the same period, fees paid/payable to the largest
supplier constituted approximately 5.3% (30 June 2022: 3.6%) of
the Group's total fees paid/payable to the suppliers.

None of the Directors, their respective close associates or any
shareholder of the Company (who to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the share capital of the Company) had any
interest in any of the top five customers and suppliers.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
HELRS

EMOLUMENTS POLICY AND PENSION
SCHEMES

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the
Remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) after considering factors such as the Company's
operating results, individual performance, salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities and
employment conditions elsewhere in the Group.

The remuneration of the employees of the Group is determined with
reference to market terms and the performance, qualifications and
experience of the individual employee.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
as an incentive to Directors and eligible employees who contribute
to the success of the Group's operations. Details of the Scheme
are set out in the following section headed “Share Option Scheme”
in this annual report. The Group has also adopted other employee
benefit schemes which include a provident fund scheme for
its employees in Hong Kong, as required under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, and has participated in
employee pension schemes organised and governed by the relevant
local governments for its employees in the PRC.

Details of the emolument of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in Note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates the Scheme for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible persons who contribute to the
success of the Group's operations. The Scheme was approved
by the then sole shareholder of the Company on 5 October 2012.
The Scheme was valid and effective for a period of 10 years and
was expired on 5 October 2022. There were no outstanding share
options under the Scheme as at 30 June 2022 and 2023. No share
options have been granted, exercised or cancelled/lapsed under the
Scheme during the years ended 30 June 2022 and 2023. Details
of the Scheme are set out in Note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the year ended 30 June 2023, other than the Scheme as
set out in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” of this
annual report, the Company did not enter into any other equity-linked
agreement, nor did any other equity-linked agreement exist during
the year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 30 June 2023 and up to the date
of this report were:

Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson (Chairman)
Ms. Zhao Wenzhu (President)
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick

Mr. Wang Bo
Mr. Xiang Feng
Mr. Chang Eric Jackson

Pursuant to Article 84(1) of the Company's Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time
being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then
the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from
office by rotation and shall be eligible for re-election. Every Director,
including those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Accordingly,
Mr. Xiang Feng and Mr. Chang Eric Jackson will retire by rotation at
the forthcoming annual general meeting, and being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the annual general meeting.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and senior management of the
Group are disclosed in the section headed “Profile of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 20 to 26 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS

Each of Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson, Ms. Zhao Wenzhu and Mr.
Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick, being the executive Directors during the
year, had each entered into with the Company a service contract
for an initial fixed term of one year, three years and three years
commencing from 13 December 2017, 26 November 2018 and
1 December 2017 respectively, renewable automatically until (i)
terminated by not less than respectively one month's, two months’
and one month's notice in writing served by either party on the other
expiring at the end of the initial term or any time thereafter or (ii) not
being re-elected at an annual general meeting of the Company at
which he retires and offers for re-election.

Each of Mr. Wang Bo, Mr. Xiang Feng and Mr. Chang Eric Jackson,
being all the independent non-executive Directors during the year,
had respectively renewed a letter of appointment with the Company
in 2018. Each letter of appointment is for a term of one year from the
date of the letter of appointment and renewable automatically for
successive terms of one year each commencing from the next day
after the expiry of the then term of appointment but subject to the
memorandum and the articles of association of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed
to enter into a service contract/letter of appointment with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries (other than contracts expiring or
determinable by the Group within one year without the payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation)).

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
the Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Details of Directors’ interest in transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business are set
out in the section headed “Related Party Transactions/Connected
Transactions/Continuing Connected Transactions” in this annual
report and Note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

Other than as disclosed above, there was no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to which the Company
or its subsidiaries, or its holding companies or any of its fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director was materially
interested, whether directly or indirectly, subsisting during or at the
end of the year ended 30 June 2023.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in Note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements, none of the Directors or the controlling shareholders of
the Company or their respective associates as defined in the Listing
Rules has any interest in any business which competes or may
compete with the business of the Group during the year ended 30
June 2023.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as those disclosed in this annual report, no contracts
concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the businesses of the Company were entered into
or existed during the year ended 30 June 2023.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Saved as disclosed above, there is no contract of significance
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and a controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended 30
June 2023. There is no contract of significance for the provision of
services to the listed issuer or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended 30 June
2023.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 30 June 2023, the interests of Directors and chief executive of
the Company in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO"), which
were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO) and required to be entered in the register maintained by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or which were
required, pursuant to Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules relating
to securities transactions by the Directors, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:
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Number of
Shares or Approximate
Company/name of Nature of interest/ underlying percentage of
Name of Director associated company capacity Shares Position the interest
B AEE
BExps ADR/HHAREE RERUE 5% BROBE B BAESEEDL
Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson Company Interest in a controlled  1,836,391,914  Long 70.75%
REXE Vi N/NE| corporation (Note) &
REEEE R (Pi=E)
Company Beneficial owner 87,984,000 Long 3.39%
PAN/NG] EREAA 5]
1,924,375,914 74.14%
Note: MHsE -

These shares are registered in the name of Nice Rich Group Limited (“Nice
Rich”), the entire issued share capital of which is legally and beneficially
owned as to 100% by Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson. Under the SFO, Mr. Zhang
Liang, Johnson is deemed to be interested in all the shares registered in the
name of Nice Rich.

5 WA & 22K Nice Rich Group Limited([ Nice
Rich]) & T ' MkBRERERE %A Nice
Richz 2B BITIRA - RIEFHRIAEKG - &
BEEWRABNE R ENice Rich& T2 2 EH
REAER o
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 30 June 2023, the interests of the persons, other than
the interests disclosed above in respect of Directors or chief
executive of the Company, in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company which were notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and
entered in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company were
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as follows:
Number of
Shares or Approximate
underlying percentage of
Name of shareholder Nature of interest Shares Position interest
& 47 5 AE A
BRREWHH It E BROHE =B BAEEEDL
Nice Rich™&®@ Beneficial owner 1,836,391,914  Long 70.75%
Nice Richm*@ EmEEA S
China Orient Asset Management Co., Ltd.  Interest in a controlled 1,836,391,914  Long 70.75%
(“China Orient")®? corporation [S=)
HER A EEEEROARAA MR EE S
(T E=xRF 2
Dong Yin Development (Holdings) Limited  Interest in a controlled 1,836,391,914  Long 70.75%
(“Dong Yin")@ corporation S
RIRFEZER)BRAA([FRER])? MR LB ERS
Wise Leader Assets Ltd. Interest in a controlled 1,836,391,914  Long 70.75%
(“Wise Leader")®? corporation e
Wise Leader Assets Ltd. MEEEE R
([Wise Leader])®?
China Orient Asset Management Interest in a controlled 1,836,391,914  Long 70.75%
(International) Holding Limited corporation S=)
(“China Orient Int'l")® MR EE R
PERAEEER(BR)ZERAERAR
(T ERAEE])?
Charming Treasure Investments Ltd. Person having a security  1,836,391,914 Long 70.75%
(“Charming Treasure")®? interest in shares we

Charming Treasure Investments Ltd.
([Charming Treasure])®?

FARMBRERDZAA
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Number of
Shares or Approximate
underlying percentage of
Name of shareholder Nature of interest Shares Position interest
& 7 54 A
RREW A Rzt E BROHE =B BAEEED L
Mr. Fok Hei Yu® Receiver 1,836,391,914  Long 70.75%
EZRELED EEA e
Mr. Aaron Luke Gardner® Receiver 1,836,391,914 Long 70.75%
Aaron Luke Gardnerst4£® BEA HE

Notes:

1.

Save
been

Nice Rich, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, is
wholly owned by Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson. Under the SFO, Mr. Zhang
Liang, Johnson is deemed to be interested in all the shares registered
in the name of Nice Rich.

1,836,391,914 Shares were charged by Nice Rich as charger and
Charming Treasure as chargee as security interest on 30 May 2018
(the “Share Charge”). Charming Treasure is wholly owned by China
Orient Int'l. China Orient Int'l is owned as to 50% by Dong Yin and
50% by Wise Leader. Both Wise Leader and Dong Yin are wholly
owned by China Orient. By virtue of the SFO, each of China Orient,
Dong Yin, Wise Leader and China Orient Int'l is deemed to be
interested in all the shares held by Charming Treasure as security
interest.

According to the disclosure of interest notices filed by Mr. Aaron Luke
Gardner and Mr. Fok Hei Yu, they were appointed on 16 December
2022 as joint and several receivers and managers of (among other
things) all Nice Rich’s rights, title and interest in 1,836,391,914 Shares
charged pursuant to the Share Charge mentioned in note 2 above.

as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2023, the Company had not
notified by any persons (other than Directors or chief executive

of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares

or un

derlying shares of the Company which would fall under the

provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO to be disclosed
to the Company, or which were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed under the sections headed “Share Option
Scheme” and “Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations” in this annual report, at
no time during the year ended 30 June 2023 was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, or any of its fellow subsidiaries, a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executives of the
Company or their respective close associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) to have any right to subscribe for securities of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as defined in the
SFO or to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Company's Articles of Association provides that the Directors
and officers shall be indemnified out of the assets and profits of
the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses with they shall or may incur or sustain by or
by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duty.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on
directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions
against the Directors and senior management of the Group that may
be incurred in the course of performing their duties.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining the highest standard
of corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 55 to 77 of this annual
report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS/CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the year
ended 30 June 2023 are set out in Note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements. Some of the transactions also constitute
“Continuing Connected Transactions” under the Listing Rules, as
identified below.
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Continuing connected transactions

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group had the following
continuing connected transactions, details of which are set out
below:

1)

Management Agreement

As disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 18
January 2021 and 26 May 2021, the Company entered into a
management agreement (the “Management Agreement”) and
a supplemental agreement (the “Supplemental Agreement”)
with Cinema City (WL) Limited (the “Target Company”) and
Mandarin Motion Pictures Limited (the “Mandarin Motion
Pictures”) in relation to the provision of services by Mandarin
Motion Pictures to the Company upon the completion of
disposal of Target Company in respect of the management of
Cinema City (Langham Place) Limited (the “Langham Cinema")
for the period from 26 May 2021 to 25 May 2024.

The Group is the lessee of the Langham Cinema, the lease of
which will expire in 2024.

Taking into account the unfavourable and challenging
environment brought about by COVID-19 resulting in
the temporary closure of cinemas, the Group intended
to reallocate its financial and other resources to other
businesses. Accordingly, upon completion of the disposal of
Target Company, Mandarin Motion Pictures would provide
management services to the Langham Cinema pursuant to the
Management Agreement, while the Company could earn a fee
during the term of the Supplemental Agreement.
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The annual cap and the actual transaction amount of
the transactions contemplated under the Management
Agreement (as novated and supplemented by the
Supplemental Agreement) for the year ended 30 June
2023 is HK$92,000,000 (the year ended 30 June 2022:
HK$91,000,000) and HK$27,997,000 respectively (the year
ended 30 June 2022: HK$46,331,000). The actual transaction
include 1) reimbursement of operation income, operational
cost and expense to Langham Cinema from Mandarin Motion
Pictures, amounting to HK$27,397,000 (the year ended 30
June 2022: HK$45,731,000); 2) management fee to the
Company from Mandarin Motion Pictures, amounting to
HK$600,000 (the year ended 30 June 2022: HK$600,000).

Mr. Wong Pak Ming (“Mr. Wong"), being a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company, and his associates hold 100%
of the issued share capital of Mandarin Motion Pictures.
Accordingly, Mandarin Motion Pictures is a connected person
of the Company at the subsidiary level and the entering into of
the Management Agreement (as novated and supplemented
by the Supplemental Agreement) constituted a continuing
connected transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules. By virtue of Rule 14A.101 of the Listing
Rules, since (i) Mandarin Motion Pictures is a connected
person at the subsidiary level, (ii) the Board had approved
the Management Agreement (as novated and supplemented
by the Supplemental Agreement), and (iii) the Directors
(including the independent non-executive Directors) had also
confirmed that the terms of the Management Agreement (as
novated and supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement)
are fair and reasonable, and are on normal commercial terms
or better and the Management Agreement (as novated and
supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement) is in the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole,
the Management Agreement (as novated and supplemented
by the Supplemental Agreement) was subject to the reporting
and announcement requirements, but was exempt from
the circular, independent financial advice and shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For further details about the Management Agreement and
the Supplemental Agreement, please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated 18 January 2021 and 26 May 2021,
respectively.
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The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

All independent non-executive Directors of the Company have
reviewed the above continuing connected transactions and
confirmed that the transactions have been entered into:

(@) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(b) either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favorable to the Group than terms available to or from
independent third parties; and

(c) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the listed issuer as a whole.

In accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company's
auditor was engaged to report on the Group's continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised)”Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditor has issued his unqualified letter containing his findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group in pages 39 to 41 of this annual report in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the
auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.

*  For identification only
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Guangzhou Daide Management Consultancy Company Limited
("Guangzhou Daide"), through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Houhai
Culture as operating company and its subsidiary (the “Khorgas
Group”), is principally engaged in TV entertainment show and TV
program production and operation (including introduction business).
Guangzhou Daide is a limited liability company established under the
laws of the PRC and is owned as to 99% by Mr. TANG Jimin (“Mr.
Tang”) (E#480) and 1% by Ms. WANG Qinyang (“Ms. Wang”) (£
k%), being the equity owners of Guangzhou Daide nominated by
the Company (the “Original PRC Equity Owner(s)”). On 4 August
2021, the 99% and 1% equity owned respectively by Mr. Tang and
Ms. Wang were transferred to Mr. Lin Jianfei* (“Mr. Lin") (#R&
) and Ms. Miao Mengzhu* (“Ms. Miao") (BE47) (the * New PRC
Equity Owners”), whereby the rights enjoyed and the obligations
undertaken by the Original PRC Equity Owners under the contractual
arrangements of the target company were altogether transferred to
the New PRC Equity Owners.

The aggregate revenues of the Khorgas Group that were attributable
to the Group through the VIE Operating Agreements (as defined
below) amounted to approximately HK$23,000,000 for the year
ended 30 June 2023. As at 30 June 2023, the net assets attributable
to the Khorgas Group were approximately HK$117,000,000.

On 27 May 2018, Guangzhou Huohua Investment Company
Limited (“Guangzhou Huohua"), Guangzhou Daide and the PRC
Equity Owners entered into the VIE acquisition agreement (the
“VIE Acquisition Agreement”), pursuant to which the parties shall
upon completion enter into the VIE operating agreements. VIE
operating agreements comprised the exclusive operation service
agreement, the exclusive option agreements, the entrustment
agreements and powers of attorney, the equity pledge agreements
and the loan agreement (collectively are referred to as the "VIE
Operating Agreements”). Under the VIE Operating Agreements,
Guangzhou Huohua will have effective control over the finance and
operation of Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture and will enjoy
the entire economic interests and benefits generated by Guangzhou
Daide and the Khorgas Group from completion (the “Contractual
Arrangements”), for a cash consideration of RMB450,000,000
(subject to any downward adjustment as contemplated by the profit
guarantee agreement).

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2022/23

P
i

SRR

ET%

ZMNHEEEZBDEGRAR([EMNERE]) B
BEZEMBARBES U (AEERARRE
WMBAR)(ERRITKE])  TEHEER
BB RERHEEREREE(BENEE
%) o EMBEINIBEFBIEEK L ZERA
A ABEESEE(BAE ) REEBLL
([ELE D) (BEARARIEEEBIMNEE 2 IR
BANTRTBIREREEA]))DRIEFIO%
F1%#Ezs o R2021F8H48 BRAANT
ZEDREEIN% R 1% EFDEEENG
REE(IMEE ) RBETZE([BLL])
(F%ﬁqﬂlﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁ/\n T EREREE A

W—HZRRPEREEEAEBEERTN
AR ZEBERER RAEENETE -

rN

B E2023F6A30HILFE  BBVIEEER
F(EERTX) AEEEMERRNEH

Ub 35 4B BB 4 578 15 23,000,0007T ° 7220234
6A30H ERRITEERLEEFELNS
7#117,000,0007T °

R2018F 58278 « BMATEREFR AR
(TEMAIED - ENEERPBEREES A
T VIEW B :% ([VIEW S ek 1) » &t -
R AR RT I VIEZ Bk o VIE
EENEEEREREERBHE BREAR
E Rt LEREE  REDGHBZ
EXmE(RmIVIEEERZ]) - RIEVIE
BiERE - BINATEEE BTG EIMNEE R
BT R EE - Iﬂﬁiﬁﬂwlﬁﬁ
MEBRITEEATABETH DI HEE
=RME(ERZHE] fﬁiﬁf‘:z%AEﬁ%
450,000,000 T (AJ IR IE R FIR B Wik T 8) o



Houhai Culture is a limited liability company established under the
laws of the PRC and is principally engaged in TV entertainment show
and TV program production and operation (including introduction
business). Pursuant to the Catalogue of Industries for Guiding
Foreign Investment (2017 revised version) ((HMNEIREEEIEER
$%(20174&5]))) (the “Catalogue”) promulgated by the Ministry
of Commerce, the principal business of Houhai Culture, falls
within the prohibited industry for foreign investment. In light of the
abovementioned foreign ownership restriction, in order to comply
with applicable PRC laws and regulations and obtain the entire
economic benefits attributable to the Khorgas Group, Guangzhou
Huohua (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), Guangzhou
Daide and the PRC Equity Owners entered into the VIE Acquisition
Agreement, pursuant to which the parties agreed to enter into
the VIE Operating Agreements upon completion. Under the VIE
Operating Agreements, Guangzhou Huohua will have effective
control over the finance and operation of Guangzhou Daide and the
Khorgas Group and will enjoy the entire economic interests and
benefits generated by Guangzhou Daide and the Khorgas Group
from completion. No other approval is required to be obtained and
no other additional eligibility standards is required to be fulfilled by
the Khorgas Group under the arrangements as contemplated under
the VIE Operating Agreements.

Investment activities in the PRC by foreign investors are primarily
regulated by the Catalogue, which was promulgated and is amended
from time to time jointly by the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC
(the “"MOFCOM") and the National Development and Reform
Commission of the PRC. The Catalogue divides industries into four
categories in terms of foreign investment, including “encourage”,
“restricted” and “prohibited”, and all industries not listed under any
of these categories are deemed to be “permitted”. Pursuant to the
Catalogue, the business that the Khorgas Group currently operates
falls into the category of “prohibited”. Therefore, as Guangzhou
Huohua is a foreign-owned company, it is not allowed to hold any
equity interests of Houhai Culture under the PRC laws.
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The PRC legal advisers, after taking all reasonable and possible
actions and steps to reach its legal conclusions, are of the following
legal opinion:

- the VIE Operating Agreements are narrowly tailored to achieve
the business purposes of the Company and minimise the
potential for conflict with relevant PRC laws and regulations;

- each of Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and the
members of the Khorgas Group are duly established and validly
existing under the PRC laws, and has obtained or completed
all requisite approvals, permits, registrations or filings that are
material for carrying out its business operations as required by
the applicable PRC laws, regulations and rules;

- each of the VIE Operating Agreements, taken individually and
collectively, constitutes legal, valid and binding obligations
of the parties thereto and will be enforceable under
applicable PRC laws and regulations except that (a) the China
International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission
has no power to grant injunctive relief, nor will it be able to
order the winding up of Guangzhou Daide or Houhai Culture
pursuant to the current PRC laws; and (b) interim remedies
or enforcement order granted by overseas courts such as
the courts of Hong Kong and the Cayman Islands may not be
recognised or enforceable in the PRC;

- the VIE Operating Agreements do not, individually or
collectively, violate the mandatory provisions of the PRC
Contract Law, the General Principles of the PRC Civil Law and
other applicable PRC laws and regulations and are not deemed
as “concealing illegal intentions with a lawful form” resulting in
the invalidity of the VIE Operating Agreements;
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none of the VIE Operating Agreements violates any provisions
of the existing articles of association of each of Guangzhou
Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and members of the Khorgas
Group; and

the execution, effectiveness and enforceability of the VIE
Operating Agreements do not require any approvals from
any PRC governmental authority, except that (1) each of the
Equity Pledge Agreements (as defined below) is subject to
registration requirements with the relevant administration
for industry and commerce; (2) the exercising of the
exclusive options by Guangzhou Huohua according to the
Exclusive Option Agreements (as defined below) shall be
subject to the then effective PRC laws and regulations and
relevant approving procedures (if applicable); and (3) if the
enforcement of the VIE Operating Agreements is subject to
the enforcement of the ruling by the arbitrator and/or overseas
courts outside PRC, the claimant shall enforce the ruling via
PRC courts with jurisdiction.

The following sets out the principal terms of the VIE Operating
Agreements, which had been in place since 28 August 2018:

The exclusive operation service agreement was entered into
between Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide, Houhai
Culture and the Original PRC Equity Owners pursuant to
which Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture agreed to engage
Guangzhou Huohua as its exclusive consultant and service
provider. Guangzhou Huohua has the exclusive right to
provide Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture with consulting
services including but not limited to: (1) provision of advice on
the operations of the movie and drama production business;
(2) management and consultation related to the movie and
drama production business, and training of the staff; (3)
provision of advice on human resources; (4) assistance on
market research;(5) selection and introductions of clients; (6)
formulation of operation and sales strategies; (7) quality control
of the movie and drama production business; and (8) provision
of advice on financing.

Guangzhou Daide shall pay to Guangzhou Huohua a service
fee which is equal to 100% of its audited annual distributable
profits (after deduction of any loss of the previous year and
statutory provident fund (if applicable)) before 30 June of every
year. The services fee was determined by the parties to ensure
that Guangzhou Huohua will enjoy the economic benefits of
the VIE Operating Agreements.
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The first exclusive option agreement was entered into
between Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and
the Original PRC Equity Owners (the “Exclusive Option
Agreement 1"), and the second exclusive option agreement
was entered into between Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou
Daide and Houhai Culture (the “Exclusive Option Agreement
2" and together with the Exclusive Option Agreement 1, the
“Exclusive Option Agreements”).

Pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement 1, each of the
Original PRC Equity Owners irrevocably and unconditionally
granted an exclusive option to Guangzhou Huohua which
entitles Guangzhou Huohua to elect to purchase at any time,
when permitted by the then applicable PRC laws, all or any
part of the equity interest in the Guangzhou Daide by itself
or through its designated person(s); and Guangzhou Daide
irrevocably and unconditionally granted an exclusive option to
Guangzhou Huohua which entitles Guangzhou Huohua to elect
to purchase at any time, when permitted by the then applicable
PRC laws, all or any part of the assets of Guangzhou Daide by
itself or through its designated person(s).

Pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement 2, Guangzhou
Daide irrevocably and unconditionally granted an exclusive
option to Guangzhou Huohua which entitles Guangzhou
Huohua to elect to purchase at any time, when permitted by
the then applicable PRC laws, all or part of the equity interest
in Houhai Culture by itself or through its designated person(s);
and Houhai Culture irrevocably and unconditionally granted
an exclusive option to Guangzhou Huohua which entitles
Guangzhou Huohua to elect to purchase at any time, when
permitted by the then applicable PRC laws, all or part of the
assets of Houhai Culture by itself or through its designated
person(s).

The transfer price of the relevant equity interests and assets
shall be the minimum purchase price permitted under PRC
law, and each of the Original PRC Equity Owners, Guangzhou
Daide and the Houhai Culture will undertake that she/he/it
will return in full the consideration received in relation to such
transfer of equity interests or assets to Guangzhou Huohua or
its designated person(s). The exercise price was determined
by the parties to ensure that WOFE will enjoy the economic
benefits of the VIE Operating Agreements.

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2022/23

BEMNATE - BMERERDBERERES
AR — D BR P ek ([ B
HeE— 1) - MEMAIE - BMEBEE
BRI F — BRI # ([ BR
HigEHE =] BRBROERE
mE [ ERBERE])

RIBBRHEGZ —  SRPERER
B AT A B E K& G R BN AR
TERE®E CERERPRZERAG
T EMATEB SR 8 1T80RB
HIEE ATBEREMEERE SUEMER
R ¢ N EINEE A R K S (R
FEMAIER TERE  EERKER
REDERAF T BEMAIEAREEERE
FETHABEEEALTBERMNEE
FRA SO BE -

RIBBREGZE - - BMNEETATH
(2] 2 B {4 ) M K TEHR T 2R A -
EERBERTEDERAFT - BMAIE
FREERZERETHRBEEEALRE
BEESXLMBERMOBE : REBEX
fE NS K R A R E N ATER T 58
XU EERERTBEZRAFT
BMIIEREEERER B TICRBHEE
EATBERESXUCAMBRMBAEE -

HERELREENERERERTEE
BRTAHANREBEER - MERTEK
BEEA  BEMNERRESXEHER
PG R ) N N FE R EL IR FE A £
RIEPABELEEFRWZONE -
TTEBILEINSHETE - UERING
BECRAIZAVIEREHZNLER

Ny
ZS o
I



The first entrustment agreement and powers of attorney
was entered into between Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou
Daide and the Original PRC Equity Owners (the “Entrustment
Agreement and Powers of Attorney 1"), and the second
entrustment agreement and powers of attorney was entered
into between Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and
Houhai Culture (the “Entrustment Agreement and Powers of
Attorney 2").

Pursuant to the Entrustment Agreement and Powers of
Attorney 1, each of the Original PRC Equity Owners irrevocably
appointed Guangzhou Huohua or its designated person(s)
(other than the PRC Equity Owners) as its attorney-in-fact to
act for all matters pertaining to the Guangzhou Daide and to
exercise all of their rights as shareholders of the Guangzhou
Daide, including but not limited to: (i) proposing to convene
and attend shareholders’ meetings of the Guangzhou Daide;
(ii) exercising all the voting rights as shareholders of the
Guangzhou Daide; (iii) dealing with the rights as a shareholder
to the assets and profits of the Guangzhou Daide; (iv)
transferring or disposing of the shares of the Guangzhou
Daide; (v) receiving notice of convening and proceedings of
shareholders’ meetings of the Guangzhou Daide, signing
minutes of shareholders’ meetings and submitting any
documents to relevant company registration authorities for
filing purpose; (vi) receiving the remaining assets of the
Guangzhou Daide upon its dissolution or liquidation; and (vii)
exercising all other shareholders’ rights under other applicable
PRC laws and regulations and the articles of association (as
amended from time to time) of the Guangzhou Daide.

Pursuant to the Entrustment Agreement and Powers of
Attorney 2, Guangzhou Daide irrevocably appoints Guangzhou
Huohua or its designated person(s) (other than the Original
PRC Equity Owners) as its attorney-in-fact to act for all
matters pertaining to Houhai Culture and to exercise all of its
rights as the shareholder of Houhai Culture, including but not
limited to: (i) proposing to convene and attend shareholders’
meetings of Houhai Culture; (ii) exercising all the voting
rights as shareholders of Houhai Culture; (iii) dealing with the
rights as a shareholder to the assets and profits of Houhai
Culture; (iv) transferring or disposing of the shares of Houhai
Culture; (v) receiving notice of convening and proceedings
of shareholders’ meetings of the Houhai Culture, signing
minutes of shareholders’ meetings and submitting any
documents to relevant company registration authorities for
filing purpose;(vi) receiving the remaining assets of Houhai
Culture upon its dissolution or liquidation; and (vii) exercising all
other shareholders’ rights under other applicable PRC laws and
regulations and the articles of association (as amended from
time to time) of Houhai Culture.
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The first equity pledge agreement was entered into between
Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and the Original PRC
Equity Owners (the “Equity Pledge Agreement 1”), and the
second equity pledge agreement was entered into between
Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture (the
"Equity Pledge Agreement 2", and together with the Equity
Pledge Agreement 1, the “Equity Pledge Agreements”).

Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement 1, each of the
Original PRC Equity Owners agreed to pledge all of his/her
respective equity interests in Guangzhou Daide to Guangzhou
Huohua to secure performance of the obligations of himself/
herself and Guangzhou Daide under the VIE Operating
Agreements and pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement 2,
Guangzhou Daide agreed to pledge all of its respective equity
interests in Houhai Culture to Guangzhou Huohua to secure
the performance of obligations of itself and Houhai Culture
under the VIE Operating Agreements. Without the prior
written consent of Guangzhou Huohua, each of the Original
PRC Equity Owners and Guangzhou Daide has undertaken not
to create or allow to create any new pledge or encumbrance
over their respective interests in Guangzhou Daide and Houhai
Culture.

The loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) was entered
into between Guangzhou Huohua and Guangzhou Daide.
Pursuant to the terms of the Loan Agreement, Guangzhou
Huohua shall provide a non-interest bearing loan facility in
the maximum principal amount of RMB450,000,000 (subject
to any downward adjustment as contemplated by the profit
guarantee agreement) to Guangzhou Daide for the purpose of
the acquisition of the entire equity interest of Houhai Culture.
The loan will be provided to Guangzhou Daide by installment
corresponding to Guangzhou Daide’s payment schedule under
the equity transfer agreement. The loan will be financed by
way of shareholder’s loan to be made available to Guangzhou
Huohua, with an annual interest rate of 7% and a term of
three years. The loan will be for a term of 20 years from the
respective drawdown date of each installment of the loan.
Guangzhou Daide shall repay the loan in full if Guangzhou
Huohua gives prior notice to Guangzhou Daide demanding for
repayment. Save as the demand notice given by Guangzhou
Huohua, Guangzhou Daide shall have no right of early
repayment.
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The Spouses’ Undertakings

The spouse of the Original PRC Equity Owner Ms. Wang
executed a spouse confirmation, pursuant to which he
undertook and agreed, among others, (i) to acknowledge that
all the equity interests held by Ms. Wang in Guangzhou Daide
belong to herself and do not form part of the matrimonial
property, and any disposal of the equity interest held by Ms.
Wang pursuant to the relevant VIE Operating Agreements
does not require the consent of him; and that (ii) any execution
and amendment of any of the VIE Operating Agreements does
not require the signing, confirmation and consent of him. The
other Original PRC Equity Owner, Mr. Tang does not have a
spouse.

On 4 August 2021, the respective spouse of the New PRC
Equity Owners Mr. Lin and Ms. Miao executed the spouse
confirmation to undertake and agree, among others, (i) to
acknowledge that all the equity interests held by Mr. Lin and
Ms. Miao in Guangzhou Daide belong to Mr. Lin himself and
Ms. Miao herself and do not form part of the matrimonial
property, and any disposal of the equity interest held by
Mr. Lin or Ms. Miao pursuant to the relevant VIE Operating
Agreements does not require the consent of their respective
spouse; and that (ii) any execution and amendment of any of
the VIE Operating Agreements does not require the signing,
confirmation and consent of their respective spouse.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
HELRS

Risks associated with the Contractual
Arrangements and actions taken by the
Company to mitigate the risks

The following are the risks associated with the Contractual
Arrangements. Further details of the risks were set out in the
circular of the Company dated 26 July 2018.

- There is no assurance that the VIE Operating Agreements
could comply with future changes in the regulatory
requirements in the PRC and the PRC government may
determine that the VIE Operating Agreements do not comply
with applicable regulations;

- The VIE Operating Agreements may not be as effective
in providing operational control as direct ownership and
Guangzhou Daide or its shareholders may fail to perform its
obligations under the VIE Operating Agreements;

- The Group may lose control over Houhai Culture and may
not enjoy the full economic benefits of Houhai Culture if
Houhai Culture declares bankruptcy or becomes subject to a
dissolution or liquidation proceeding;

- The VIE Operating Agreements may be subject to scrutiny
by the PRC tax authorities and additional taxes may be
imposed. A finding that the Group’s owe additional taxes could
substantially reduce the Group’s net income;

- The shareholder(s) of Guangzhou Daide may have conflicts of
interest with the Group, which may materially and adversely
affect the Group’s business and financial conditions;

- Certain terms of the VIE Operating Agreements may not be
enforceable under PRC law and enforcement of certain of the
Group’s rights under the VIE Operating Agreements is subject
to regulatory approval;

- A substantial amount of costs and time may be involved in
transferring the ownership of Guangzhou Daide and Houhai
Culture to the Group under the Exclusive Option Agreements;
and

- The Group does not have any insurance which covers the risks

relating to the VIE Operating Agreements and the transactions
contemplated thereunder.
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The Group adopted the following measures to mitigate against any
potential risk.

On 19 January 2015, the MOFCOM circulated Foreign
Investment Law (“FIL") of the PRC (Draft for Comment)
(KR EAREMBEIINEREEZ(EREKERR))) and the
Explanation on the draft PRC Foreign Investment Law ({ 8
RCREARKFMBEIINEREEZ(ERBRERR)) M5 HA))
(collectively the "Draft Law"), which proposed changes to the
PRC foreign investment legal regime and the treatment of the
VIE structures, including contractual arrangement such as the
VIE Operating Agreements. The Draft Law, if finally adopted,
may have a material impact on the PRC foreign investment
legal regime. As such, as advised by the PRC legal advisers,
the Board will closely monitor the development of the Draft
Law with the help of the Company’s in house counsel in the
PRC and if there is any development, they will discuss with the
Company’s PRC legal advisers in order to assess any possible
impact arising from the change of the Draft Law or the FIL on
the VIE Operating Agreements and the business operation of
the Group. In case there would be material and adverse effect
on the Group or the business of Houhai Culture arising from
the Draft Law or the FIL, the Company will pursuant to Part
XIVA of the SFO, timely announce (i) any updates or material
changes to the Draft Law; (ii) in the event that the FIL has
been promulgated, a clear description and analysis of the law,
specific measures taken by the Company to be in compliance
with the FIL with the support of a PRC legal opinion; and (iii)
any material impact of the FIL on the Company’s operations
and financial position;

as part of the internal control measures, major issues arising
from the implementation of the VIE Operating Agreements
with Guangzhou Daide, the Original PRC Equity Owners or the
New PRC Equity Owners and Houhai Culture will be regularly
reviewed, at least on an annual basis, by the Board. The Board
will determine, as part of its periodic review process, whether
legal advisers and/or other professionals will be engaged to
assist the Group to deal with specific issues arising from the
VIE Operating Agreements;
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if the payment of the service fees from Guangzhou Daide to
Guangzhou Huohua is delayed, the chief financial officer must
meet with the Original PRC Equity Owners or the New PRC
Equity Owners to investigate, and should report any suspicious
matters to the Board;

matters relating to compliance and regulatory enquiries from
government authorities (if any) will be discussed at regular
meetings by the Board no less frequently than on a quarterly
basis;

the relevant business units and operation divisions of the
Group will report regularly, which will be no less frequently
than on a monthly basis, to the senior management of the
Company in relation to compliance and performance conditions
under the VIE Operating Agreements and other related
matters;

the chief financial officer of the Company shall conduct regular
site visits to Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture and conduct
personnel interviews quarterly and submit reports to the
Board;

the chief financial officer of the Company shall collect monthly
management accounts, bank statements and cash balances
and major operational data of Guangzhou Daide and Houhai
Culture for review. Upon discovery of any suspicious matters,
the chief financial officer must report to the Board;

any material contracts entered into by Guangzhou Daide and
Houhai Culture which is outside their respective ordinary
course of business must be approved by the Company;

Guangzhou Daide and the Original PRC Equity Owners and the
New PRC Equity Owners have undertaken that they will not
carry on, own or acquire any business which is in competition
with or is likely to be in competition with the business carried
on by Houhai Culture without the prior written consent of
Guangzhou Huohua; and

the Group will terminate the VIE Operating Agreements as
soon as the law allows the business to be operated without
them.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
HELRS

Material changes to and the unwinding of the
Contractual Arrangements

There has not been any material change in the Contractual
Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which they were
adopted for the year ended 30 June 2023.

Pursuant to the relevant provisions of the VIE Operating
Agreements, Guangzhou Huohua has the right to unwind the VIE
Operating Agreements as soon as the relevant PRC laws allow
Guangzhou Huohua to register itself as the shareholder of Houhai
Culture. There has not been any unwinding of any Contractual
Arrangements, nor has there been any failure to unwind any
Contractual Arrangements when the restrictions that led to the
adoption of the Contractual Arrangements are removed.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, based on information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors, the Directors confirm that the Company maintained the
prescribed public float as required under the Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Save for the event after reporting period as disclosed in Note 41 to
the consolidated financial statements, no significant events have
taken place subsequent to 30 June 2023 and up to the date of this
report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2023. For
details of the composition and the functions of the Audit Committee,
please refer to pages 64 to 65 of the Corporate Governance Report
contained in this annual report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
HELRS

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire, and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. A resolution for their re-appointment as auditor of the
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. There is no change in the Company’s auditor for the three
years ended 30 June 2021, 2022 and 2023.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Zhang Liang, Johnson
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 September 2023
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CORPO
REAMS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CULTURE

The Company is committed to ensuring that its affairs are conducted
in accordance with high ethical standards. This reflects its belief
that, in the achievement of its long-term objectives, it is imperative
to act with probity, transparency and accountability. By so acting, the
Company believes that Shareholder wealth will be maximised in the
long term and that its employees, those with whom it does business
and the communities in which it operates will all benefit.

Corporate governance is the process by which the Board instructs
management of the Group to conduct its affairs with a view to
ensuring that its objectives are met. The Board is committed to
maintaining and developing robust corporate governance practices
that are intended to ensure:

satisfactory and sustainable returns to Shareholders;

- that the interests of those who deal with the Company are
safeguarded;

- that overall business risk is understood and managed
appropriately;

- the delivery of high-quality products and services to the
satisfaction of customers; and

- that high standards of ethics are maintained.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance practices and following the principles as set out in the
Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules (the “CG Code”).

The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended 30 June
2023, the Company has complied with and did not deviate from
the code provisions as set out in the CG Code. The Board regularly
monitors and reviews the Group's progress in respect of corporate
governance practices to ensure compliance.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealings set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules (the “Company Code").

Having made specific enquiries, all Directors have confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard of dealings and the
Company Code during the year ended 30 June 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of and
promoting the success of the Company. This is achieved by
setting up corporate and strategic objectives and policies, and the
monitoring and evaluations of operating activities and financial
performance of the Company.

All the Directors carry out their duties in good faith and in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, taking decisions
objectively and acting in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders at all times.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board of the Company comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson (Chairman)
Ms. Zhao Wenzhu (President)

Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Wang Bo

Mr. Xiang Feng

Mr. Chang Eric Jackson

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in “Profile of
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 20 to 26 of this annual
report. The composition of the Board is well balanced. Each of
the Directors has relevant expertise and extensive corporate and
strategic planning experiences that can contribute to the business of
the Group.
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During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Company had complied
with Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
Directors representing more than one-third of the Board and at
least one of them has appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise. All the
independent non-executive Directors have met the guidelines for
the assessment of their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Board has received an annual confirmation
of independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors. The Company considers all the independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Profile of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 20 to 26 of this annual report, there
is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship(s)) among members of the Board and
the senior management of the Group.

Formal service contracts or letters of appointment have been issued
to the executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors respectively setting out the key terms and conditions of
their respective appointments.

The insurance cover in respect of any legal action against the
Directors and senior officers arising out of corporate activities is
covered by the Directors and Officers Liability Insurance Policy of
the Company.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The positions of Chairman and President, who serving the function
of Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ"), are held by Mr. Zhang Liang,
Johnson and Ms. Zhao Wenzhu respectively. Under the code
provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of Chairman and CEO
should be separated and should not be performed by the same
individual. The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and
CEO should be clearly established and set out in writing.

The Chairman is responsible for the overall strategic planning
and policy-making of the Group while the Company’s business
development and daily management have been monitored by the
President together with the executive Directors as well as the senior
management of the Group.

The Company has no written terms on the general division of
responsibilities between the Chairman and the President. The Board
considers that the responsibilities of the Chairman and the President
are clear and distinctive and hence written terms thereof are not
necessary.
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RESPONSIBILITIES AND DELEGATION OF
FUNCTIONS

The Company has formalised and adopted written terms on the
division of functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to
the management of the Group. The Board reserves for its decision
on all major matters of the Company, including the approval and
monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, risk
management and internal control systems, material transactions
(in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant financial
and operational matters. Responsibilities relating to implementing
decisions of the Board, directing and coordinating the daily
operation and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information
as well as the advice and services of the company secretary of
the Company (the “Company Secretary”) and senior management
of the Group, with a view to ensuring compliance with the Board
procedures and all applicable laws and regulations. Any Director
may request independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon reasonable
request being made to the Board. The day-to-day management,
administration, and operations of the Company are delegated to
the executive Directors and senior management of the Group.
The Board has delegated a schedule of responsibilities to these
officers for the implementation of the Board decisions. The Board
periodically reviews the delegated functions and work tasks. Prior to
entering into any significant transactions, the aforesaid officers have
to obtain the Board's approval.

No corporate governance committee has been established by the
Company and the Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties, which included:

(1)  developing and reviewing the policies and practices on
corporate governance of the Group;

(2)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the
Group;

(3)  to review and monitor the Group's policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(4)  to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and

employees; and

(5)  to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report of the Company.
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During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Board has reviewed the
Company's corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance with the
Company’s Code, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

To strengthen and enhance the highest level of corporate
governance practices and conduct, the Company has adopted anti-
corruption policy, whistleblowing policy and board independence
evaluation mechanism in June 2022.

The anti-corruption policy setting out the basic standard of conduct
which applies to all directors, officers and employees of the
Company, in order to promote and support anti-corruption laws and
regulations.

The whistleblowing policy allows our employees or other
stakeholders (e.g. suppliers and customers) of the Company to raise
concerns, in confidence, with the Audit Committee about possible
improprieties in any matter related to the Company, in order to help
detect and deter misconduct or malpractice or unethical acts in the
Company.

The board independence evaluation mechanism was adopted in
order to ensure a strong independent element on the Board of the
Company, which allows the Board effectively exercises independent
judgment to better safeguard shareholders’ interests.

During the year ended 30 June 2023, all Directors has completed the
independence evaluation individually. The evaluation results were
satisfactory.
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APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson, Ms. Zhao Wenzhu and Mr. Lee Hin
Kwong, Patrick, being all the executive Directors during the year
under review, had each entered into with the Company a service
contract for an initial fixed term of one year, three years and three
years commencing from 13 December 2017, 26 November 2018
and 1 December 2017 respectively renewable automatically until
(i) terminated by not less than respectively one month's, two
months’ and one month’s notice in writing served by either party on
the other expiring at the end of the initial term or any time thereafter
or (ii) not being re-elected at an annual general meeting of the
Company at which he retires and offers for re-election.

Each of Mr. Wang Bo, Mr. Xiang Feng and Mr. Chang Eric
Jackson, being all the independent non-executive directors during
the year under review, had respectively renewed the letter of
appointment with the Company on 13 December 2018. Each letter
of appointment is for a term of one year from the date of the letter
of appointment and renewable automatically for successive terms
of one year each commencing from the next day after the expiry
of the then term of appointment but subject to the memorandum
and the articles of association of the Company. Their appointment
as independent non-executive directors of the Company shall be
terminated by either party giving not less than one month’s prior
notice in writing.

Pursuant to Article 84(1) of the Company's Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time
being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then
the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from
office by rotation and shall be eligible for re-election. Every Director,
including those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Accordingly,
Mr. Xiang Feng and Mr. Chang Eric Jackson of the Company will
retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting, and
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the annual
general meeting.
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BOARD MEETING, GENERAL MEETING AND EEE22E  RRERASRER
PROCEDURES

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Board convened a total of HE2023F6A30HILFE  EE2A KA
four board meetings and one general meeting has been held. The AUAESEEEZR —ARERE - U T A
following is the Directors’ attendance records of meetings held by EEtEEFeMBTeaNEERHE

the Board:

Number of Number of
attendances/ attendances/
number of number of
board general
meetings meetings
HERE, HERE,
EEEgER BRAE
Eg=] 2B
Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson RESLE 4/4 1/
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick TENREE 4/4 11
Ms. Zhao Wenzhu AT 2+ 4/4 1/1

Independent Non-Executive Directors BV HHITESE
Mr. Wang Bo FoREE 4/4 1/
Mr. Xiang Feng [\ & %t & 4/4 1/1
Mr. Chang Eric Jackson R TR S A 4/4 11

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held a BEEZef eI TEERBIIEHNTEET
meeting with the independent non-executive Directors without the ~ REREEBERAATNEMESHENBR T
presence of other Directors of the Company during the year. BiIT—kex% -

Independent non-executive Directors have attend general meetings BYFRTESENERREAGUESEE

to gain and develop a balanced understanding of the view of HEBEANRRENER -
shareholders of the Company.
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Board members were provided with complete, adequate and timely
information to allow them to fulfill their duties properly.

Draft agenda of each Board meeting is sent to all Directors in
advance. Notice of at least seven days is given for a regular Board
meeting. For other Board and committees meetings, reasonable
notice is generally given. Board papers together with all appropriate,
complete and reliable information are dispatched to all Directors at
least three days before each regular Board meeting to ensure that
the Directors have sufficient time to review the related documents
and be adequately prepared for the meeting.

The Company Secretary is responsible to keep minutes of all Board
meetings and committees meetings. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to all Directors for comments within a reasonable time
after each meeting and the final versions are open for Directors’
inspection. The Company’'s Articles of Association contains
provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting and not to
be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving transactions
in which such Directors or any of their associates have a material
interest.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

All Directors with names as listed out in the section headed “Board
Composition” in this annual report have been given relevant
guideline materials regarding the duties and responsibilities of
being a Director, the relevant laws and regulations applicable to
the Directors, duty of disclosure of interest and business of the
Group and such induction materials will also be provided to newly
appointed Directors shortly upon their appointment as Directors. All
Directors have been updated on the latest developments regarding
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to
ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices. Continuing briefings and professional
development to Directors will be arranged whenever necessary.

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2022/23

EFEeNBERHRE RREEKKE
B BEREZEETERE -

BREZCEZNEEERAGEARRE
BEz -2Fxgfl@ABHRICRBH -
EREMEETERTESEH  —REAEEL
REBN EFENMHERMAEE - =E¥
RAISEERRINBREFEHSRITH=
HEXEZE2BES  UBRESERHEME
EMEREX R AERERTD EME -

AREANERABERFAAESEEZNEES
EREMNERLE -  FRCHERL—RRE
REBBTREEFAAHZBESERN
FREFREER  @RLHEERERIAR
REFEH - ARRIMAMERRAHEB K
X MEEFEHERMEF RS (TR
BABBEAEANXSBREZ EMER
£ BB AEREAR -

KESEXRERE

BINARFR [EFSEX | —HNE2BESRE
BHMEAENIXN AR BERERESTNR
BRBE - ERREFAREG LR -
RERBRERAEEESR - ZFABUF
TRERHFRTESEZREREFRENAER
HTERES - RERBUERTLEERT
MENMBEFHRECRE R RNEL
EREBFHETZEFLTRANAREMER
EERPISFERORIEE - ARAHER
BRENQEFLHFEGT MEXER -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ALl A N/
TEEBERME

During the year ended 30 June 2023, all Directors were provided
with monthly updates on the Group’'s business, operations, and
financial matters to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities.
During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Directors also participated
in other training activities such as attending seminars and reading
materials relevant to the Company’s businesses or to their duties
and responsibilities as directors of a listed company. A summary of
the individual training record of each Director received for the year
ended 30 June 2023 is as follows:

HZE2023F6A30RILFE - 2REEYE
BEBRAEEER  HERVEREEMA
A EFERITERE - 82202346 A
30RIEFE ESNSHEEMBEINES - a0
HERNERHEFEAL R ERRFEEHE
BETARTEENBRERBENXH - &%
EREE2023F6 A30R ILFEEES@ERE
s EaT

Directors Type of Training
Bx EIER
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson RELE B
Ms. Zhao Wenzhu X2+ B
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick TEMEE B
Independent non-executive Directors BUHHITESE
Mr. Wang Bo FREE A, B
Mr. Xiang Feng A 55 &= B
Mr. Chang Eric Jackson oR )= 5 A& A, B
Note: 5T
Types of Training =gl

A: Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings,
seminars, conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and
relevant publications

All Directors had provided the Company Secretary with their training
records for the year ended 30 June 2023.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three board committees, namely
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, and the
Nomination Committee, with written terms of reference which are
available for viewing on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange to assist them in the efficient implementation of their
functions. Specific responsibilities have been delegated to the above
committees.

A HEBRIIEE  SEETRNEHRE - T
g e R TEY

B: PBIEMBMEREE B BT MERAE
aRilk)

2RESEMARNEREESENEZ=2023
F6A30H ILFEREIIFEE -

EEXZ8g

EXeCKY=-EAEEXZES  HEXRZE
g FHZEEeRRXZES HEEBE
HERRARR R ZPAEERE - A58
BEARBITHBE -BEFSCHFEERE
EyLiizg&e -
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board established the Audit Committee on 5 October 2012
with written terms of reference (updated on 31 December 2018)
in compliance with Rules 3.21 to 3.23 of the Listing Rules and the
CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are mainly
to communicate with external auditor; to review the remuneration,
terms of engagement, independence and objectivity of the external
auditor; to review the accounting policy, financial position and
financial reporting procedures of the Company; and to review
and assess the financial reporting, risk management and internal
control systems, effectiveness of the internal audit function of the
Company and arrangements to enable employees of the Company
to raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters of the Company and making
recommendations thereof.

The Audit Committee has three members comprising three
independent non-executive Directors, currently they are Mr. Chang
Eric Jackson (Chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Wang Bo
and Mr. Xiang Feng. During the year ended 30 June 2023, the
Audit Committee had reviewed the annual results and report of
the Company in respect of the year ended 30 June 2022 and the
interim results and report of the Company for the six months
ended 31 December 2022 and re-appointment of auditor. The
Audit Committee had been provided with the Group’s consolidated
financial statements, risk management report, internal control
report and other necessary information to consider, review and
access significant issues and matters arising from these works
conducted. Subsequent to 30 June 2023 and up to the date of this
report, all members of the Audit Committee conducted a meeting
to review the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 30 June 2023. The Audit
Committee had considered and reviewed, with management and
the external auditor of the Company, in detail of the identification
and approach with respect to the key audit matters that were most
significant in the audit procedures included in the “Independent
Auditor’'s Report” on pages 124 to 129 of this annual report. The
Group's final results and the annual report for the year ended 30
June 2023 had been reviewed by the Audit Committee before
submission to the Board for approval. Members of the Audit
Committee are of the opinion that the preparation of such final
results and annual report complied with the applicable accounting
standards, the Listing Rules, and that adequate disclosure have
been made. The Audit Committee also recommended to the Board
of Directors the re-election of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the
external auditor of the Company in the forthcoming annual general
meeting.
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During the year ended 30 June 2023, two meetings of the Audit
Committee have been held and the attendance of each member of
the Audit Committee is contained in the following table:

HE2023F6A30HILFE  BEXLES
TRAEH MBEZZESSKELESH

FLEREN TR ¢

Number of
attendances/
number of
meetings
HERE
=1 E

Mr. Chang Eric Jackson SRR A
(Chairman of Audit Committee)
Mr. Wang Bo

Mr. Xiang Feng

FRELE
[F) I 55 A

(FRZEETRE) 2/2

2/2
2/2

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 5 October
2012 with written terms of reference (updated on 31 December
2018) in compliance with the CG Code. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee are mainly to review of the structure, size,
and composition (including the skills, knowledge, experience and
diversity of perspectives) of the Board at least annually and to
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy; to identify
individuals suitably qualified to become the Board members and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships of the Company and to
assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors.
In reviewing and recommending the appointment of new Directors,
the Nomination Committee would seek to identify the competencies
required to enable the Board to fulfill its responsibilities. The resume
or document of the nominee or candidate will be given to the
Nomination Committee for consideration.

REZEES

RATR2012FE10AERIIRREZE S -
WHEFETEEARTIANZEREGE(E
MR2018F12A3TBEH) - RZREZEEEME
EREAZSETRVESINERE - HE
MR (BIERRE - MBREBRAREENS
S) - WA AR S ARA RN QG KN
ESEESREENERREESR el
HEBEERAETERTOALT  WHBIES
EEATHIARRZESESRILMEETSIR
HEBER  URKFTEBILIERTESENE
Vi RERNETEHNESERRLREHES
B IRRZESBUEBRENABEARE &£
EEgRTHRBE - HIRBRASIEREANE
FERIXHFEERIREEZEGRE -

EIRIREAE R A A 2022/23 F 3R

65



66

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) in September 2013 and revised in December 2018
setting out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. Selection
of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to skills, knowledge, industry and regional
experience, cultural and educational background, gender, age and
professional qualification. The ultimate decision will be based on
merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises of 5
male and 1 female Directors. Details of the skills, cultural and
education background, experience and professional qualification
of each Director can be found in the section Profile of Directors
and Senior Management on pages 20 to 23 of this annual report.
The Nomination Committee and the Board considered that there
is a diverse mix of educational background and/or professional
experience and that the current composition of Board is sufficiently
diverse and therefore the Board has not set any measurable
objectives for the year ended 30 June 2023. The Nomination
Committee shall discuss and where necessary, agree on the
measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and make
recommendations to the Board. The Board may adopt and/or amend
from time to time (as applicable) such diversity perspectives and/
or measurable objectives that are appropriate to the Company's
business and Board succession planning, as applicable.

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the Group.
The Company will continue to ensure that there is gender diversity
when recruiting staff at mid to senior management level so that
there will be a pipeline of female senior management and potential
successors to the Board in due course. The Company will also
continue to emphasize training of female talent and provide long-
term development opportunities for female staff.

Details on the gender ratio of the Group together with relevant data
can be found in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on
pages 105 to 107 of this annual report.

The Company has also adopted a director nomination policy (the
“Director Nomination Policy”) in December 2018 setting out the
procedures and criteria to be used by the Company in relation to
the selection, appointment and re-appointment of Directors to
ensure that the Board maintains an appropriate mix and balance of
skills, knowledge, experience, and diversity of perspectives to the
requirements of the Company's business.

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2022/23

KARIBR2013FOAFEMEZTSHE S T
LB ([ EF R B % bR )W K2018
FI2AELER] BERHBEEHRESES ST
(LM% - BB AEBIE— RS TbdE
BEE - BIFEETERNERE - MH8 - TER
HELE  MERBEBEES - HA - FiRRK
BEER REREBBEAZORERA
REESHERNERME -

RAFREH  EZepEsZBHERERI
BLAMES REBZHEE  MERHEE
5 RKBUREEBERHENAFRFE20E23
BEEROAEEEEE SN - REEE8
eRESEERE EZCREAEZTINHES
Sk NEERR  BEFeEBNKED
xTo%ul AtESZS W ENBE20235F
6AB0B It FEERTEMAEEBE - 125
ZECANBINVERRERZEESZ T
b EE BIZER—W  TMESGIEH
BE e BEEOUAERMAE NG (ME
B)EARAARESRESSEIFTINS
TibAER, /el ge BIZ(aEA) -

ARBEARAKESBEATERERZ
Tt o AREREBERNBETSRER
ABRRARFIERNZ T WEEBER
BEBLESREEABRBEANBECIE
EZERM - ARAREBERBILEA
T URTKEETRHEREERKES -

NS B A1 B B B A 15 LA R A8 B BUR B AR
FHRFEIBEI107ERE - L@ REARATRS
m o

AARER2018F 12 AKMEFTRZAER
(EFRBBRDPHAAARAIBETE -
RERBFZEESAER2ERF RER
NHEREFSHFYH AR R EBMERMK
B A BBREETCZAEEARART
fay -



In summary, according to the Director Nomination Policy, the
Nomination Committee shall conduct regular review on the
structure, size and composition of the Board and the Director
Nomination Policy and where appropriate, make recommendations
on changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy and business needs, to comply with all applicable laws
and regulations from time to time and maintain good corporate
governance practice. In evaluating and selecting the suitability of a
proposed candidate for appointment as Director or re-appointment
of existing Director, the Nomination Committee shall consider
including but not limited to the following criteria:

° character and integrity;

° professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience
and diversity aspects under the Board Diversity Policy;

° any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board;

o satisfaction of independence requirements of the Listing Rules
and the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules of
proposed independent non-executive Directors;

° contributions to the Board in terms of qualifications, skills,
experience, independence and gender diversity;

° willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a member of the Board and/or Board committees;
and

° other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s
business and succession plan.

The Nomination Committee shall review the Director Nomination
Policy, from time to time and as appropriate.
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The Nomination Committee shall make reference to this Director
Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy to nominate
suitably qualified candidates to the Board for it to consider and
make recommendations to shareholders for election as Directors at
general meetings or appoint as Directors to fill casual vacancies or
as an addition to the Board.

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Nomination Committee
has considered the background, skills, professional knowledge and
experience of Ms. Zhao Wenzhu and Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick
having regard to the Board Diversity Policy and Director Nomination
Policy in the re-election of each of Ms. Zhao Wenzhu and Mr. Lee
Hin Kwong, Patrick as an executive Director at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 25 November 2022.

The Nomination Committee has three members comprising one
executive Director and two independent non-executive Directors,
currently they are Mr. Wang Bo (Chairman of the Nomination
Committee), Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick and Mr. Xiang Feng.
During the year ended 30 June 2023, one meeting of the
Nomination Committee has been held to review the structure,
size and composition of the Board and assess the independence
of independent non-executive Directors. The attendance of each
member of the Nomination Committee is contained in the following
table:

REZEQEZENEFTRLABRNESTS

KREBZTIEBE  MEFSRBLEENEE
RIREA - TERAKRRELES  URK
RREPEHEFTH LT TEARRERNE

ERHLELTSES -

HZE2023F6A30HIEFE  IRBEZBEE
202211 A25 H 21T AR A A IR R B F
AELERMXEZLEREELE BN
B RESEENEZTIBRIKESRS
BREEBXMTZEIRETLLENES -
FRE C BEME AR -

REZBEH=-AKEAKR  BREE %

HITEERMABBULFNTESTERAER
HZERBEXIR) FTEAREERABLELE -

HZE2023F6A30BILFE - IRRLEH
T—ReHE UBRNESSLEE - AS8KA

B B IFMITEENE LI - B
BEXRBEHFERLBEHNTX -

Number of
attendance(s)/
number of
meeting(s)
HERE,
BREE

Mr. Wang Bo TR E
(Chairman of Nomination Committee)
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick

Mr. Xiang Feng

FRIELE
[F) I 5% 4=

(REZEE8T/E) 1/1

11
11
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 5
October 2012 with written terms of reference (updated on 30
December 2022) in compliance with the CG Code. The primary
duties of the Remuneration Committee are mainly to make
recommendations to the Board of Directors on the Company's
policy structure for the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management and on the establish of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing a remuneration policy, review the terms
of the remuneration package of each Director and member of senior
management of the Group and making recommendations to the
Board regarding any adjustment thereof; and to review and evaluate
the performance of individual Directors. No Director shall participate
in any discussion about his or her own remuneration.

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Remuneration Committee
has reviewed background information such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities
of Directors and employment conditions of other positions in
the Company. The Remuneration Committee has reviewed
and approved the current Company’s policy structure for the
remuneration packages of each Director and member of senior
management of the Group and its recommendations in respect of
the remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management
of the Group. No Director has been participated in any discussion
about his/her own remuneration.

FMZESSE
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The Remuneration Committee has three members comprising one
executive Director and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Wang Bo (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee),
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick and Mr. Xiang Feng. The remuneration
of the Directors is determined with reference to their respective
experience, responsibilities with the Group and general market
conditions. During the year ended 30 June 2023, one meeting of the
Remuneration Committee has been held to review the remuneration
package of the Directors and senior management of the Group. The
attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee is
contained in the following table:

FTNEBEgR=RKEEK  RREE—2
WITESRMBBUIERTES TR AEG
MWEEEER)  TEAEERRELE - F
EHFMNIEBRESZENER  REAKERN
REANEBEMRET - 812202396 H30
AIESEE  FMEZEERT—ReE  UE
HEERAEENSAEEEFMNES - F
WEEesKELEERLHINTE

Number of
attendance(s)/
number of
meeting(s)
HERE,
=1

Mr. Wang Bo FREE
(Chairman of Remuneration Committee) (FNZEeF/E) 11
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick E=ENEE 1/
Mr. Xiang Feng A 55 = A

REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of senior management of the Group are
disclosed in the section headed "Profile of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 20 to 26 of this annual report.

The remuneration paid/payable to senior management of the Group
for the year ended 30 June 2023 fell within the following bands:

SREEEHMN
AREEREREEEFEHRERLFR
520526 [EFREREREME|—1 -

HZE2023F6 A30B L FEDN FER A E
EERERBZHFEMWNTATEHE :

Number of

individuals

A

Less than HK$1,000,000 K& 1,000,0007T 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 751,000,001 7T 278 1,500,0007C 1
Total st 4
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the Group's
consolidated financial statements for each financial year and to
ensure that the consolidated financial statements are prepared in
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The statement by the auditor of the Company about
their responsibilities for the consolidated financial statements
is set out in the “Independent Auditor's Report” on pages 124
to 129 of this annual report. The Board also ensures the timely
publication of the financial statements. The Directors, having
made appropriate enquiries, confirm that they are not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company's ability to continue as a going
concern.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid/payable to the auditors of the Group for the
year ended 30 June 2023 is set out as follows:

ESHSREUBRRNEE

EEeNEHAEAREAKESHEREE
KR A IS IRE - Iﬁﬁéf%?éﬁﬁkiﬁﬁmﬁ
BAERMRERSTERRY - KR
A 3 ?é%‘&&i’%%&tﬂﬂ’ﬁ&éﬂﬂ%ﬁﬁs
FRFE124F1298 [ B ZEEIRE | - ES
NBRENHENEHRR - ESLIELHE
EERNEER  FEYENRTMNEBEE
SEARNR B ECENEENIFEEARBNSE
HekIE R ERTHBPREZE °

BB &

HE2023F6A30HILFE
SEZEMMSEHIN DT ¢

B R

Paid/payable

Bt L

HK$'000

BT T

Statutory audit services TEE R B AR TS 2,450

Non-statutory audit services IEETE LR

Interim review A EAZE B 1,120
Continuing connected transaction and SFEMERH REARE

other services 300

Total @t 3,870
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has developed the Group's internal control, risk
assessment and management systems and has overall responsibility
for reviewing and maintaining an adequate and effective risk
management and internal control systems to safeguard the interests
of the Shareholders and the assets of the Group. It evaluates
the effectiveness of the systems at least annually to ensure the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions. The review covers all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management.

Risk management and internal control systems

The Group's risk management and internal control systems are
designed to manage and mitigate risks, rather than eliminate risks,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. The Group has employed a bottom-
up approach for identification, assessment, and mitigation of risk at
all business unit levels and across functional areas.

Main features of risk management and internal
control systems

The key elements of the Group's risk management and internal
control systems include the establishment of a risk register to
keep track of and document identified risks, the assessment, and
evaluation of risks, the development and continuous updating of
responsive procedures, and the ongoing testing of internal control
procedures to ensure their effectiveness.

Annually, the Group identifies and assesses the key inherent risks
that affect the achievements of its objectives. A risk matrix is
adopted to determine risk rating into three categories: low, medium
and high, after evaluation of the risk by the likelihood and the impact
of the risk event. The risk ratings reflect the level of management
attention and risk treatment effort required.
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Process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

During the process of risk assessment, each of the risk owners of
departments is required to capture and identify the key inherent
risks that affect the achievement of its objectives. Each inherent
risk is evaluated according to the risk matrix. After taking into
consideration the risk response, such as control measures in
place to mitigate the risk, the residual risk of each inherent risk
is evaluated again. The risk register with the risk responses and
residual risks is presented to the Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee evaluates the effectiveness of the systems and reports
to the Board. The highest category of residual risks is subject to the
Board's oversight.

Process used to review the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems
and to resolve material internal control defects

The management is responsible for the design, implementation, and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems. In
view of the Group’s business and scale of operations, and in order
to adopt the most cost-effective method of conducting periodic
reviews of the Group’s internal controls, an independent consulting
firm (the “Internal Control Auditor”) has been engaged to work with
the Board, through the Audit Committee, to execute the internal
audit function. The Internal Control Auditor has conducted a review
of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems for the year ended 30 June 2023 according to the
scope of review determined, agreed and approved by the Audit
Committee and in accordance with the requirements under code
provision D.2 of the CG Code.

The Internal Control Auditor reported to the Audit Committee and
the Audit Committee is satisfied that there had been no material
deficiency identified in the areas of the Group's risk management
and internal control systems being reviewed, where some minor
areas need to be improved have been identified and reported to the
Audit Committee and the Group would take further steps to improve
by taken implement of the recommendations suggested by the
Internal Control Auditor. Accordingly, the Board considered the risk
management and internal control systems to be effective and have
been implemented with adequate resources during the year ended
30 June 2023.
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Procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside
information

The Company is aware of its obligations in disclosure of inside
information under the Listing Rules and Part XIVA of the SFO.
The Board has already established and implemented a policy on
the procedures, guidelines and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information. The policy stipulated
the duty and responsibility of inside information announcement,
restriction on sharing non-public information, handling of rumours,
unintentional selective disclosure, exemption and wavier to the
disclosure of inside information, and also compliance and reporting
procedures. Every senior management of the Company must take
all reasonable measures to ensure that proper safeguards exist
to prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement in relation to the
Group from time to time. They must promptly bring any possible
leakage or divulgence of inside information to the attention of the
Company Secretary, who will notify the Board accordingly for taking
the appropriate action promptly. For any material violation of this
policy, the Board will decide, or designate appropriate persons to
decide the course of actions for rectifying the problem and avoiding
recurrence.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year under review, Ms. Lau Yee Wa (“Ms. Lau") of Tricor
Services Limited, an external service provider, was the Company
Secretary. Ms. Lau’s primary contact at the Company is Ms. Li
Yuling, who is the Chief Financial Officer of the Company. The
biographical details of Ms. Lau are set out under the section headed
“Profile of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 20 to 26
of this annual report. Ms. Lau confirmed that she has taken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year ended
30 June 2023 in accordance with the requirements of Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Shareholders approved the amendments to the memorandum
of association and the articles of association of the Company and
the adoption of the second amended and restated memorandum
and articles of association of the Company by way of a special
resolution on 25 November 2022. Details of which are set out
in the Company’s circular dated 27 October 2022. The second
amended and restated memorandum and articles of association of
the Company are available on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website.

Save for the above, during the year ended 30 June 2023, there was
no change in the Company's constitutional documents.
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SHAREHOLDERS'’ RIGHTS

Communications with Shareholders

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders and potential investors is essential for enhancing
investor relations and understanding of the Group's business,
performance and strategies. The Company has established a range
of communication channels between itself and the Shareholders and
investors. These include answering questions through the general
meetings, the publication of annual and interim reports, notices,
announcements and circulars and the Company's website at
www.transmit-ent.com.

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the Shareholders and the Board. An annual
general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year and at
the place as may be determined by the Board. Any general meeting
other than an annual general meeting shall be referred to as an
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM").

Subject to applicable laws and regulations, including the Listing
Rules and the Company's Articles of Association as amended
from time to time, Shareholders may convene an EGM to consider
proposals in accordance with the following provisions:

1. One or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of
the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company having the right of voting at general meetings
can deposit a written request to convene an EGM at the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong (the
“Hong Kong Head Office"”), for the attention of the Board or
the Company Secretary.

2. The written request must state the name of the Shareholders
concerned, their respective shareholdings, the objects of the
meeting, including details of the business(es) and resolutions
proposed to be considered and approved at the meeting,
signed by the Shareholders concerned.
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3.  The request will be verified with the Company’s Hong Kong
branch share registrar and transfer office and upon their
confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the
Company Secretary will ask the Board to convene an EGM
by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the statutory
requirements to all the Shareholders. On the contrary, if the
request has been verified as not in order, the Shareholders
concerned will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, an
EGM will not be convened as requested.

4. If within 21 days of such deposit of the requisition, the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

5. The notice period to be given to the Shareholders in respect of
the EGM varies according to the nature of the proposal. Notice
of the EGM at which the passing of a special resolution is to be
considered, a notice of the EGM shall be arranged to be sent
to the Shareholders at least 21 clear days or 10 clear business
days (whichever is longer) before such EGM. Notice of all other
EGM shall be arranged to be sent to the Shareholders at least
14 clear days or 10 clear business days (whichever is longer)
before such EGM.

6. There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to move new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Companies Act,
Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands or the Company’s Articles of Association.
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the
Company to convene an EGM following the procedures set out
above in this section.

Shareholders and other stakeholders can make any enquiry
in respect of the Company in writing either by email at
“info@transmit-ent.com” or deposited at the Hong Kong Head
Office for the attention of the Board or the Company Secretary. The
appropriate management member of the Company will respond to
the legitimate enquiry of the Shareholders, the Company's potential
investors or analysts.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy of the Company (the"”Dividend Policy”) is in
place setting out the principles and guidelines that the Company
intends to apply in relation to the declaration, payment or distribution
of its net profits as dividends to the shareholders of the Company.
The Board shall take into account factors including but not limited
to financial results, cash flow situations, future operations, and
earnings, any restriction on payment of dividends when considering
the declaration and payment of dividends:

- financial results;

- cash flow situation;

- business conditions and strategies;

- future operations and earnings;

- capital requirements and expenditure plans;

- interests of shareholders;

- taxation consideration;

- any restrictions on the payment of dividends; and

- any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

The Dividend Policy shall be reviewed when necessary and can be
revised by the Board from time to time.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Transmit Entertainment Limited (the “Company”), together with its
subsidiaries (the “Group”), is pleased to present this Environmental,
Social and Governance Report 2023 (the “Report”) to provide an
overview of the Group's management of significant issues affecting
the operation, including environmental, social and governance
issues. This Report is prepared by the Group with the professional
assistance of APAC Compliance Consultancy and Internal Control
Services Limited.

PREPARATION BASIS AND SCOPE

This Report is prepared in accordance with Appendix 27 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) —
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” and has
complied with the “comply or explain” provision in the Listing Rules.

This year, the Group has extended the scope of this report so that
it covers both its Hong Kong (“HK") and the People's Republic
of China (the "PRC") operations. This Report summarises the
performance of the Group in respect of corporate environmental
and social responsibility, covering its operations which are
considered as material by the Group - (i) film, TV series and variety
show production, distribution and licensing of film rights; (ii) film
exhibition; and (iii) pan entertainment. With the aim to optimise
and improve the disclosure requirements in the Report, the Group
has taken initiative to formulate policies, record relevant data,
implement and monitor measures. This Report shall be published
both in Chinese and English on the website of Stock Exchange.
Should there be any discrepancy between the Chinese and the
English versions, the English version shall prevail.

REPORTING PERIOD

This Report demonstrates our sustainability initiatives during the
reporting period from 1 July 2022 to 30 June 2023.

CONTACT INFORMATION

The Group welcomes your feedback on this Report for our
sustainability initiatives. Please give your suggestions or share your
views with the Group via the Group's social media platforms or
email at info@transmit-ent.com.
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INTRODUCTION

The Group is principally engaged in (i) film, TV series and variety
show production, distribution and licensing of film rights; (ii) film
exhibition; and (iii) pan entertainment. The Group mainly produces
Chinese films, variety shows and TV series in both mainland China
and Hong Kong. It also operates one Hong Kong based cinema
during the year.

In order to respond to growing trends on the expectation of the
stakeholders on the corporate responsibility performance, the
Group is committed to integrating sustainable development into
business operations. We maintain our operation in a responsible
and value-optimizing manner and value creation for stakeholders
and community by integrating environmental and social factors
into management considerations. Sustainability strategy is based
on the compliance with the legal requirements applicable to us
and opinions from stakeholders. Sustainability is essential for
the Group’s growth in order to achieve business excellence and
enhance capabilities for long-term competitiveness. The Group
has established and implemented various policies to manage and
monitor the risks related to the environment, employment, operating
practices and community. Details of the management approaches
to sustainable development of different areas are illustrated in this
Report.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY
ASSESSMENT

The Group understands the success of the Group's business
depends on the support from its key stakeholders, who (a) have
invested or will invest in the Group; (b) have the ability to influence
the outcomes within the Group; and (c) are interested in or affected
by or have the potential to be affected by the impact of the Group's
activities, products, services and relationships. It allows the Group
to understand risks and opportunities. The Group will continue to
ensure effective communication and maintain good relationship with
each of its key stakeholders.

Stakeholders are prioritised from time to time in view of the Group's
roles and duties, strategic plan and business initiatives. The Group
engages with its stakeholders to develop mutually beneficial
relationships and to seek their views on its business proposals and
initiatives as well as to promote sustainability in the marketplace,
workplace, community and environment.
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The Group acknowledges the importance of intelligence gained
from the stakeholders’ insights, inquiries and continuous interest
in the Group’s business activities. The Group has identified key
stakeholders that are important to our business and established
various channels for communication. The following table provides an
overview of the Group’s key stakeholders, and various platforms and
methods of communication are used to reach, listen and respond.

Stakeholders

Expectations

AEBABRMNEERERRY RS EEK
EBZRE BRAMMERICEENE K
SEERFIREGMEBERZ 2 T EN A
ME - WRISEEBERE - TRIEHRAE
BT ENHZEEEANANERE  RERED

EHEREBBTELRTANHE -

Engagement channels

Mz HEEE e S HERE
Government e Compliance with the applicable laws e Annual reports, interim reports and
B and regulations announcements

Shareholders and
investors

RERREE

Employees

==

Customers

5F

BPEAARERESR
Proper tax payment
FEWT

Low risk

1K [ B

Return on the investment
& B

Information disclosure and
transparency

BB SR

Protection of interests and fair
treatment of shareholders

RIS R AT

Safeguard the rights and interests of
employees

RIE(E SN R

Working environment

TR

Career development opportunities
BEERKS

Health and safety

ERERZ S

Safe and high-quality products
e REEEMD

Stable relationship

BEBRER

Information transparency
BBERE

Integrity

WEFE

Business ethics

EESEL

Fi - RHWmERAM
Company website
NSIE DA

Annual general meetings and other
shareholder meetings
BREBFREREMBRRAE

Annual reports, interim reports and
announcements

FI - REHRE R

Company website

YNSIE A

Meetings with investors and analysts

B EE NSNS HE

Trainings, seminars, briefing
sessions

Bl EERETE
Newsletters

AR

Intranet and emails

B A K B

Annual reports, interim reports and
announcements

FI - REmERDM

Company website

NSIEES

Email and customer service hotline
BEHREF R

Regular meetings

— A A
FEHEZ
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Stakeholders Expectations

Engagement channels

MzEEE e SHERE
Suppliers and e Long-term partnership e Business meetings and phone calls
partners o RHIGIERR o XBEgRNER
HEFRESIEBH e Honest cooperation e Regular meetings
o HHMAIE s FHEE

e Fairness and openness

o R RFM

e |nformation resources sharing
s EMERKZE

e Risk reduction

o [RERER

Financial institution e Compliance with the applicable laws

SRS and regulations
o ETEAAERER
e Disclosure of information
o ERBE
Media e [nformation transparency
e o AHFEHAE
Public and e Community involvement
communities o HESEH
PBRALRHE e Social responsibilities
o HEERE

e Reviews and assessments

o B MFHE

e Consulting

.

e [nformation disclosure

. AMEE

e Annual reports, interim reports and
announcements

o FI - PHHmERLM

e Company website
o NEAEuh

® |nterviews

. 5

e Annual reports, interim reports and
announcements

o Filp HIMERAM

Through general communication with stakeholders, the Group
understands the expectations and concerns from stakeholders.
The feedbacks obtained allow the Group to make more informed
decisions, and to better assess and manage the resulting impact.

The Group has adopted the principle of materiality in the ESG
reporting by understanding the key ESG issues that are important
to the business of the Group. All the key ESG issues and key
performance indicators (KPIs) are reported in the Report according
to recommendations of the ESG Reporting Guide (Appendix 27 of
the Listing Rules) and the Global Reporting Initiative Guidelines. The
Group has evaluated the materiality and importance in ESG aspects
through the following steps:
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Step 1: Identification — Industry Benchmarking

o Relevant ESG areas were identified through the review of
relevant ESG reports of the local and international industry
peers.

° The materiality of each ESG area was determined based on
the importance of each ESG area to the Group through internal
discussion of the management and the recommendation of
ESG Reporting Guide (Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules).

Step 2: Prioritisation — Stakeholder Engagement

° The Group discussed with key stakeholders on key ESG areas
identified above to ensure all the key aspects were covered.

Step 3: Validation — Determining Material Issues

o Based on the discussion with key stakeholders and internal
discussion among the management, the Group’s management
ensured that all the key and material ESG areas, which were
important to the business development, were reported and in
compliance with ESG Reporting Guide.

As a result of this process carried out in 2023, those important ESG
areas to the Group were discussed in this Report.

ESG GOVERNANCE

Board’s oversight of ESG issues

Board’s overall vision and strategy in managing ESG

issues

The board of directors (“Board”) has a primary role in overseeing
the management of the Group's sustainability issues. During the
year, the Board and the ESG Working Group spent significant time
evaluating the impact of ESG-related risks on our operation and
formulating relevant policy in dealing with the risks. The supervision
of the Board is to ensure the management to have all the right tools
and resources to oversee the ESG issues in the context of strategy
and long-term value creation.
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ESG Working Group

To demonstrate our commitment to transparency and accountability,
our Group has established an ESG Working Group, which has clear
terms of reference that set out the powers delegated to it by the
Board. We highly value the opinions of each stakeholder and treat
them as the cornerstone for the development of the Group. During
the reporting period, the ESG Working Group was consisted of
6 members, including 3 executive directors and 3 independent
non-executive directors.

The ESG Working Group is primarily responsible for reviewing
and supervising the ESG process, and risk management of the
Group. Different ESG issues are reviewed by the Working Group
at the meetings, which holds annually. During the reporting period,
the ESG Working Group and the management reviewed the ESG
governance and different ESG issues.

Board’'s ESG management approach and strategy for

material ESG-related issues

In order to better understand the opinions and expectations of
different stakeholders on our ESG issues, materiality assessment
is conducted each year. We ensure various platforms and channels
of communication are used to reach, listen and respond to our key
stakeholders. Through general communication with stakeholders,
the Group understands the expectations and concerns from
stakeholders. The feedbacks obtained allow the Group to make
more informed decisions, and to better assess and manage the
resulting impact.

The Group has evaluated the materiality and importance in
ESG aspects through the following steps: (1) material ESG
area identification by industry benchmarking; (2) key ESG area
prioritization with stakeholder engagement; and (3) validation and
determining material ESG issues based on results of communication
among stakeholders and the management.

Hence, this can enhance understanding of their degree and change
of attention to each significant ESG issue, and can enable us to more
comprehensively plan our sustainable development work in the
future. Those important and material ESG areas identified during our
material assessment were discussed in this Report.
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Board review progress against ESG-related
goals and targets

The progress of target implementation and the performance of
the goals and targets should be closely reviewed from time to
time. Rectification may be needed if the progress falls short of
expectation. Effective communication about the goals and target
process with key stakeholders such as employees is essential, as
this enables them to be engaged in the implementation process,
and to feel they are part of the change that the company aspires to
achieve.

Setting strategic goals for the coming three to five years enables
the Group to develop a realistic roadmap and focus on results in
achieving the visions.

Setting targets requires the ESG Working Group to carefully
examine the attainability of the targets which should be weighed
against the company’'s ambitions and goals. During the year, our
Group set targets on an absolute basis.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

The Group is mainly involved in office operations, films, variety
shows and TV series production. Hence, its business activities
do not have significant impact on the environment or natural
resources. In spite of this, we believe that our enterprise
has responsibility in promoting and implementing the
sustainable development of environment. We are committed
to continuously improving our environmental sustainability
by responsibly managing our operation, reducing our carbon
footprint and using resources effectively.
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Accordingly, the Group establishes environmental principles
and policies to ensure the effective execution in various
measures. From film and TV series production to film
exhibition at the cinemas, the Group is committed to making
efforts towards sustainable business and reducing carbon
footprint while showing good stewardship in the community
that the Group serves. For instance, during film and TV
series production, a production manager is assigned for each
production in order to carefully manage, supervise and execute
sustainability practice and performance in every aspect
of the production, from reducing the use of plastic water
bottles to renting vehicles with higher fuel efficiency and the
use of rechargeable batteries. For film exhibition operation,
vegetarian options are available for cinemagoers, as well as
ensuring the cinema venue is accessible to meet the needs of
customers.

The Group always endeavours to operate in a manner that
is economically, socially and environmentally sustainable
while balancing the interests of our various stakeholders and
fostering a positive impact on the society. We also regularly
update ourselves with the latest development of the applicable
laws and regulations on environmental protection.

The Group acknowledges its responsibility to the
environment and has ethical duties to reduce emissions.
Given the nature of our business, the impacts on the
environment and nature resources are not significant.
In spite of this, we are committed to minimizing our
environmental impacts by responsibly managing our
business operations, reducing our carbon footprint and
using resources effectively.

In the meantime, we have full complied with all of the
relevant environmental laws and regulations where we
operated such as the Atmospheric Pollution Prevention
and Control Law of the People’s Republic of China (2015)
in the PRC, the Motor Vehicle Idling (Fixed Penalty)
Ordinance (Chapter 611 of the Laws of Hong Kong), and
the Road Traffic Ordinance (Chapter 374 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) in Hong Kong. Besides, no concluded
case regarding emissions was brought against us or our
employees during the year ended 30 June 2023.

The methodologies and assumption adopted for
determining key performance indicators (KPIs) reported
in this section are according to the guidelines of Global
Reporting Initiative (“GRI").
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Air Pollutant Emissions

Air emission control is essential to mitigate
environmental impacts and to protect the health of
employees. As the Group is mainly involved in general
office activities, the amount of air pollutant emissions is
insignificant. Our air pollutant emissions are generated
from the mobile sources including passenger cars.
We take initiative to formulate plans in transportation
management for the reduction of air pollutant emissions
in our daily business operation. For example, encouraging
employees and clients to conduct video conference
meetings instead of transportation. The decrease in air
pollutant emissions in 2023 was mainly attributable to
the decrease in natural gas consumption by the PRC
subsidiaries during the year. Furthermore, the Group will
target to manage the total air pollutant emission intensity
(equivalent to per HK$ million of revenue) to remain at
a steady level by 2025. The Group will continue to take
the above existing measures to achieve the target. The
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details of air pollutant emissions during the reporting MBERGEB T ¢

period were as follows:
Type of air pollutants Unit HK PRC 2023 Total 2022 Total
ZERI5FYER B 0 RE 2023F T 2022F &5t
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) kg - 127.78 127.78 168.66
REPIINOY NN
Sulphur oxides (SOx) kg - 1.83 1.83 217
HEE#(S0Y NN
Particulate matter (PM) kg - 0.28 0.28 0.11
BIZ R (PM) Ny

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG") Emissions
Greenhouse gas is considered as one of the major
contributors to the climate change. Besides, global
warming affects our daily life and poses a risk to
the Group's business. Hence, we are committed to
mitigating the effects of climate change and protecting
the health of employees.

Regarding GHG emissions of the Group, scope 1" direct
emissions, scope 2%2and scope 3° indirect emissions
mainly result from the combustion of fuels in mobile
sources, purchased electricity and business air travel
respectively for business operations.

U Scope 1: Direct emissions from sources that are owned or
controlled by the Group.

e Scope 2: Indirect emissions from the generation of
purchased electricity consumed by the Group.

& Scope 3: Indirect emissions from the business travel by
employees.
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During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group fully
complied with all applicable environmental laws and
regulations, and was not subject to any fine, penalty,
investigation or prosecution for non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations relating to emissions.

Giving the majority of the GHG emissions of the Group
come from energy consumption, the Group tackles the
GHG emission by lowering the energy consumption
in our business operations. Policies and procedures
as mentioned in the section “Use of Resources” to
encourage energy saving have been incorporated
throughout the operations in order to reduce the carbon

footprint.

The decrease in GHG scope 1 emission in 2023 was
mainly due to the decrease in natural gas consumption
by the PRC subsidiaries during the year. In light of the
relaxation of social distancing measures implemented by
the Hong Kong Government for less serious coronavirus
pandemic, this led to an increase in sale of food and
beverage in the Group’s Hong Kong's film exhibition
business. Consequently, there was an increase in
the film exhibition business activities and electricity
consumption during the year. Hence, the GHG scope 2
emission increased accordingly. The Group will strive to
reduce the emission of GHG by 20% in 2025. The Group
will continue to take the existing measures to achieve the

target.

The details of GHG emissions during the reporting period

were as follows:

HE2023F6 A30BIFE » &
SEE2AETHBEEARRKRE
BRER  YAREREBHER
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1 SR - FAEAF o
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EEMRERERNEE R ERE
PrRfERE - BEXRKESED RN
R TETREER 88 Pt 1) S B &
BEBR R FE b - AR A B R BT ©

2023 F R EREBEE 1 BEHUR D
TEZERNFEAFTBINEQBXR
REHFERD - ERNEBBRITRE
JE 37 78 5% 15 B4 T PR AL AT BB B
T ANEEETEEER MM
XBESRHEEBIEM - £
BB EKEENE NEER
BB AN o Ht - REREEEE?2
BEROINE MmN o AEBAEE N
R2025F AR PR ERBEENE
20% - NEBBEERIRIREHE
MELAEERBEIRE -

RIRE I - B B IS
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Type of GHG emissions* Unit HK PRC 2023 Total 2022 Total
mERBHERER By BE FE 2023F &5 2022F 45
Scope 1 tonnes of CO2e - 36.4 36.4 41.0
& [E]1 WAk E 2
Scope 2 tonnes of CO2e 250.6 45.0 295.6 262.0
#i[E2 M —AbiRE 2
Scope 3 tonnes of CO2e 0.3 0.1 0.4 16.0
#[E3 WE—SEALIRE 2
Total GHG emissions tonnes of COze 250.9 81.5 332.4 319.0
BERBHERES WS LIRE S
GHG emission intensity  tonnes of CO2e/m? 0.05 0.08 0.06 0.06
BERA RS W= L
Frok
4 The calculation of the GHG emission is based on the g BAEREBHEHNEENERER

“Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard” from
GHG Protocol published by World Resources Institute and
World Business Council for Sustainable Development.
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Hazardous and Non-hazardous Wastes
Waste management is considered as one of the material
topics in environmental protection. The Group recognises
the importance of waste reduction. Waste management
measures have been introduced and implemented
to minimise the amount of waste generated and the
impact on the environment. With our business nature,
no hazardous waste was generated or discharged in our
office operation during the year.

Non-hazardous waste mainly consists of paper waste
which is generated from daily office operation. The
Group takes initiative to reduce waste by formulating
effective measures. Generally, we have engaged
qualified recycling companies to collect and handle the
waste in accordance to the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes in the PRC and
the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) in Hong Kong. The major source of our
non-hazardous waste is paper waste.

With the aim to reduce the amount of waste generated,
the Group endeavours to cultivate environmental
awareness among employees. In order to reduce the
paper consumption, we actively promote electronic
communication instead of paper use. We also encourage
our employees to consider environmental-friendly
printing such as double-sided printing and copying.
Moreover, we encourage employees to reuse single
sided non-confidential print out. We will seek other
possible measures to manage and reduce the waste
generated in operations in the future. The Group will look
into the development of waste management system and
recycling practice in business operations in the coming
future. The amount of non-hazardous waste generated
and recycled in 2023 remained stable as there was
effective implementation of waste management policies
during the year ended 30 June 2023. The Group has set
comprehensive reduction target by 10% reduction in
non-hazardous waste by 2025. The Group will continue to
take the above existing measures to achieve the target.
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The details of non-hazardous waste generated and AEBRBEAANELS MEKE
recycled by the Group during the reporting period were EEREEYEBIT
as follows:
Wastes Unit HK PRC 2023 Total 2022 Total
BEEY By BE HE 2023545 2022F &5t
Non-hazardous waste tonnes 0.03 - 0.03 0.02
generated
EEANBERREY A
Non-hazardous waste tonnes/employee 0.001 - 0.001 0.001
generated intensity
EEANEEEENTE W &S
Non-hazardous waste tonnes 0.03 - 0.03 0.02
recycled
EERREEEREY i
Non-hazardous waste tonnes/employee 0.001 - 0.001 0.001

recycled intensity

ERWHEZEEYEE MW ES

A2. USE OF RESOURCES

The Group considers environmental protection as an
essential component of a sustainable and responsible
business. We have an in-depth understanding of the
importance of safeguarding sustainable development of
the environment and this to attach importance to efficient
utilization of resources by introducing various measures
in daily business operations. We understand that staff
participation is the key to achieve such goals.

We have adopted energy and water efficiency initiatives
to motivate our employees to participate in resource
conservation activities.

The methodologies and assumption adopted for
determining key performance indicators (KPIs) reported
in this section are according to the guidelines of Global
Reporting Initiative (“GRI").

Energy Consumption

With the aims of resource saving and implementation
of energy saving measures, we actively promote the
concept of energy saving and emission reduction into
the entire process of our business development and
operation and implements different energy saving
measures.

A2.

&R 1EH

REBERBRERE 7%—”5?5’?&
E/\EE'J%H_‘%ZE o B

o M e iﬁiRT?;rZs?F‘J:mix
|_¢L ERERBEMA - HER
AREBAEPRMNLIEREE -
RMPHEILENERZSR
ZEHEER -

BIE MR MKE R R a1
e AEREEZSEEIRESL
EE

A LA TE AN 65 AT ¥R 5 RA SR 4B A A
BZIERBRTIRE2HRRE
BEAs ([ 2RBEEFEH])
T ERAR ©

BEIR OB FE
REHNERREBE X EERE
- RMERRNEEEBERK
EEBEREPHED ORI
BEREE S - WERTREL
BEIRTE M o

EIRIREAE R A A 2022/23 F 3R

89



Regarding energy consumption, the use of electricity
accounts for the Group’s major energy consumption. In
view of the scarcity of energy, the Group has advocated
various energy conservation strategies to increase
energy efficiency and reduce energy consumption.
For example, all facilities for film exhibition operations
comply with the Building Energy Efficiency Ordinance
(Chapter 610 of the Laws of Hong Kong) implemented
by the Electrical and Mechanical Services Department to
ensure key building services meet the minimum energy
efficiency standards of the Building Energy Code.

Besides, the temperature of air-conditioners is
maintained at an energy-efficient level at around 25
degrees Celsius. A standby mode is set for computers
when they are not in use for a long period of time.
Besides, all lighting and power supply in the area are
switched off while leaving. In order to increase the
environmental awareness of employees, energy saving
reminder notices are posted near the switches and
sockets to encourage our employees to reduce electricity
usage.

In light of the relaxation of social distancing measures
implemented by the Hong Kong Government for less
serious coronavirus pandemic, this led to an increase in
sale of food and beverage in the Group's Hong Kong's
film exhibition business. Consequently, there was
an increase in the film exhibition business activities,
electricity usage and total energy consumption during
the year. The Group has set inclusive total energy
consumption reduction target by 5% by 2025. The Group
will continue to take the above existing measures to
achieve the target.

During the reporting period, the details of direct and
indirect energy consumption were as follows:
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Type of energy Unit HK PRC 2023 Total 2022 Total
BEREE B S HE 2023F#5 2022F &t
Purchased electricity MWh 639 50 689 568
EHE Jo RS
Petrol MWh - 36 36 18
T JFLBS
Natural gas MWh - 131 131 174
RAR, JKFLBF
Total energy consumption MWh 639 217 856 760
BEERHER JKEL B
Energy consumption intensity MWh/m? 0.14 0.22 0.15 0.13
BEIREREE E KR,

Ik
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Water Consumption

Water is an important resource used by the Group during
operation. It is mainly supplied by the local government
department and there was no issue in sourcing water
which was fit for purpose in 2023. Although the Group
does not consume a significant amount of water during
business operations, we still actively seek ways to
minimise water consumption and endeavour to conserve
water effectively in our operations by implementing
various water-saving measures. For example, employees
are encouraged to turn off the water taps when they are
not in use. Besides, in case of leaking faucet or pipe,
we will promptly report to relevant authority in order to
reduce unnecessary water consumption.

Moreover, the amount of water consumption is recorded
regularly for the Group to monitor the water consumption
level and better formulate water-saving measures. In
light of the effective implementation of water saving
policy during the year, this led to a decrease in the
amount of water consumption in 2023. The Group has
set a reduction target of 10% in water consumption by
2025. The Group will continue to take the above existing
measures to achieve the target.

During the reporting period, the details of water
consumption were as follows:
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Water consumption Unit HK PRC 2023 Total 2022 Total
KERHEFE By B8 B 2023F#5H 2022F#5
Water consumption m? 215 753 968 1,299
KEREFE K
Water consumption intensity m?s/m? 0.05 0.77 0.17 0.23
KEREREREE SRS

Tk
Packaging Material BEYR

Due to our business nature, some packaging material
made with recyclable paper was used at film exhibition
operation. The Group does not have manufacturing
facilities and does not consume a significant amount of
packaging materials.
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A3.

A4.

THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL
RESOURCES

The Group understands that implementing environmental
protection can reduce operational risk and increase
business opportunities. Regarding the business nature,
we are not aware of any significant impact of our
business activities on the environment and natural
resources.

Despite this, we endeavour to consistently improve
our environmental performance by implementing
aforementioned waste reduction measures and
resources saving initiatives.

We will continue to seek opportunities to further
reduce emission and resources consumption with the
aim to reduce the impacts on environment and natural
resources to minimal. We will review our environmental
policy from time to time and consider implementing
further eco-friendly measures and practices in order to
enhance environmental sustainability in the future.

CLIMATE CHANGE

Governance

Our group addresses climate-related risks based on the
nature of the risk to our operations. The physical impacts
of climate change, including extreme weather events,
or damage to facilities have immediate operational
impacts and are treated as operational risks. Long-
term challenges, such as emerging ESG issues and
climate-related risks and opportunities, may be discussed
by the Group’s ESG Working Group.

Supported by our ESG Working Group, our Board
oversees climate-related issues and risks regularly during
board meetings and ensures that they are incorporated
into our strategy.

To ensure our Board to keep up with the latest trend of
climate-related issues, climate competence training will
be provided to ensure it has the necessary expertise
and skills to oversee the management of climate-related
issues. Our Board also seeks professional advice from
external experts when necessary to better support the
decision-making process.
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The ESG Working Group is responsible for approving
operational emissions targets for the Group and
commissioning an ESG benchmarking, as well as gap
analysis exercise to identify gaps in both disclosure and
policy relative to best practice standards. Moreover,
the ESG Working Group works closely with the Group's
different operation departments, with an aim to develop
consistent and enhanced approaches on addressing ESG
risk issues and report to the management.

Strategy

Climate change risk forms part of our overall risk profile
through its role in increasing the frequency and intensity
of certain diseases, and the health and mortality impacts
resulting from natural disasters. We assess the overall
level of risk by taking into consideration a range of
diverse risk factors across the many categories in our
product or services range.

This diversity of risk is combined with our business
strategy and broad geographic footprint helps us
distribute risk and provide protection against the impacts
of short-term climate change effects. Our products
and services continue to provide protection for people
in our communities against weather and heat-related
disease. Besides, we continue to explore opportunities
to engage our business partners and encourage them to
develop climate resilience and reduce their operational
carbon footprint by taking into consideration of different
climate-related scenarios, including a “2°C or lower
scenario” through the following steps:

Step 1: Set Future Images Assuming Climate Change
Effects

As climate change measures proceeds, there is
a possibility that the industry will be exposed to
substantial changes, such as stricter policies including
the introduction of and increases in carbon pricing, as
well as advances in technology and changes in customer
awareness. In light of these climate change effects,
based on the International Energy Agency (“IEA")
scenarios and others, we developed multiple future
images as the external environment that will surround
our Group.
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With regard to the IEA scenarios, we put focus on the
2°C scenario (2DS) and pictured future images in case
where climate change measures do not progress and
where such measures progress further “Beyond 2°C
scenario”.

Step 2: Consider the Impacts

We considered the impacts on our Group for each of the
future images developed in Step 1. We believe that it will
be possible to expedite carbon dioxide reduction effects
in our society.

With regard to the effects on raw material procurement
and production, introduction of and increases in carbon
pricing is anticipated in accordance with the global
advance of climate change measures, leading to the
possibility of higher raw material procurement and
production costs.

On the other hand, in the case where climate change
measures are not adequate throughout society,
production interruptions and supply chain disruptions
are likely to increase as a result of higher frequency and
intensification of natural disasters such as flooding.

Step 3: Respond to the Strategies

Our Group will begin promoting the reduction of
nonrenewable energy in our daily operation. This strategy
will allow for flexible and strategic responses to each
demand for the regions where the emission factors
of purchased electricity consumptions are high. By
promoting real carbon emissions reductions throughout
the world through these types of initiatives, we are
working to achieve zero carbon emission in our business.

We minimize carbon emissions through comprehensive
energy-saving and introduction of renewable energy.
With respect to renewable energy in particular, we have
set a new target, achieve a reduction rate for purchased
electricity in coming few years.

With regard to the ongoing confirmation of the suitability
and progress of the Group’'s strategies, we believe
that we will have opportunities for stable funding
and sustainable increase in corporate value through
appropriate information disclosure, dialogue with
institutional investors and other stakeholders.
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Risk Management

Our Group identifies the climate change related risks or
to test the existing risk management strategies under
climate change with the aid of risk assessment. Hence,
the areas where new strategies are needed can be
identified.

The risk assessment takes a standard risk-based
approach using national data, local information and expert
knowledge, which can identify how climate change may
compound existing risks or create new ones. The risk
assessment is conducted through the following steps:

Step 1. Establish the context
° Objective/goal

° Scale
° Time frame

° Climate change scenario for most climate variables
and sea level

Step 2: Identify existing risk (past and current)

o Identify the record of occurrence of climatic hazard
in the past in the area

° Risk management strategies in place to tackle
future occurrence of the hazard

Step 3. Identify future risk and opportunities
° Explore climate change projections for the selected
time frame(s) and emission scenario(s)

o Identify potential hazards

° Investigate whether any existing risk from Step 2
may get worse under future projected changes

° Identify new risks that can emerge under future
projected changes

Step 4: Analyze and evaluate risk

° Identify a set of decision areas or systems (i.e.,
geographical areas, business operation, assets,
ecosystems, etc.) that has the potential to be at risk
in future
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As outlined within the Governance section above,
the Group has robust risk management and business
planning processes that are overseen by the board
of directors in order to identify, assess and manage
climate-related risks. The Group engages with
government and other appropriate organizations in order
to keep abreast of expected and potential regulatory and/
or fiscal changes.

We continue to raise awareness of climate change in
regard to monitoring of carbon and energy footprint in
our daily operation. However, there remains gaps in
understanding how such climate risks and opportunities
may impact our operations, assets and profits. Our Group
assesses how the business addresses climate change
risks and opportunities and takes the initiative to monitor
and reduce their environmental footprint.

Significant Climate-related Issues

During the reporting period, the significant
climate-related physical risks and transition risks, which
have impacted and/or may impact our Group's business
and strategy in (i) operations, products and services,
(ii) supply chain and value chain, (iii) adaptation and
mitigation activities, (iv) investment in research and
development, and (v) financial planning, as well as the
steps taken to manage these risks, are as follows:
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Climate-related risks description

Financial Impact

Steps taken to manage the risks

SR AR BA 2L B A9 i MR REBZZRABMERMNEE
Physical Risk
BERE R

Acute physical risks

=HEERRR

Increased severity and
frequency of extreme weather
events such as cyclones and

floods. These have the potential

to cause both idiosyncratic
and systemic risks, resulting
in potential damage to office
equipment and film production
or exhibition facilities.
BimRREMS (EEBE Mt
K) BIBREMMIEER L7 - BH
%‘)Ri’ﬂﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂlﬁﬂ REMER
T A AR A R
E%HE&EF“W

e (QOperating cost and
repairing expense
increase

o BN RAEEH
3l

Planned to establish a natural
disasters emergency plan.
FEIRIBANERZAE

Planned to devise an action
plan to articulate the goals
and targets of the reductions
in GHG emission and energy
consumption. Outlined the
plan to achieving those targets
and defined responsibilities.
STEIRIETITEIRE] - PAR PR
DR ER SRR EEIRERED
BEMER - EXEHB R
MERARREEEIEHEE
HE -

EIRIREAE R A A 2022/23 F 3R

97



98

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BRI g MERwRE

Climate-related risks description Financial Impact

Steps taken to manage the risks

RHEEZE R REE i

S5 1 28 [ Bk Y ot Mg E
Chronic physical risks

BHERRER

e (Changes in precipitation o

patterns and extreme variability .
in weather patterns. Frequent
extreme weather events .
and rising in sea levels are
likely to pose disruptions to
communities across the region
over the long term, affecting
economic output and business
productivity.

o RBEMBEANERAREAZRER
& ENRIGRREGRET
H A REME e =AY
HEREKTE  FEBEBEEEN

e Governments that have been
pushing for new regulation to
reduce GHG emission will pose
a threat to financial performance
of a business and increase
regulatory risk.

o BUFHEBFTROUMEER = R 8 HE
R BRI S RITEAE

% - WIRHNEE R o

Revenue reduces

Ly

Operating cost
increases

BB

Planned improvements,
retrofits, relocations, or other
changes to facilities that may
reduce their vulnerability

to climate impacts, and
increases climate resilience in
long term.
STEIS R MEEITRE - & -
BEENHEMNE - MEHEH
RIRFZERRRE - WREMR
HRIEZ(LraeN -

Record the energy
consumption to identify peaks
in usage, thus significant
savings could be determined.
ISR ERENSAES
BHR - SR RIEENE AEIR

Engaged with local or
national governments and
local stakeholders on local
resilience.

ELE 3 B RIBUR M B 3 &
HEAEAE - HHEmER -
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Climate-related risks description Financial Impact

Steps taken to manage the risks

SR AR BA 2L B A9 i MR REBZZRABMERMNEE

Transitional Risk

B E Rk

Policy risk

R B

e As aresult of energy efficiency e Operating cost e Planned to conduct a carbon
requirements, the carbon- increases footprint survey, in order

pricing mechanisms by the PRC o 4@ A N
Government, which increase the
price of fossil fuels.
o HEIHATREIR Mz KR E M ARE B
el BB AERESLEH -

e Mandates on and regulation
of existing film and TV show
broadcasting services.

s BRATTREMRL B EERBEH
RENRE -

to work out the company’s
footprint, to prioritize energy
and waste reductions.

o FTELETTHMENAL - UEFE
NARIER R - BRI AR
BRI B STRT ©

e Monitor the updates of
the relevant environmental
laws and regulations
against existing products
and services, to avoid the
unnecessary increase in cost
and expenditure due to non-
compliance.
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Climate-related risks description Financial Impact

Steps taken to manage the risks

RHEEZE R REE i

S5 1 B8 [ B Y B 5

Legal risk

EERER

e Exposure to litigation risk. We e Operating cost
have to adapt the tightened increases

law and regulations imposed by o &ERL AL A

the government due to climate
change, as well as bear the
risk of potential litigation once
we fail to obligate the new
regulations.

o EFRARR o TRAPIRE R BT A e
RIS U EEDI RG] - —
BoRGEETHRA - Bl mEERF
NG

e Enhanced air pollutant
emissions-reporting obligations
for local government, and we
may have to spend more time
on fulfilling the ESG reporting
standards to comply with the
updating Hong Kong Listing
Rules.

o EIMMEU ANGRZERIT R YBE R
ENELE - HMATEFRILER
ZREMERE g RERW
ERR - NEFERES LR
A -

e Monitored the updates of
environmental laws and
regulations and engage
professional to carry out
ISO9001 audit in advance.

o EEEIRIBANIRROIRE RIS
Mo WRIEBHEEATTAKET
ISO9001 &% °

e Continued monitoring of the
ESG reporting standards of
the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

o FEEREBSLTHRANNR
5 g RERHELER -
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Climate-related risks description Financial Impact Steps taken to manage the risks

SR fi% 6 B8 L B Y 32 REEZSEKBMRIRNER

Technology risk

BT b

e More films and TV series with e C(Capital investment e Examined the feasibility and
low-carbon, energy-saving increases benefits of applying the latest

technologies are produced.
Lagging behind of technology
advancement may weaken our
competitive edges.

o BZAHRN  SRERINNER
N EBRE B RUE - RITERFE
AIRE ISP R FES -

BARBERIN

Research and
Development
(R&D) expense
increases
kR (i
) REm

environmental technologies
during film and TV series
production. The Group
targets to have a long-term
footprint reduction as filming
technologies will switch
from film to High Definition
(HD) technology. Besides,
we planned to study the
development of digital cinema
in future.
BEREERREHEE B RED
B E ARSI RARBAMTAY AT
TR - BEERBERITS
FEMERRIERM - ARER
AN RERDIRETAEE ©
BES - FAFEIERRIR R B
HBERXHER -

Market risk

15 @

e More customers are concerned Revenue Fulfilled the climate-related
about climate-related risks decreases regulations by the
and opportunities, which may Wz R government.

lead to changes in customer
preference.

Operating cost

8 BUFRRIXBRERB -

o BELEFEETRIFAERMRE R M increases Prioritize the climate change
B AL EPRITETSE - B K AN N as a high concern in the

e |nability to attract co-financiers
and/or investors due to
uncertain risks related to the
climate.

o ERIRMEEMNTHET R MEE
BERSIm A S IER R, SH&

Production cost
increases

SUERAIE N

market decisions to show to
the clients that the company is
concerned about the problem
of climate change.
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Climate-related risks description Financial Impact

Steps taken to manage the risks

RHEEZE R REE i

Revenue
decreases

Ly

KR AEBA [ B A 1 3k BB E
Reputational risk
EERR
e Risk of stigmatization of film o
and TV production sector, as
there will be more stakeholder °
concern or negative stakeholder
feedback on our Group if the °

film and TV show productions
are produced in a less
environmental-friendly way.

s BYNBIREBBETESTEL
BIERR - IARE B AR TIRIRAY
FRBEETREREGE - Y
BHEZMNRBEEER I ER
2R

e Negative press coverage related
to support of our Group's
business projects or activities
with negative impacts on the
climate (e.g., GHG emissions
and energy conservation), which
may affect our reputation and
image.

s BRAKEmFHEAIFHIE
HRIFEEEZE (MEERE
PR EREREIR) M A EFER
B ARerERfNEENRT
% o

Operating costs
increases
B ANIE N

Fulfilled the social
responsibility by organizing
more public relation activities
to show how our Group
places importance on climate
change.

AREZ LSRN EE
HRIREHER - UBETH
gRE-

Reviewed the film and TV
show production process, as
well as business projects to
ensure the production and the
projects are environmental-
friendly.
ERBEYRERE B RERE
IAREEIER - BREERR
LEMEEHYBERR -
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During the reporting period, the primary climate-related

BERA - RIRBBEN T ZH#

I
opportunities and the corresponding financial impacts BNIREISEEWNT -
were as follows:

Detailed description of climate-related

opportunities

Financial Impact

SR A BA M B AV F AR 4 MBEE

Resource efficiency

BIRME

e Use of more efficient modes of transport e Operating cost reduces through efficiency
o FHREAMERNZBIA gains and cost reductions

Use of more efficient production and
distribution processes

EREBRENEERDIHRIE

Use of recycling
BB

Reduce water consumption

A K

BB INTR R R K B A A FRAE & E R A

Energy source

BEIR

Use of lower-emission sources of energy o

R BE IR

Use of supportive policy incentives

{38 SRR 226 1 &

Use of new technologies °

150 P 3 B4

Shift toward decentralized energy
generation

BEE 7 ARER AV (X

Operating cost reduces through use of
lowest cost abatement

B BME SRR AR R & B AN

Returns on investment in low- emission
technology increases

32 DEBE R B £ 8 [B] 37

Products and services

7 o AR

Development of climate adaptation and °
insurance risk solutions

B SR (RSB e S AR R B BREOR 5 2=

Ability to diversify business activities

ZL R EBHIBE

Development of new products or services
through R&D and innovation
375 i B 25 T B % 0l 77 28 7 228 em S AR 75

Revenue increases through new solutions
to adaptation needs, such as insurance risk
transfer of products and services
FRERRIEECMBONTRASTR (NEM
MR REERER) =RA KR
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Detailed description of climate-related
opportunities
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Financial Impact

KRIRHEEB N FEAER g
Markets
%

e Access to new markets
o EAFTTIS

e Revenue increases through access to new
and emerging markets
o EIBME AFTHETISIE M

Resilience

HEN

e Participation in renewable energy programs
and adoption of energy-efficiency measures

o MU BARIRTE LIRIENREEIE

e Resource substitution or diversification

o BREBERIZITI

e Market valuation increases through resilience
planning, such as planning of the research in
the use of electric vehicles

o FBEUAE (WMREFAREAESE) 1N
mHEE

e Reliability of supply chain and ability to
operate under various condition increases

o IERESEMAIEM RESERG THEER
7

e Revenue increases through new products
and services related to ensuring resiliency

o B ELEMRE NIRRT E an S BRI ek

Metrics and Targets

B =

Our Group adopts the key metrics to assess and manage
climate-related risks and opportunities. The energy
consumption and greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions
indicators are the key metrics used to assess and
manage relevant climate-related risks where we consider
such information is material and crucial for evaluating
the impact of our operation on global climate change
during the year. Our Group regularly tracks our energy
consumption and GHG emissions indicators to assess
the effectiveness of emission reduction initiatives,
as well as set targets to contribute our effort to have
minimal impact on global warming.

The details of time frames over which the target applies
and base year from which progress is measured are
described in the section A1: “Emissions” and section

“Use of Resources” of this Report. Our Group
adopts absolute target to manage climate-related risks,
opportunities and performance.
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B. SOCIAL ASPECTS B. €M@
EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES EBERZILER
B1. EMPLOYMENT B1. &

The Group believes employees are valuable assets and
the foundation for success and development of the
Group. We strive to maintain a safe and equal working
environment for employees and promote employees’
health and well-being. Policies and regulations in the
Group's staff handbook have been established for the
guidance and observation by the employees of the Group
and will be subject to the laws of the PRC and Hong
Kong as far as they may be applicable in conjunction
with the policies. Staff handbook provides information
and guidelines regarding employee’s standard working
hours, rest days, statutory holidays, termination of
employment, summary dismissal, exit interview, salary
payment, overtime work, various types of leaves,
medical coverage, mandatory provident fund, night shift
travel allowance and overtime work allowance.

Work-life Balance

The Group recognises that a proper balance between
work and rest can help employees to release their
full potential. Hence, the Group is dedicated to help
employees to maintain a work-life balance through
reasonable contractual working hours and vacation
entitlements.

Equal opportunity

The Group places a high priority on achieving equality
of opportunity for all employees in relation to all
personnel matters including recruitment, training,
promotion, transfer, benefits and dismissal. The dignity
and individuality of each employee is respected, and
the privacy and confidentiality of employee records
is safeguarded. Employees’ performance is assessed
solely according to their individual ability to meet job
requirements.

Promotion and appraisal

The Group offers internal promotions to employees,
whenever possible, within the Group. Promotion to a
higher grade normally depends on the availability of
vacancy, individual performance and potential to take up
the new position.
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The Group provides an open, challenging and
participative environment for all employees. We aim to
provide opportunities for the development of the skills
of employees to the fullest extent possible, consistent
with the needs of the Group. Job performance is
reviewed annually, and this serves as an opportunity
for the supervisor to evaluate employee'’s performance
in an objective and open manner, to discuss concerns,
strength and suggestions for further improvement.

Employees’ remuneration and pay scale adjustment are
made reference to individual's performance and appraisal
results, industrial standard and market trend.

Employee welfare

Employees can enjoy free enrolment to Cinema City's
membership along with complimentary movie tickets
and coupons. Movie premiere invitations are also given
to employees for the Group's own film productions.
The Group offers special arrangement to employees
to leave work early on important traditional days which
are not public holidays such as Mid-Autumn Festival,
Winter solstice, Christmas Eve and Chinese New Year's
Eve. The Group regularly organises internal events to
strengthen the sense of belonging within the Group
and boost the communication transparency among all
levels of employees, through Christmas party and annual
dinner, etc.

During the reporting period, the Group was in strict
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in
the PRC and Hong Kong, including the Labour Law
of the PRC, the Labour Contract Law of the PRC, the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the
Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) and the Race Discrimination Ordinance
(Chapter 602 of the Laws of Hong Kong) in HK. During
the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with those applicable laws and
regulations.

At the end of the reporting period, the total number of
employees of the Group was 88 (30 June 2022: 135).
Below is the employee breakdown by gender, age group,
geographical region.
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2023 2022
Employee Breakdown EEHMA 20234 20224
By gender &1 BB 5
Male St 68% 45%
Female pegi 32% 55%
By age group RERAR B2
30 or below 30BRE A T 50% 46 %
31-40 31 2405% 34% 40%
41-50 41 5% ZE505% 10% 7%
51 or above 51pRsk A 6% 7%
By geographical region &ith3E B 8l 5
PRC H 62% 57 %
Hong Kong BB 38% 43%
By employee category ZEBERE S
Senior management SEEEAR 16% 1%
Middle management FEEEAE 22% 19%
General staff —RET 62% 69%
Contract/short term A%,/ HH - 1%

The employee annual turnover rate by gender, age group,
geographical region during the reporting period was as

RBEHE - BEFERARE
MR - FERAE R R IE 8

follows: wm

2023 2022
Employee Turnover Rate EEMRKE 20234 20225
By gender &1 BI85
Male St 33% 56%
Female peglii3 54% 58%
By age group REwRAR B2
30 or below 30FREIA T 54% 76%
31-40 312405% 24% 42%
41-50 41Z505% 1% 42%
51 or above 515 A 36% 35%
By geographical region &ith 32 B 8l 5
PRC =) 46 % 44%
Hong Kong BB 36% 76%
Overall “et 40% 57%
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Employee health and safety is the Group's top priority.
The Group takes into consideration every precaution to
establish a healthy and safe working environment for its
employees. We strictly abide by the relevant laws and
regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong, including the
Law of the PRC on work safety, the Law of the PRC on
the Prevention and Control of Occupational Disease, and
the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter
509 of the Laws of Hong Kong) in Hong Kong. During
the year ended 30 June 2023, there was no case of
non-compliance in relation to health and safety or work-
related injury within the Group.

The Group not only strictly complies with relevant labour
laws and regulations, but also proactively formulates
internal policies and standards related to specific
business departments of the Group. For example, the
Group's film exhibition operation has obtained Places
of Public Entertainment License issued by Food and
Environmental Hygiene Department (“FEHD") to ensure
its business comply with relevant laws and regulations.
Besides, as stated in the staff handbook, health and
safety at work are the interest and responsibility of both
employees and the Group.

Employees’ compensation insurance is provided to cover
any work-related injuries, illnesses and occupational
diseases. The Group is committed to complying with
all local occupational health and safety legislations that
are relevant to the Group. First-aid kits are provided at
all workplaces. Employees must take reasonable care
for the health and safety of themselves and others, as
well as participating in fire safety training or fire drills
provided by the Group or property management offices.
If any employee notices any unsafe conditions or gets
injured at work, he/she should immediately report it to
the supervisor.
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During the year ended 30 June 2023, there was 1 work
injury case (30 June 2022: nil, 30 June 2021: nil) and 53
lost days (30 June 2022: nil, 30 June 2021: nil) due to
minor injuries during film exhibition operations. There
was no work-related fatality case (30 June 2022: nil, 30
June 2021: nil) during the reporting period. Employees
were given paid sick leave for their recovery. Overall,
no employees had serious accident during the reporting
period.

The Group believes the knowledge and skills of its
employees are vital to the sustainable development of
the Group. All training activities, executed through the
Human Resources & Administration Department of the
Group (“HRA"), should comply with the applicable local
laws and regulations and protect the Group’s interest.
We maintain an open dialogue with our employees by
facilitating a transparent two-way communication and
providing on-the-job training to ensure they are well
equipped with skills, knowledge and competencies that
are needed to perform their job duties. Besides, we
also encourage employees to attend external courses
regarding operation skills required for upgraded software
and new equipment during office hours. Standard training
is arranged for directors and the company secretary
on an annual basis and a regular basis respectively, to
strengthen their continuous professional development as
well as to comply with requirements of the Listing Rules.
The Group will enhance the training system in order to
improve the personal development of employees in the
future.

HE2023F6HA30BItFE &
DRIk FE 75 A B S5 8318 TS FR 141
R(2022F6 A30H : £ : 20214
6A30R : /&) RBLRTEA LG5I
H(2022F6 8308 : £ : 20214
6H30H : ) - MEEHIMA - I
EATIHT 2 EZE (202296 H30
B : % 2021F6A308 : &) -
REBEEGRTEBAEESTRE
M ERE - B8BME - PNk
HHE  BEEEBREERESI
E v g

AEEREEREEMMBELIREE
BAEENABBEEREESE
2o —YIFIEBHAREMA
NERRTHRERIM(TANE
RE ) #1T BESFHTER
ERFERARREARE BT
@ BB BREEAMERZ
BREREEEARYE - AR
HERIZI - BREEEDAE
BITEBEMBHKREE - MK
BEN ° BRib 24N - AR B
ERMARM2MAE BTG TR
K1 3% AR P 75 HR E B RE A SMBB RR
B-EFERAAMENHEGFE
TEBREI - NZREFEEE
BRUARTE EMARABRE - &
SEBMRE N RG - UBER
BHEWEAZRE -

EIRIREAE R A A 2022/23 F 3R

109



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RS - LB RERWRE

During the reporting period, the percentage of employees RMEEHRN  SIEEZRMER R
received training by gender and employment category BEENESHOBDLLAT :
was as follows:

2023 2022
Percentage of Employees Received Training Zi{EEBED L 2023%F 20225
By gender R B &l D
Male S 23% 38%
Female pegis 100% 45%
By employment category RERERE S
Senior management BEEEAR 64 % 48%
Middle management REEIEAE 47% 23%
General staff —fRET 61% 46%
Contract/short term =Y oy g e = =
Overall @et 59% 42%
During the reporting period, the composition of R EHR - ZIEEERER R
employees received training by gender and employment EEERNES®E/KINT -
category was as follows:
2023 2022
Composition of Employees Received Training ZI|{E S K 20235 20225
By gender R &5
Male B 26% 38%
Female pegid 74% 62%
By employment category REBERZ 2
Senior management BEEIEAR 15% 13%
Middle management REEIEAE 14% 10%
General staff —fRET 71% 77 %
Contract/short term X oy g e - -
Overall et 100% 100%
Furthermore, the average training hours by gender and o - RSN - R IR R E
employment category during the reporting period was as BERESHFYZIEENT
follows:
2023 2022
Average Training Hours Received per Employee S {EEFHZ I 20234 20224
By gender %1 B Bl 2
Male B 2.0 9.7
Female pegis 4.6 10.4
By employment category RERERE 2
Senior management SEEIEAB 7.0 13.8
Middle management FREERE AR 5.4 5.3
General staff —fRET 1.4 10.8
Contract/short term A4,/ G HE -
Overall et 2.9 10.1
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B4. LABOUR STANDARDS

The Group respects the human rights of employees and
is strongly against the employment of child labour and
forced labour. The Group is strictly in compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations, such as the Labour
Law in the PRC and the Employment Ordinance (Chapter
57 of the Laws of Hong Kong) in Hong Kong. We pursue
fair and equitable principle, promote equal opportunity in
recruiting and promotion for employees and prohibit any
kind of forced labour. We are committed to supporting
the effective abolition of child labour and upholding the
elimination of all forms of forced labour.

The HRA conducts checking on candidates and newly
joined employee’s identity cards, working visa, relevant
certificates, and references to ensure compliance
with all the applicable laws and regulations relating to
labour standards. The Group respects the freedom of
employees.

All works should be voluntarily performed and must
not involve forced labour. The Group forbids abusing,
corporal punishment, violence, spirit oppression, sexual
harassment (including improper language, posture and
body contact) as forms of penalty.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware
of any material non-compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations related to recruitment of child labour or
forced labour practices.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B R REARE

B4. % T %8|

AEBEEEREOARE - LR
REEREINAGIST - A&
EEEETHEBEEZLER W0
(hEZEE) KRB (RER K
BINERBEDESTE) - HFIZFTT
RFRENRA - EREREH
BRETAEERETSEHRE &
=AM BRGIE T - HFIK
ANZFHERELREBET MK
BRI AR RHS T -

ANERBEHEE AL RFERE
BNFNE  THERE HEE
EREBRHETZE - UERERE
ST YIS TARIE B R E A
BRZER - AEEEERENA
i o

e TIEBAEARETT  T/Y
Rl T - REBZEIEAE
B BE 21 KBuESa - *
RE(BETRENES 22X
SREEERREILA -

REREHRE - NEBEW ARERE

MEREERABHAEE T A
S TRBARKABMBI

EIRIREAE R A A 2022/23 F 3R

m



12

The Group strives to maintain long-term and good
relationships with suppliers, maintain competitive
advantages in the value chain, and provide stable
products and services to our customers. In order to
manage and mitigate the environmental and social risks
in the supply chain, we have adopted a procurement
policy and a stringent supplier selection procedure for
assigning purchasing responsibilities and ensuring a
consistent approach for selecting suppliers who will
provide the best terms, conditions and products to meet
our standards and requirements. During the year, we
require all our Group’s 45 (30 June 2022: 45) suppliers
in Hong Kong and 13 (30 June 2022: 11) suppliers in
the PRC to ensure all material aspects of procurement
of goods, raw materials, works and services to be
conducted to the highest ethical standards in accordance
with our Group's purchasing and supplier management
policy and procedure, as well as consistent with the
following principles:

o Competitive tendering wherever possible and
the impartial selection of appropriately qualified
tenderers;

° Objective evaluation of tenders and selection of
contractors and suppliers;

° Adoption of appropriate forms of contract according
to needs; and

° Adoption of effective monitoring systems and
management controls to ensure the proper
fulfilment of contractual obligation, and to detect
and prevent bribery, fraud or other malpractices
throughout all stages of the procurement process.

In the supply chain, environmental risks and social risks
may arise. Environmental risks are transmitted through
air, water, soil or biological food chains to human,
while social risk arises from negative perceptions of an
organization’s impact on the community.
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In order to deal with the environmental risks and social
risks along the supply chain, the Group identifies and
assesses significant actual and potential negative
environmental and social impacts in the supply chain by
reviewing the benefits and limitation of each machine
and equipment used. We always require the suppliers
should have a high quality of Environmental, Health
and Safety system (e.g., ISO9001, 1ISO14001) in their
operational practice. Qualified suppliers which adopt high
environmental and social standards are maintained in an
approved supplier list and reviewed in an ongoing manner
by our management. The performance of suppliers is
assessed annually by the Group. For the suppliers that
may generate negative environmental or social impacts,
the Group will follow up with them on proposing more
advanced and environmentally-friendly operations.
Therefore, promoting environmentally preferable
products and services when selecting suppliers are
considered and monitored throughout our supplier
evaluation process.

The Group regards product quality as a key competitive
advantage of its business and makes every effort
to improve the product quality while strengthening
communications with customers. We have strictly
complied with the applicable laws and regulations in the
PRC and Hong Kong, including the Product Quality Law
of the PRC, the Consumer Protection Law of the PRC
and the Trade Descriptions Ordinance (Chapter 362 of
the laws of Hong Kong) and the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the laws of Hong Kong).
During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations related to product responsibility in the PRC
and Hong Kong.
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Customer Relations

The management plays a vital role in understanding and
communicating with what its customers need. Thus, the
Group has maintained years of business relationships
with its key customers and ensured the end product
fitting for the users. We recognise that customer
satisfaction is of primary importance to our success. We
strive to understand their requirements and concerns and
to merit their business by responding effectively to their
needs. Specifically, our policies include:

° Always put the customers first by providing them
with good quality cinema facilities, high quality
viewing environment and the services that meet or
exceed the customers’ needs under all reasonable
circumstances;

° Provide service hotline and email enquiry channel,
in which all enquiries must be responded within 3
working days;

° Provide services that reliably and safely meet
responsible standards of performance, efficiency,
and courtesy; and

° Provide timely, accurate and sufficient information
about its operations, capabilities, and services,
without misrepresentation, exaggeration, and
overstatement.

Accessible seats are provided for people with disability
and the people along with them. Subtitled screenings
are provided for deaf and hearing-impaired customers.
Moreover, it is the Group's standard practice to check
every customer’s identification card when watching
age-restricted movies. During the reporting period,
no material products and service-related complaints
were received, and no products sold or shipped were
subjected to recalls for safety and health reasons.

Food Health and Safety at Cinemas

The Group obtained the Food Factory License issued
by Food and Environmental Hygiene Department
("FEHD") and strictly complies with the policies and
relevant regulations set by FEHD. Officers from FEHD
regularly conducts inspection on the Group's film
exhibition premises to ensure food quality and hygienic
environment are maintained. Employees working at
concession stands are required to attend training courses
provided by the FEHD and strictly follow the food
preparation guidelines.
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Copyrights Management

The Group has established a copyrights management
policy for its distribution and production of films, in
the aspects of copyright’s filing procedure, define
ownership of the copyrights and contract terms. Digital
Cinema Package (DCP) is used for movies for protection
against illegal copying and piracy as specific decryption
is required. In case of any suspected copyrights
infringement item coming to the Group's attention, the
policy also provides guidance on reporting structures
and responsible parties and departments. Moreover,
the Group enforces security encryption, subject to
customers’ instruction, and the Group sets securities
codes for internal data and privacy protection. The use
of pirate software is prohibited to avoid infringement of
copyrights of other parties. For film exhibition operation,
the Group ensures the warning message and policy
trailers are displayed to protect intellectual property
rights of the films exhibited in the cinemas. Employees
are required to strictly follow work procedures to patrol
inside the cinemas during screening to ensure no illegal
recording.

Personal Data Protection and Privacy Policy
The Group is committed to complying with data
protection principles and the requirements of the
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). Security software is installed on
server for data protection. No collected personal data of
employees, customers, suppliers and cinemagoers shall
be shared with any third party outside the Group without
their prior consent unless permitted or requested by law.
Only those employees who need these personal data
need to perform a specific task with such information.
For example, job application and customer services
are granted access rights for personally identifiable
information. Personal information is retained only for
such period whenever necessary for carrying out of the
purposes stated in the policy or as otherwise specified at
the time of collection.
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The Group is committed to upholding high standards of
business ethics and integrity. The Group strictly abides
by the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and
Hong Kong, including the Criminal Law of the PRC and
the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) in Hong Kong. The Group forbids
any form of corruption, extortion, bribery, fraud, money
laundering and embezzlement.

The Group has also established an anti-fraud policy and
code of conduct manual for employees to maintain the
highest standards of integrity and honesty in conducting
the Group's affairs. Any employee contravening the
Group's rules and ethical standards is liable to disciplinary
action.

The Group does not tolerate any illegal or unethical
acts. Anyone violating the code of conduct will be
disciplined and may be dismissed. The Group expects
all employees to honestly uphold the Group’s policy, the
accounting procedures and other controls. The Group has
formulated the “Whistle-blowing Policy” which provides
the employees reporting channels and guidance. Any
employee of the Group who has concern about any of
the matters aforesaid can inform the Company Secretary.
Employees should report to the management at once
when any suspected violations of the code of conduct
and anti-fraud policy including conflicts of interest,
deception, bribery, forgery, extortion, corruption, theft,
conspiracy, embezzlement, asset misappropriation,
false representation, concealment of materials facts and
collusion, fighting or gambling whilst on duty, serious
negligence of duties, money laundering, etc. are found.
This aims to minimize damage to the Group's reputation.

All potential frauds will be fully investigated by the
Compliance Officer together with the Company
Secretary. These investigations will be handled
confidentially. Management will take immediate
corrective actions to resolve substantiated frauds.
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The Company Secretary will report fraudulent activity
to the Audit Committee at least annually. This report
will include the number of cases reported, the nature
of important investigations and the results of those
investigations. Since the responsibility for monitoring
fraud ultimately rests with the Board, the Audit
Committee will submit a summary of fraudulent activity
to the Board at least annually.

In cases of suspected corruption or other forms
of criminality, once prima facie evidence has been
established, cases will be reported to Hong Kong
Independent Commission Against Corruption or other
appropriate regulatory authorities.

The anti-fraud policy will be reviewed and, if necessary,
updated at least every two years. Any changes to this
policy will be submitted to the Audit Committee for
approval.

The Group strongly believes that conducting the business
within an honest, moral, and ethical arena is the best
business policy to achieve healthy and sustainable
growth of the Group. The Group manages and directs
its business with honesty including honest financial
procedures, budget proposals and honest economic
evaluation of its business. According to the code of
conduct, those who are involved in the selection of and
purchase from suppliers and contractors should avoid
misuse of authority or engagement in situations which
could interfere, or appear to interfere, with their ability to
make free and independent decisions regarding purchase
or procurement.

During the reporting period, no legal case concerned
with corrupt practices was brought against the Group.
Besides, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations related
to anti-corruption in the PRC and Hong Kong during the
year ended 30 June 2023.
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During the reporting period, the number of employees
received anti-corruption training and the training hours
per employee by employment category were as follows:
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RBEHA - ERXREIFHE
HEBABRNETREBNIZIE
BRERERNEDMT

2023 2022
Anti-corruption Training RESEI 20235 20224
Number of employees received training EESEIINEE A
Senior management SEEEAE = 6
Middle management FEEEAE = 4
General staff —MRET = 36
Total employees EEHAY = 46
Number of training hours per employee BRAEENIEIEE
Senior management SEEEAS = 2
Middle management FEEEAE = 2
General staff —RET = 2
COMMUNITY &

B8. COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

As a socially responsible enterprise, the Group is

BS. Ht BIRE

ER—REBETHEEENEE -

constantly aware of the needs of community and
strives to bring a positive impact on community
development. The Group encourages its employees
to dedicate their time and skills to supporting local
communities with the aim to create a harmonious
society and cultural development. The Group strives
to discharge its corporate social responsibility and has
been offering special movie ticket price for the elderly
and students. Moreover, we may consider supporting
non-governmental organisations through charity gala
premiere of the Group’s productions or the films
exhibited in the Group’s cinemas.
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Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Transmit
Entertainment Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 130 to 250,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 30 June 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
30 June 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA™)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED

(Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matters

REELER

Impairment assessment of goodwill

RS

We identified the impairment assessment
of goodwill as a key audit matter due to the
significance of the balance to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole and significant
judgement and estimate involved in determination
of the recoverable amount of the cash generating
units (“CGUs") to which goodwill has been
allocated.

RITHRPIEBRENMERAREZEIE  EANEH
ERHGAT B RRERB EENRETCEORR
BrReEFEU([ReEFERMAU]) 2l KOS5
KB R AR AAE -

As disclosed in notes 4 and 15 to the consolidated
financial statements, the carrying amount before
impairment loss of goodwill was HK$425,974,000
as at 30 June 2023. In estimating the recoverable
amount of the CGUs to which goodwill has been
allocated, the management has made a number of
key assumptions in the value in use calculations.
The key assumptions include discount rates, the
forecast performance in respect of budgeted sales
and budgeted costs based on management'’s view
of future business prospects. As disclosed in note
15 to the consolidated financial statements, based
on the management'’s assessment, impairment loss
of HK$117,802,000 was recognised for the year
ended 30 June 2023 (2022: HK$67,652,000).

WA M RRM 4RSI ETE - FER2023F
6 A 30 B # 5 {8 /& 18 51 Bk H B R 78 % 425,974,000
T RMAHEEIEEZREEL BN 2 AT IO
CHE EREEEFREEAERFEHETEER
o FEBREBEREEEEYARARESISNE
ERTEEHEERBEK ARG AR X RIEA K
| MEEVBREANT15FEE - REEEEN
it - Bl22023F6 A30H IEFERRBMEEIE BB
117,802,0007T (20224 : ##67,652,0007T) °

BEEREFRATDVERE(E)
(RASHSEME LA BRLA])

FAREEXEEm

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

RITNERNMEERRERSE

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment
of goodwill included:

AITRARBEREFENEF 2

Understanding the process of how management
performs impairment assessment of goodwill;

I AR E TR B AN A 1T R B AR E RS ¢

Challenging the key assumptions used, including
discount rates, the forecast performance in respect
of budgeted sales and budgeted costs based on our
knowledge of the entertainment related industry as
well as historical performance of the Group;
ERMEANEERE  BERBRITHREMBEITE
BAE N BEEBBEXREMBEHEE RFAEERAME
BYBLIR & R FEAIRIR

Engaging our internal valuation expert to assess the
discount rates used in the impairment assessment
model by benchmarking against independent data; and
ZEASBGEEZRABIBBRAESE - SERENGIE
AFTAMAIRE : &

Testing a selection of data inputs underpinning the
cash flow forecast against appropriate supporting
evidence, such as approved budgeted sales and
budgeted costs, to assess the accuracy and reliability
of the data inputs.
NEENZRER(PINERTEEHE RIEEKRAR) BE
£ ARETFReREBANZETBAZIE - LAFTHE
BRI AR R SR AT SR -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
VR GRS

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. WWe have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B BN E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor's report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’'s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2022/23
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From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
conseguences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Ip Yat Hung.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 September 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
reBom AN EERER

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

2023 2022
20234 20224
NOTES HK$°000 HK$'000
iz BT T BT
Revenue U 5 5 166,429 703,981
Cost of sales FHE KA (120,238) (577,836)
Gross profit ER 46,191 126,145
Other gains and losses H b W es N E51E 7 3,739 (1,108)
Other income =N 7 48,709 66,945
Selling and distribution expenses HERBEITHX (74,928) (84,225)
Administrative expenses TR (65,499) (82,634)
Impairment losses reversed FEHEEBEEXTZ
(recognised) under expected credit SE R R O] (RER) -
loss model, net pEit-E 35b 2,361 (998)
Impairment losses recognised on EERE SRR
goodwill 15 (117,802) (67,652)
Fair value change on purchased call ERABEATEEZS
option 35b (3,423) (16,803)
Fair value change on contingent ERNSAREAFEE
consideration payable 35b (8,538) 1,529
Finance costs AEKAR 8 (18,590) (23,365)
Loss before tax BREAIEE (187,780) (82,166)
Income tax credit (expense) PSR (F ) 9 2,276 (6,974)
Loss for the year FREE 10 (185,504) (89,140)
Other comprehensive expense for FREMZEREX
the year
Items that may be reclassified RS E S Em A
subsequently to profit or loss 15 H
Exchange difference arising on BINEIRE 2 IEH 5
translation of foreign operations (28,962) (12,386)
Reclassification of the cumulative R E BN
gain included in profit or loss upon ENOETABRZ
disposal of foreign operations s glgas (830) -
(29,792) (12,386)
Total comprehensive expense FREEMAXEE
for the year (215,296) (101,526)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

ireBm REMEm RS

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

2023 2022
20235 20224
NOTE HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt aE BT T BT
(Loss) profit for the year THATEEERN
attributable to: (E518)&=F -
— Owners of the Company AVNCIEZ N (186,920) (92,166)
- Non-controlling interests — SRR R 1,416 3,026
(185,504) (89,140)
Total comprehensive (expense) THALTEEER
income for the year 2E(BEAX)WRALEE:
attributable to:
- Owners of the Company S VNS ZEPN (212,602) (102,883)
- Non-controlling interests — IR R (2,694) 1,357
(215,296) (101,526)
Loss per share ERER 13
Basic (HK cents) BB (7.20) (3.55)

D

7] 2022/23 F 3}
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

sre MR

At 30 June 2023 20236 H30H

2023 2022
20234 20224F
NOTES HK$°000 HK$'000
B 5T BT T BT T
Non-current assets FEREEE
Property, plant and equipment YE - BB KR 1,144 2,285
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14 63,881 117,388
Goodwill [EE= 15 245,725 393,821
Intangible assets B EE 16 48,840 71,684
Interest in a joint venture R—EEEPENER - 155
Rental deposits HEHsS 17 17,450 16,274
377,040 601,507
Current assets REEE
Film rights and television series TBERE L RAEP BARE
production in progress 18 322,060 327,422
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E bW FRIE 19 84,715 152,152
Loan to a related party m— B ER = 2,835
Derivative financial assets PTHEERMERE 35b = 3,576
Financial assets at fair value through ATV EFAEBR SR EE
profit or loss 20 10,850 2,410
Restricted bank balances PR HIERITAEER 520 3,404
Pledged bank deposits BRI TER 21 42,271 67,518
Bank balances and cash RITEHREE S 22 85,108 103,462
545,524 662,779
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B NEMERFIE 23 190,071 201,885
Contract liabilities BHERE 24 138,364 155,116
Tax payable AN 17,070 19,499
Bank and other borrowings IRIT R EAIEFK 25 98,306 109,101
Loans from related companies KA ATINER 27 9,224 9,993
Bonds payable R ES 26 = 14,258
Amount due to a joint venture R —HEa S ERIE = 424
Contingent consideration payable ERTSARE 35b 125,850 -
Lease liabilities HEAR 28 81,039 90,215
659,924 600,491
Net current (liabilities) assets RE(BEEETH (114,400) 62,288
Total assets less current liabilities #AEERRBERE 262,640 663,795
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

wra MEBIRAR

At 30 June 2023 20236 H30H

2023 2022
20234 20224
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B &E BET T ST IT
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Loans from related companies KEBEEARNER 27 74,160 30,677
Contingent consideration payable FERF AR EB 35b - 127,509
Deferred tax liabilities EEFITEEE 31 12,210 17,896
Lease liabilities HEAE 28 9,089 88,686
95,459 264,768
Net assets EEZFE 167,181 399,027
Capital and reserves ERRHE
Share capital A% A 29 6,489 6,489
Reserves s (340,776) (128,174)
Deficit in shareholders’ equity R PR %5 S At (334,287) (121,685)
Perpetual bonds KERE 30 448,062 464,612
Non-controlling interests FEERRER 53,406 56,100
Total equity R 167,181 399,027

HMNFEIB0E2B0E Z AWM BHRREER
NAEFEGN20235F9 27 AL RIRH#ET
% WHUPTAIRSRE

The consolidated financial statements on pages 130 to 250 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors of the
Company on 27 September 2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

Zhang Liang, Johnson Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick

RE FEX
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EF EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

AN

s s

TRy TUE

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KARERARL
Non-
Share Share Other Exchange Accumulated Perpetual controlling
capital premium  reserve  reserve losses  Sub-total bonds interests Total
kx  BROGEE EtRE EXRE  2HER Nt KER FERES ax
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
RETT  AETR A% A¥Tn A% AETR AT aeTn AT
(Note i)
(s
At 1 July 2021 202157718 6,489 521,046 11,848 24,675 (573,593) (9,535) 204,600 54,743 249,808
(Loss) profit for the year £/ (Ei#8)%&F - - - - (92,1661 (92,166) - 3026 (89,140)
Fxchange difference  S9bERIEE L
arising on translation of X £%
foreign operations - - - (10717) - (10,717) - (1,669)  (12,386)
Total comprehensive N2 (FIX) WA
(expense) income for &%
the year - - - (10,717) (92,166)  (102,883) - 1,357 (101,526)
Issuance of perpetual  E{7KEE(KE30)
bonds (note 30) - - (9,267 - - (9,267) 260,012 - 250,745
At 30 June 2022 12022564308 6,489 521,046 2,581 13,958 (665,759)  (121,685) 464,612 56,100 399,027
(Loss) profit for the year ER (18 )& - = = - (186,920)  (186,920) - 1416 (185,504)
Exchange difference S50 $KBEY
arising on translation of ~ [EJ ZE
foreign operations - - - (24852) - (24852) - (4mo)  (28962)
Reclassification of REEFINEBR
the cumulative gain BN ARG
included in profit or 25t
loss upon disposal of
foreign operations - - - (830) - (830) - - (830)
Total comprehensive ~ ER2ARXLE
expense for the year - - - (25,682  (186,920) (212,602) - (2,694)  (215,296)
Issuance of perpetual  E{TKER(5E30)
bonds (note 30) - - - - - - 950 - 950
Repayment of perpetual  BBKER (FE30)
bonds (note 30) = - - - - - (17,500 - (17,500
At 30 June 2023 #2023%6A308 6489 521046 2581  (11724)  (852679) (334287) 448062 53406 167,181

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2022/23



For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

Other reserve of HK$10,000 represents the difference between
the aggregate nominal value of the respective share capital of the
companies now comprising the subsidiaries of Transmit Entertainment
Limited (the “Company”) over the nominal value of the shares of the
Company issued pursuant to the group reorganisation completed on
5 October 2012 (the “Reorganisation”) to rationalise the structure
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) in preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares on
GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

Other reserve of HK$11,838,000 represents an initial fair value
adjustments of loan advances from Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson (“Mr.
Zhang"), the controlling shareholder of the Company, and Guangzhou
Puji Real Estate Agency Co. Limited (“Guangzhou Puji”), a company
in which Mr. Zhang has controlling interest, which are unsecured,
interest-free and each repayable in July 2022 and February 2023
respectively. Such fair value adjustments measured as the difference
between proceeds received and the fair value of the loan based
on prevailing market interest rates were considered as deemed
contribution from the controlling shareholder.

In July 2021, loans from Guangzhou Puji and Mr. Zhang were repaid
by issue of perpetual bonds, see details in note 30. The difference
amounting to HK$9,267,000 between the fair value of perpetual
bonds issued and the carrying amounts of loans derecognised was
recognised against the above deemed contribution from the controlling
shareholder.

H i & B 10,000 5B IBERIRES
RAR(TARQR]DREWNBAR(FHBE K
E8 ) AEHERARFARDNEBHE IS
ERAB([BRFT))GEM LTI B A%
EREMMN2012F10 AT 2 EEE4H
(TEMA])  BAKXARREWBRRNA A
ZERALEELEAAARBEETRMOEEDN
Z=E o

H i REE 11,838,000 5K B AN A &2
BRREERE(TREE D R—RRELERE
EERESRNARBENEREHERESR
AR[EMERDMERBRHN N L RFEE
AR BERERAEER - RBRSAER
2022F7 A K2023F2AEE - EEAFE
AR (12 P U R A BT A5 R E SRR E B T 95 T
EHERATFEZEZHENE) HEAREE
BRAREREE -

M2021F78  REEMERRREENE
REBBEITKBEBREE  FBEH208M
30 - BEEITKEBEN R FEADKRIEER
EXRMEEME 5 B%9,267,000t2 1R
B SRR T B RER -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

=EAN NN =
S e i

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

2023 2022
20234 20224
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
P 5T BET T BETIT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES FEEAEED)
Loss before tax M FR A ET 1R (187,780) (82,166)
Adjustments for: BT EIEAFE
Finance costs BB A 8 18,590 23,365
Interest income from banks and RARIT M A B BN
loan to a related party ISV ON 7 (862) (710)
Gain on modification of financial EHEI =R
liabilities 7 (1,614) -
Investment income of PEEEERNIRERA
wealth management products (543) (1,077)
Depreciation of property, WE - BERREITE
plant and equipment 10 734 574
Depreciation of right-of-use-assets FREEETE 10 55,304 56,671
Amortisation of intangible assets B E R 10 17,876 19,313
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERTE ARk 7 (14,180) -
Impairment losses recognised on BEREIRERRBERERER
television series production 10 12,722 -
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, HEWE  HEK
plant and equipment and BB REEE
right-of-use assets B8 (Yas) 7 95 (79)
Impairment losses (reversed) FEEEEEEEXTH
recognised under expected credit BEBE(EE) R -
loss model, net ecd-cl 35b (2,361) 998
Impairment loss on goodwill HEYREEE 15 117,802 67,652
Fair value change on contingent S ARBH A F(EE
consideration payable 35b 8,538 (1,529)
Fair value change on purchased CREREENTEE
call option 35b 3,423 16,803
Imputed interest in rental deposits HERSOELTE (1,176) (1,185)
Operating cash flows before LELESEHKRERERE
movements in working capital 26,568 98,630
(Increase) decrease in film rights B RENEERERE
and television series production in (3%h0)
progress (33,216) 191,358
Decrease in inventories FERD - 3,863
Decrease in trade and other B 5 & H b FE W IR R
receivables 58,631 17,489
Increase (decrease) in trade and B RHAMFERN A
other payables #anCR ) 15,288 (74,440)
Decrease in contract liabilities EHaERD (5,046) (201,883)
Decrease in contract assets BHEERD = 23,647
Net cash generated from operations K& 15IR S %5E 62,225 58,664
Income tax paid ETFREH (2,862) (2,100)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING BE BB FHE
ACTIVITIES 59,363 56,564
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
rERERER

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

2023 2022
20235 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BETIT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Repayment of contingent consideration BEEMNIARE
payable - (7,560)
Purchase of wealth management products HBEEHEEEESR (8,850) -
Placement of pledged bank deposits EFBEMBIEITHER (53,477) (45,850)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits R EMRITER 77,674 -
Placement of restricted bank balances EFZREIRITE S (9,225) (128,431)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment EEBEW¥ - R &K EE - (1,990)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME  BER
plant and equipment AT A 274 645
Proceeds from disposal or settlement of HERENIZATERS AEZEDN
financial assets at fair value through TREEMSHIE
profit or loss 843 10,941
Net cash outflow on disposal of subsidiaries HENB AR 2R &R 58 (1,925) -
Withdrawal of restricted bank balances IREUK IR B ER1T 45 % 11,944 127,853
Interest received BUF & 997 636
Loan to a related party M — R B (420) -
Repayment from a related party KE— BT 2 BN 3,120 -
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) INVESTING REEBME(FTA) RS FE
ACTIVITIES 20,955 (43,756)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES & EE)
Loans from related companies RE BB ARNER 48,996 9,972
Repayment of loan from a related company {EER BB A FNER (3,696) -
Proceeds from bank and other borrowings 847 & Efh{& 2 AT 1S 20IE 73,451 67,848
Repayment of bank and other borrowings  E:&R1T R Hth (&5 (78,289) (59,064)
Repayment of bonds payable EEENES (14,500) (15,000)
Advance from the controlling shareholder & & 1A% J& 58 F BA X - 45,000
Issuance of perpetual bonds BITKEE 950 8,000
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEAR (89,978) (49,311)
Interest paid B & (12,165) (15,241)
Repayment on perpetual bonds BiEKERE (17,500) -
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES & E&hprHRIR 4 F5E (92,731) (7,796)
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND R4 RIBESEEBWORD)EM
CASH EQUIVALENTS HER (12,413) 5,012
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FYRERREEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 103,462 103,823
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE HMNEE R FEH B
CHANGES (5,941) (5,373)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATEND #XRI\B&RBELEEY
OF THE YEAR, represented by bank BIRTTESR AR
balances and cash 85,108 103,462
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
IN=NpEET ek

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

1A. GENERAL INFORMATION

1B.

The Company is a limited company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. The
Company’s registered office is located at Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman lIslands and its principal place of business is located
at Flat B, 14/F, Neich Tower, 128 Gloucester Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong. Its immediate and ultimate holding company is
Nice Rich Group Limited, a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands (the “BVI"). Its ultimate controlling shareholder
is Mr. Zhang, who is also the Chairman and an executive
director of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 40.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$"), which is also the Company's functional
currency.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had net current liabilities
of HK$114,400,000. The directors of the Company (the
“Directors”) are of the opinion that, after taking into account,
among other things, the financial resources available to the
Group including the future cash flows to be generated from
the TV series production and distribution, new loan facility
granted by a related company amounting to RMB60,000,000
(equivalent to HK$64,800,000) and new perpetual bond issued
by the Company to the controlling shareholder amounting to
HK$6,000,000 in September 2023. The Directors are satisfied
that the Group will have sufficient working capital to meet
its financial obligations and commitments as and when they
fall due within the next twelve months from the end of the
reporting period. Accordingly, the Directors are satisfied that it
is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements
of the Group on a going concern basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the current year for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to Reference to the Conceptual

BASETESHEEEE
BI(T & B0 45 & 81 )

7R 4R [ 58 i) A Y R AE R
BB E 2R

RAFE  ARECIRESSMHR
RERERBEGTMAE([FEES
BhAE )BT 5 BB S A
FUERT AR » R BERT AR ANEE 58 Hl A&
R

ERMBREER  BSERRL

HKFRS 3 Framework FIR(ETX)
Amendments to Property, Plant and Equipment EEOHENE 6% WE BRERRE

HKAS 16 - Proceeds before Intended Use (B3TK) - RERRAINMEIE
Amendments to Onerous Contracts BESHENEE  BEEAH

HKAS 37 — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (1B3T%) BRI
Amendments to Annual Improvements to BRI BREEL BRHBAEEN2018Z

HKFRSs HKFRSs 2018-2020 CHEN) 2020FMEERE

The application the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year had no material impact on the Group's financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

RAFERBEEMEHREEROERT
RE AN BANFERBEFENTBIR
RARKRBER AZSEA BRI
MEBEENTEEATE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MRE MR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO 2.
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

FERAKEITEBUB®REE
AT EBMBHREER D) @

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue

C 18 {8 =) R A RV HTRT I

but not yet effective LIERT BB R ELER

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

REE W EMITEEAIATEEMER R
EMEHEI MBI BB REE

effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to
HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 1
Amendments to
HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice
Statement 2
Amendments to
HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7
Amendments to
HKAS 8
Amendments to
HKAS 12

Amendments to
HKAS 12

Insurance Contracts'’

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Lease liability in a sale and
leaseback®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)®

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants®

Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Supplier Finance Arrangements®

Definition of Accounting Estimates’

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction’

International Tax Reform
— Pillar Two Model Rules?
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%

sre SRR M RE

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective (continued)

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 (except for HKAS 12 paragraphs 4A and 88A which are
immediately effective upon issue of the amendments).

€ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024.

- Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

The Directors anticipate that the application of the above new
and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“CO").

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS16 /eases, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS
36 Impairment of Assets.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value and
a valuation technique that unobservable inputs are to be used
to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the results
of the valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset

or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if WMEE RIBE R LBy & #E = {E
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one K%E’J*fl‘k;{lﬁﬁﬁmﬁjlﬂ%  REEH
or more of the three elements of control listed above. HEHEEEAIREHR -

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate
of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair
value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of
the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to
another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs).
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or group of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes
and not larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of
the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-generating
units, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
When the Group disposes of an operation within the cash-
generating unit (or a cash-generating unit within a group of
cash-generating units), the amount of goodwill disposed of is
measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation
(or the cash-generating unit) disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units)
retained.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of a
joint venture is described below.
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of a joint venture are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
joint venture used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, an investment in a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
joint venture. When the Group's share of losses of a joint
venture exceeds the Group's interest in that joint venture
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group's net investment in the joint venture),
the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the joint venture.

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee becomes
a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in a joint
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which
is included within the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Investment in a joint venture (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in a joint venture may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently increases.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

o the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is
assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments. In contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s
unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a

performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs
to the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the
total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depict the Group’'s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. ERSHEE@)
(Continued)

Leases HE

Definition of a lease HECTES

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application or arising from business combinations,
the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 Leases at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
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the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of ABEEELEORNBIEZESHESHEMKE
the non-lease components. The Group also applies practical Do AEENERAITHEE R AT
expedient not to separate non-lease components from lease MEMRKE »HBEEAKIT D TIAE
component, and instead account for the lease component o Mk - MEHEKED RERAREIE
and any associated non-lease components as a single lease FHEMAKI O ANE—FREHAKILD A

component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of office premises that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term
leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received; and

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXRSFEEXm

(Continued)

Leases (Continued) %H%(f@)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) AREBIEARABA @)
Lease liabilities (Continued) HEEBE %)

The lease payments include: HENHBE

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.

Variable lease payments that reflect changes in market rental
rates are initially measured using the market rental rates as
at the commencement date. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets, and
are recognised as expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review in which cases
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use assets. When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

On disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint
arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised
in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 &% 2023F6 A308 [FF[E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group
with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “other income”.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit scheme and
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries and annual leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from loss before tax because of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
interest in a joint venture, except where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
Income Taxes requirements to the leasing transaction as a
whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of
depreciation on right-of-use assets over the lease payments
for the principal portion of lease liabilities resulting in net
deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income
taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
/\/\m/\ﬁﬂ?ﬂ%i&%’zﬁuf

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
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the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Film rights and television series production
in progress

Film rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses (if any). The Group
amortises costs of film rights in the same ratio that current
period revenue (numerator) bears to estimated total projected
revenue (denominator). The Group begins amortisation of the
capitalised costs of film rights when a film is released and it
begins to recognise revenue from that film.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Film rights and television series production
in progress (Continued)

Television series production in progress is stated at cost
less any provision for impairment losses. Cost includes all
costs associated with the production of television series
including remuneration for the television series director,
casts and production crew, costumes, insurance, makeup
and hairdressing as well as rental of camera and lighting
equipment.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with finite useful lives are reported
at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that
are acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, intangible assets other than
goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect
of goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
/\/ \ l:l /ﬁﬂz%i&?%ﬁﬁ HE

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, intangible assets other than
goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect
of gOOdWI” above) (Continued)

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an asset individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs,
and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, intangible assets other than
goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect
of gOOdWI” above) (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash generating unit,
the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is
not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e B ISERR MR

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets of the Group are subsequently
measured at FVTPL.

() Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer
credit impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(Continued)

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other
comprehensive income or designated as at fair value
through other comprehensive income are measured at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is included in
the "other gains and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs assessment under expected credit loss
(“ECL") model on financial assets at amortised cost (including
trade and other receivables (excluding investment in film and
TV series producers at FVTPL), loan to a related party, rental
deposits, restricted bank balances, pledged bank deposits and
bank balances), which are subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month expected credit loss (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected
to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessments are done based
on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed individually
for debtors with significant balances and/or collectively using a
provision matrix with appropriate groupings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e B ISERR MR

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor's
ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MRE MR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(ii)

(iif)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

° the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider; or

° it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights. The Group uses a practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables using a provision
matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MRE MR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &% 2023F6 A308 [FF[E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade and
other receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXRSFEEXm

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Perpetual instruments, which include no contractual obligation
for the Group to deliver cash or other financial assets or the
Group has the sole discretion to defer payment of distribution
and redemption of principal amount indefinitely are classified
as equity instruments.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables
(excluding investment funds from investors at FVTPL), loans
from related companies, bonds payable, amount due to a joint
venture and bank and other borrowings) are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Financial liability at FVTPL

Financial liability is classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liability is contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies
or it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading
or contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recognition if:

° such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liability at FVTPL (Continued)

o the financial liability forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with the Group’'s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

o it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKFRS 9 permits the entire
combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.

For financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the
amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability
that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability
is recognised in other comprehensive income, unless the
recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit
risk in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge
an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. For financial liabilities
that contain embedded derivatives, the changes in fair value
of the embedded derivatives are excluded in determining
the amount to be presented in other comprehensive income.
Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability’s credit
risk that are recognised in other comprehensive income are
not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss; instead, they are
transferred to accumulated losses upon derecognition of the
financial liability.

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled
or have expired. When equity instruments are issued to a
creditor to extinguish all or part of a financial liability, the
equity instruments issued are recognised initially at fair
value at the date the financial liability (or part of that liability)
is extinguished, unless that fair value cannot be reliably
measured. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXRSFEEXm

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities (Continued)
When the contractual terms of a financial liability are modified,
the Group assesses whether the revised terms result in a
substantial modification from original terms taking into account
all relevant facts and circumstances including qualitative
factors. If qualitative assessment is not conclusive, the Group
considers that the terms are substantially different if the
discounted present value of the cash flows under the new
terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received, and
discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at
least 10 per cent different from the discounted present value
of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability.
Accordingly, such modification of terms is accounted for as an
extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised as
part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. The exchange
or modification is considered as non-substantial modification
when such difference is less than 10 per cent.

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that
do not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the
relevant financial liabilities will be calculated at the present
value of the modified contractual cash flows discounted at the
financial liabilities" original effective interest rate. Transaction
costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of
the modified financial liabilities and are amortised over the
remaining term. Any adjustment to the carrying amount of the
financial liability is recognised in profit or loss at the date of
modification.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the
date when derivative contracts are entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the Directors are required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets
within the next financial year.

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amounts of the cash-generating
units to which goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher
of the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal. The value
in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected,
or changes in facts and circumstances which results in
downward revision of future cash flows, a further impairment
loss may arise. As at 30 June 2023, the carrying amount
of goodwill is HK$245,725,000 (2022: HK$393,821,000).
Impairment loss amounting to HK$117,802,000 has been
recognised on goodwill for the year ended 30 June 2023 (2022:
HK$67,652,000). Details of the recoverable amount calculation
are disclosed in note 15.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

Trade receivables are assessed for ECL individually or on a
collective basis. The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimate. The information about the ECL and the Group's trade
receivables are disclosed in note 35b. The carrying amount
of trade receivable as at 30 June 2023 is HK$30,613,000
(2022: HK$87,965,000), net of an allowance for credit losses
of HK$1,109,000 (2022: HK$3,304,000). Details are set out in
note 19.

Impairment assessment of intangible assets

Determining whether intangible assets, the six-year agency
contract associated with an artiste, are impaired require an
estimation of the value in use of calculation. The value in use
calculation requires the Group to estimate the cash flows
projection expected to arise from the relevant cash-generating
unit to which the intangible assets belongs and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value. The
estimation of the budgeted sales and budgeted costs is based
on past performance of the relevant cash-generating unit and
management’s expectations for the market development as
well as the existing performance contracts entered or to be
entered by the artiste. Where the actual future cash flows are
less than expected, or changes in facts and circumstances
which results in downward revision of future cash flows, a
material impairment loss may arise. As at 30 June 2023, the
carrying amount of intangible assets is HK$48,840,000 (2022:
HK$71,584,000). No impairment loss has been recognised on
intangible assets for the year ended 30 June 2023 (2022: Nil).
Details of the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in
note 16.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

. =+ 2
ARE SRR MR
For the year ended 30 June 2023 &% 2023F6 A308 [FF[E

5. REVENUE

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts
with customers

5.

e
AFRAEF A QN

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BEET T
TV series production and ERBIRME

distribution income REETIA 24,241 507,848
Film exhibition income BRI A 71,604 54,684
Pan entertainment income a3 PN 70,584 141,449
Total st 166,429 703,981

Timing of revenue recognition TR U 25 R
At a point in time o B RS R 2 109,485 584,299
Over time — R 56,944 119,682
Total st 166,429 703,981

The contracts for sales of goods and provision of services to
external customers are short-term and the contract prices are
agreed with the customers.

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

a. TV series production and distribution
i Income from the distribution of variety shows
and TV series program is recognised when variety
shows and TV series program have been released

and distributed to TV broadcast networks.

ii. Income from scriptwriters and directors service on

TV series production is recognised over time as
performance obligation is satisfied.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

REVENUE (Continued)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (Continued)

Uy 22 )

ERFEHNNENET @

b. Film exhibition b. ZEHM
i Income from box office takings for film exhibition is . BYBBREEKRARMEH

recognised upon the sale of tickets and when the
film is released.

ii. Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when
the goods are delivered and titles have passed.

c. Pan entertainment
Income from pan entertainment services including
celebrity agency service and actor service. Income
from celebrity agency service is recognised at a point
of time when the services are delivered. Income from
actor service is recognised over time as performance
obligation is satisfied.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

All performance obligations for TV series production and
distribution, film exhibition and pan entertainment are for
periods of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not
disclosed.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the
Company, being the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM?"), for the purposes of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance is based on the following
operating and reportable segments identified under HKFRS 8
Operating Segments.

(i) TV series production and distribution;
(i) Film exhibition; and

(i) Pan entertainment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
/\/ \ IZI Eﬁﬂ’ﬁ $&%§|§1qu

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEER @
The accounting policies of the operating and reportable BRAEHo ST HRELAER
segments are the same as the Group's accounting policies EBHEESFﬁLEI’] SEBEMER o o EE
described in note 3. Segment profit (loss) represents the profit R (B )& » SBFrBRER A% FIskE &
earned or loss incurred by each segment without allocation H &5 48 ﬁﬁﬁﬁg,ﬁ%ljy%}gjﬁéﬂ% S
of head office and corporate expenses, certain finance costs, BEERTERST BETRERAN - BN
fair value change on contingent consideration payable, fair HAREZATEZE - CEREEE
value change on purchased call option, impairment losses NP EES  HERESEEARLE
recognised on goodwill and gain on disposal of subsidiaries. MEA R E o LTI E RSB R KR
This is the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of TEREELERRELHROTR -
resources allocation and performance assessment.
Segment revenue and results pal T S
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results IR AILEE R 2®Ro A E DRI ARE
by operating and reportable segments. Bz R EEDT
For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE2023F6H30BILFE
TV series
production and Film Pan
distribution exhibition entertainment Total
EREIRER
BT L0 IR EH)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BETR BRI BETR
Segment revenue HEWE
- External customers - BEP 24,241 71,604 70,584 166,429
Segment (loss) profit DE(EER)EM (38,296) (1,565) 7,865 (31,996)
Head office and corporate expenses BT PERY (29,183)
Fair value change on contingent ERARENATFEES)
consideration payable (8,538)
Unallocated finance costs AOEELE R A (11,018)
Fair value change on purchased call option B REEHIE N TEE ) (3.423)
Impairment losses recognised on goodwill &5 (B8R (117,802)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENBAR NS 14,180
Loss before tax WRHAIERE (187,780)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEER @
Segment revenue and results (Continued) 2 EBUR R 2 4B m)
For the year ended 30 June 2022 B ZE2022F6830HILEE
TV series
production and Film Pan
distribution exhibition  entertainment Total
BREZER
7 iU IR &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT BETT BT
Segment revenue Al
- External customers - EEP 507,848 54,684 141,449 703,981
Segment profit (loss) AEEF(EB) 16,390 (773) 28,660 44,277
Head office and corporate expenses BRRCERT (31,640)
Fair value change on contingent ERAARENLTEET
consideration payable 1,529
Unallocated finance costs APERERAK (11,877)
Fair value change on purchased call option  EEZREHEATELE (16,803)
Impairment losses recognised on goodwill ~ BEFEESEER (67,652)
Loss before tax WRiRIER (82,166)

As the Group's segment assets and liabilities are not regularly
provided to the CODM, the relevant analysis for both years is

not presented.

HRAEEN S BEERBEWIETEH
REFEBLERKE  HIEZIN
BEEHE@IT -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%

fre BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Other segment information

\

N
&
S
okt
5]
I
%

For the year ended 30 June 2023 B ZE2023F6830HILEE
TV series
production
and Film Pan Segment
distribution exhibition entertainment total  Unallocated Total
ERE
BERBT EZHM IR A KO H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETR BET T BRI BETR BETR
Amounts included inthe  tEAPEHE
measure of segment FrafEnesE:
profit or loss:
Amortisation of intangible ayaEmE
assets = = (17,876) (17,876) - (17,876)
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ EREEAENE
assets (1,106) (52,896) (811) (54,813) (491) (55,304)
Depreciation of property, plant #1¥ « BE REEHE
and equipment (189) (102) (425) (716) (18) (734)
Interest income from banks R E#R{T &M@
and loan 1o a related party BEZHFSMA 44 56 482 582 280 862
Finance costs BEKR (182) (7.260) (130) (7572) (11,018) (18,590)
Impairment losses reversed on & 5 [ E 4t E Y E0E
trade and other receivables  JHEEEEE 2,361 - - 2,361 - 2,361
Impairment losses recognised  BREIZER(E
on television series BEER
production (12,722) = - (12,722) = (12,722)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. HER @
Other segment information (Continued) Hih 7 ZER @)
For the year ended 30 June 2022 B ZE2022F6830HILEE
TV serigs
production
and Film Pan Segment
distribution exhibition entertainment total  Unallocated Total
ERE
BER BT B A0S IR DEEE RAR &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT BET T BET T BT BT
Amounts included inthe  tEAPEHE
measure of segment FrafEnesE:
profit or loss:
Amortisation of intangible ay R
assets - - (19,313) (19,313) - (19,313)
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ FREEERE
assets (654) (52,883) (876) (54,413) (2,258) (56,671)
Depreciation of property, plant 1% - BERRZENE
and equipment (250) (54) (248) (552) (22) (574)
Interest income from banks B #R{T R M@
and loan to a related party e GEY O 131 14 292 437 273 710
Finance costs REKA (34) (11,296) (158) (11,488) (11,877) (23,365)
Impairment losses on trade &5 [k E- A E YA
and other receivables REBE (998) - - (998) - (998)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fre BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information

An analysis of the Group's revenue from external customers by
geographical market based on where the TV series production
and distribution income, film exhibition income and pan
entertainment income is derived from are as below:

2 EE R @)
i & E &

REERBINDE P B W RIS E R
BIEME R FEITWA ~ BRI A K
IR GEW N PR AE 3 [& T 35 2 5 B D AT 4R
S 2

2023 2022

20235 20224

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Hong Kong B 71,604 54,684
Mainland, the People's Republic of China m#E A RAFE ([ E ) ks

(the “PRC") 94,825 649,297

166,429 703,981

The Group's non-current assets (excluded financial assets) by
geographical location of the assets are detailed below:

AEEZEEMGEHREDNIFRBE
E(TBREREE)FIOT

2023 2022
20234 20224

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BEET T

Hong Kong B 57,643 111,309
Mainland, the PRC RS A B, 301,947 473,924
359,590 585,233

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding year
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are as

BREEEFNER

HEFERSERMEAEEAWBIGE
10%MZE PR

follows:
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T ST IT
Customer A’ = E R 17,448 460,882

L Revenue from TV series production and distribution.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

N

P

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES AND OTHER 7.

Htsm KB R R E A

INCOME
2023 2022
20235 20224
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T ST IT
Other gains and losses Hihz= R EiE
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 33) & MEB A 7S (H5E33) 14,180 -
(Loss) gain on disposal of property, HEWE  WEMKRE
plant and equipment and right-of-use AREREEE
assets (518 e (95) 79
Donation = - (242)
Gain on modification of financial liabilities {£:] & B & EIzE 1,614 -
Net foreign exchange losses M H B85 5 (1,260) (945)
Provision for arbitration (note 35b) & B4 (M9 5E35b) (10,700) -
3,739 (1,108)
Other income Hilg A
Cinema operation right income (note ii) B P s A (B i) 27,397 45,731
Handling service income BRI RIS UA 1,746 1,674
Interest income from banks and RERITRE—RBBEEHTER
loan to a related party AR E U A 862 710
Government subsidy received (note i) BT e B (BT 3T 2,321 2,897
Coupon sales income from film producers B & EUEAH
EEHSWA 201 788
Cinema promotion income BRIERIA 9,487 3,239
Additional value added tax input deduction FEHNMEG(E T+ #E TE K] 898 3,051
Others Hb 5,797 8,955
48,709 66,945
Notes: BIsE -

Amounts mainly represent subsidies granted by certain local

governments for encouraging domestic business development

and are recognised upon receipt. There are no unfulfilled

conditions or contingencies relating to these subsidies.

Cinema operation right income represents income arising from a

management agreement between Cinema City (Langham Place)
Limited (“CCLP"), a subsidiary of the Company, and Mandarin
Motion Pictures Limited, a connected party controlled by a
director of CCLP, in relation to operation of the cinema of CCLP
for the period from the date of 26 May 2021 to 25 May 2024.

FHcBEIZRETHIBNRSE
A FRBRME T - R
MR - BREMEIL BT RAREK
BRI REBEERE -

BEREEERAEERRRNB AR
BEER(BAxH)BRAA([CCLP])
RE—HECCLPESEH 2 BES R
FETRBBRRAAFN2021F5H26
HZE2024%5A25 B HREKEECCLPZ
BYRMiI L2 EBHEMELE ZIR
)\ °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fre BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. BERA
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ST IT
Interest expenses on: AT EEZFEMS
Loans from related companies KEBEBARINER 3,220 1,949
Lease liabilities HEGE 7,613 11,523
Bank and other borrowings R1T R E AL fE R 7,241 8,792
Bonds payable e E & 516 1,101
18,590 23,365
9. INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE 9. FIERH(ER)BEX
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ST T
Current tax: BVEAFRIE -
PRC Enterprise Income Tax ("EIT") RIS
([EZPREHL) 2,193 11,802
Deferred tax (note 31) EIEREIE (FI5E31) (4,469) (4,828)
(2,276) 6,974

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Cayman Islands, the
Company is not subject to any income tax in Cayman Islands
for both years.

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the "Bill") which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and
was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2,000,000 of profits of
the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of
group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE (continued)

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
"EIT Law") and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
the statutory tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both
years.

As stipulated in Cai Shui [2021] No. [27], enterprises newly
established in Khorgas special economic areas and engaged
in the encouraged industries as defined under the € ¥ 2
BEMEENFBEREECEMSHERB ) (Catalogue of
Key Encouraged Developing Industries for Enterprise Income
Tax Benefits in Difficult Areas of Xinjiang*) could enjoy EIT
exemption for five years starting from its first operation
income-generating year during the period from 2021 to 2030.
According to (¥ FTISTHERFIEHZERK) (Enterprise Income
Tax Benefits Record*), one subsidiary of the Group obtained
the approval from the relevant PRC tax bureau on 23 June
2017 for entitlement of EIT exemption from 1 January 2017
to 31 December 2021. In July 2020, another subsidiary of
the Group obtained the approval from the relevant PRC tax
bureau for entitlement of EIT exemption from 1 January 2020
to 31 December 2024. As stipulated in Xin Zheng Fa [2012]
No. [48] KB MNRIEM - ERRMKERBZERERNERE
8) (Implementation Advice on Accelerating the Construction
of Kashgar and Khorgas Special Economic Areas*), both
subsidiaries mentioned above could enjoy exemption of EIT
charged by local tax bureau, which takes account for 40%
of the total EIT, for five years starting from the end of the
previous exemption.

* For identification purpose only

9.

s (KR ) B X wm)

RBEPECEMESVA(TREREH
EDNREEMBTOEEMRGES - B
BRANMEFEAEERER25% -

BIFL[2021][27]15 4 7F - REBR RN
TRASERBE BRI PLA E(GB R i
EENEBEEEECENMSHRESRE
BYMMTEENSHETENDGE TR
2021 F E2030F A EELS
BWANFERERAAFHRERCDE
RS - REBE(EEMBHRERISEE
RBR) > NEE KB ABR20174
6A23HESHEBTEREBILE &
20171 1B E2021%12A31HILH
MEBLEMSHRAER - 12020
F7R - AEERS R BAREIER
FEBEBIE - 820206118
2024F 12 A31HILBEZHELEME
TREA R B R - A0 FT B3 [2012]1[4815%
CRARIIREM - ERMRICERERE
BEMNERER)METE BRI —A#
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

9. INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE (continued) 9.

The income tax (credit) expense for the year can be reconciled
to loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or

MENTS

FRrE® (ER) X m

FRMEHER)FNEES

B R E

it 2 TE W e 2% AT O B 5% S 1R 6 BR 0

loss and other comprehensive income as follows: T
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT ST IT
Loss before tax FRELRTE A (187,780) (82,166)
Tax at the income tax rate of 16.5% LAFTE R R 16.56% T E 8
(2022: 16.5%) 18 (20224 : 16.5%) (30,984) (13,557)
Tax effect of income not taxable for BARB WA TG 2
tax purpose (300) (79)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for NAJ 0% 5 3 T 75 o 28
tax purpose 20,480 17,190
Tax effect of fair value change on RS AREBNATFTEZEEN
contingent consideration payable M E 2,135 (382)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised KRR BIBEEBOTIS 2 22,045 23,492
Tax effect of deductible temporary RERH IR ERZ8EN
differences not recognised g2 72 257
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses A SRR R T IR E B &
and deductible temporary difference SR =N RIS 2
previously not recognised (5,773) (4,650)
Effect of tax exemption granted to BYHBENEARZ
PRC subsidiaries BSEENTE (4,085) (12,621)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REfahEER L ERN
operating in other jurisdictions WEB AN T RRENTE (5,866) (2,776)
Income tax (credit) expense for the year FRTEH (KR )FH (2,276) 6,974
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

N

P

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

10. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 10. FREE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ST IT
Loss for the year has been arrived at FREE &R
after charging: THIEIRER
Directors’ emoluments (note 12) FEFMN(FE12) 3,941 4,433
Other staff costs Hi 8 T 25,711 30,189
Retirement benefit scheme contributions, iE ki@ FlEH &2 -
excluding those of the Directors TEEEEHK 3,065 2,825
Total staff costs B TR 32,717 37,447
Auditors’ remuneration Z SN & 2,450 2,400
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - WEMREITE
equipment 734 574
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETSE 55,304 56,671
Amortisation of intangible assets R EEEE 17,876 19,313
Short-term lease expenses for premises  ¥ZEEHAER X 2,626 3,006
Impairment losses recognised on BB SUEREBEER
television series production 12,722 -
Cost of television series production BRBIRER A 10,631 438,686
Cost of scriptwriters for BRBIRERBI AR
television series production 21,158 26,442
Cost of services provided for BRI RAER) RS AN AN
television series production 1,523 16,187
Cost of services provided for BRI B PR S A AN
film exhibition 32,223 26,874
Cost of artiste and internet celebrity EPNSE AR CERES 59N
agency business 41,981 69,413
Cost of inventories sold HEFERA = 234

BFIRIREBR AR 2022/23 F#
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MRE MR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

11. DIVIDEND 11. K&
No dividend was paid or proposed for the year ended 30 June AKRABIREE2023F6A30H IEFEW
2023, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the RIEMSEZERMERRE - EE®RE
reporting period (2022: Nil). BRSR LA PRI R i 3 IR A T AR B (2022
F |
12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 12. EEREEME
EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ emoluments EEME
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the RIFBEA LR B & A RMEBI B 55 4
applicable Listing Rules and CO, is as follows: NESHMESLT -
Retirement
Salaries benefit
Directors’ and other scheme
fees allowances contributions Total
ek BIKER
EEHe Hf2gk HE-BE a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETR BERTT BETT BERTR

For the year ended 30 June 2023  #Z2023%6A308 L&

Executive Directors (note a) YTES (M)

Mr. Zhang REE = = - -
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick FEREE - = = =
Ms. Zhao Wenzhu WXLt - 3,439 70 3,509
Independent Non-executive BYFHTES

Directors (note b) (MaEb)

Mr. Wang Bo TREE 144 = = 144
Mr. Xiang Feng Bl 144 = = 144
Mr. Chang Eric Jackson RUELAE 144 = = 144

432 3,439 70 3,941
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 12. EEREEMES @
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Directors’ emoluments (Continued) EEME @)
Retirement
Salaries benefit
Directors’ and other scheme
fees allowances  contributions Total
ek RIREF
2 HiEa HEIS: BEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BT BT BT

For the year ended 30 June 2022  #Z202256H30H L EE

Executive Directors (note a) BTEE(Ma)

Mr. Zhang RIELAE - - - _

Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick FENEE - - - -

Ms. Zhao Wenzhu WXt - 3,926 75 4,007

Independent Non-executive BIUFHITES

Directors (note b) (HizEDb)

Mr. Wang Bo TREE 144 - - 144

Mr. Xiang Feng [ 5 4 144 - - 144

Mr. Chang Eric Jackson RUERE 144 - - 144
432 3,926 75 4,433

Notes: P&k -

(a)  The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly (a) LEXFRHMITESMESETEZRAESM
for their services in connection with the management of the BERARAARANEENEFEER
affairs of the Company and the Group. REHIRTS o

(b)  The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown (b) EXFARBYIIFATEETMESEER
above were mainly for their services as directors of the EX M EEEERRRESRAREN
Company. RR7S ©

The Group has no appointment of chief executive during both AREBYRMEFELHERTITHRER -

years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fre BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 12. EEREEME @
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
Employees BE
Of the five highest paid individuals of the Group, the number of AKEBREZESHATED EENE
directors and employees was as follows: B AZIT -
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Directors = 1 1
Employees =3=1 4 4
5 5

The remuneration of the directors is set out above. The

EEMER EXXED - BT ALTHBE

emoluments of the remaining individuals were as follows: LU
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Salaries and other allowances e M H fhEEL 4,421 5,902
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 3R (K& F|EH &I 2% 395 389
4,816 6,291
The emoluments were within the following band: EBAWESNF 5 &EE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 751,000,001 2
75#1,500,0007T 4 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 75%1,500,001 T2
75 #2,000,0007T - 3

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to any of the directors or the five highest paid individuals
(including directors and employees) as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
No directors waived any emoluments for both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

13. LOSS PER SHARE 13. BREE

The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to
owners of the Company is based on the following data:

ARREBANRIEEREREBERIRE

ATNBURRTE -

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Loss =
Loss for the year attributable to owners of 5tEBRERNEIBARR A
the Company for the purpose of basic HE AEETFAEE
loss per share (186,920) (92,166)
2023 2022
20234 20224

Number of shares v gE|
Number of ordinary shares for the purpose TE FREREIEH
of basic loss per share T AR AR

2,595,613,733 2,595,613,733

No diluted loss per share for both years were presented as
the Company has no potential ordinary shares issued for both
years.

&2 MEFENSRETER - It
TR AR BRI EN W B ERITEE

EEAL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MRE MR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 14. FHEEE
Leased
Cinema buildings Equipment Total
E¥N CHERF Bt ] @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BRI BT BB
COST RA&
At 1 July 2021 #2021%7A818 279,604 17,666 799 298,069
Additions NE - 4,279 - 4,279
Termination of lease BIFTRE - (13,430) - (13,430)
Exchange adjustments fE X % - (432) - (432)
At 30 June 2022 202246 A30H 279,604 8,083 799 288,486
Additions NE - 4,693 - 4,693
Termination of lease BIEHRE - (2,942) - (2,942)
Exchange adjustments B AR - (701) = (701)
At 30 June 2023 #2023F6A30H 279,604 9,133 799 289,536
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION  Z:ERFEE

AND IMPAIRMENT

At 1 July 2021 #2021%7A818 116,508 10,245 799 127,552
Provided for the year FREE 52,896 3,775 - 56,671
Termination of lease RIFTRE - (12,871) - (12,871)
Exchange adjustments fE 5 % - (254) - (254)
At 30 June 2022 202296 A30H 169,404 895 799 171,098
Provided for the year FREE 52,896 2,408 = 55,304
Termination of lease KItRE - (512) - (512)
Exchange adjustments fE 5 A% - (235) = (235)
At 30 June 2023 #2023F6A30H 222,300 2,556 799 225,655
CARRYING AMOUNTS BREE
At 30 June 2023 #2023F6A30H 57,304 6,577 - 63,881
At 30 June 2022 7202256 A30H 110,200 7,188 - 117,388
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%

sre SRR M RE

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

The Group leases cinema, buildings and equipment for its
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed terms
of two to fifteen years. Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms
and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period of which the
contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for certain
of its office premises in the PRC. As at 30 June 2023, the
portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-
term leases to which the short-term lease expenses disclosed
in note 10.

No impairment loss has been recognised on right-of-use assets
during the year ended 30 June 2023 (2022: Nil).

Variable lease payments

Leases of cinema are either with only fixed lease payments
or contain variable lease payment that are based on 12% to
38% of certain revenue in cinema and minimum annual lease
payment that are fixed over the lease term. The payment
terms are common in Hong Kong where the cinema operations
are carried out. The amounts of fixed and variable lease
payments paid/payable to relevant lessor for the year are as
follows:

14. FHEEE @)

wE - HEAWREEHR-_E+h
FRIV - MEGFIZERN EEERL B
BRENRGERR R - RETHEB R
BRERNIECIE SIS LRSS ST VNS
BRERA A ERLET A KR RHIH
TTEHARR o

AEBTEHHFPEETHAEZMEL L
RHIFAE - 72023468308 - REIF
EHAEMKMEI0REEHRHAERYHN
HHEEHAEM -

HZE2023F6A30H LFE - WERFE
B ERRBERE(20224F : £) o

FEEE R

B EEEREHAENKKBEZ
FBHRENR  MENEREXRE T
@m12%E38%MTE * MEEFEMRE
MNRAIEHRBET - ZEEERRREY
BB EEBSNAYERE - NFE
B BN TREBREANE T REE
AEMNREBOT -

For the year ended 30 June 2023 BE2023F6H30H LFE
Number of Fixed Variable Total
cinema payments payments payments
-7 BEMN FEAX e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETT BT
Cinema with variable lease payments M & FBHHREN RN ES R 80,464 479 80,943
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fre BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

Variable lease payments (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2022

Number of
cinema

FE
B

14. FREEE @

(726!

FENE S A R )

HZE2022F6 A30B L FE
Fixed Variable Total
payments payments payments
ERNES FEIR RREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT BRI

Cinema with variable lease payments [fi & 28R EN RN EL

72,840 93 72,933

The overall financial effect of using variable payment terms is
that higher rental costs are incurred by the cinema with higher
sales. Variable lease payments are expected to continue to
represent a similar proportion of revenue in cinema in future
years.

Restrictions or covenants on leases

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other
than the security interests in the leased assets that are held
by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes. Details of lease maturity analysis of lease
liabilities are set out in note 28.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

15. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT

15. BE KRER G

ASSESSMENT
Goodwill
mE
HK$'000
BT IT
cosT R
At 1 July 2021 20217 81H 473,363
Exchange adjustments PE 57, 38 5 (11,890)
At 30 June 2022 7202296 530H 461,473
Exchange adjustments b H SR (35,499)
At 30 June 2023 72023%F6530H 425,974
IMPAIRMENT A
At 1 July 2021 R2021F781H =
Impairment loss recognised in the year FABEBERER 67,652
At 30 June 2022 7202296 530H 67,652
Impairment loss recognised in the year FAREEERER 117,802
Exchange adjustments b H AR (5,205)
At 30 June 2023 72023%F6530H 180,249
CARRYING AMOUNTS RRHEE
At 30 June 2023 72023%F6530H 245,725
At 30 June 2022 7202296 530H 393,821
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fre BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

15. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT
ASSESSMENT (Continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has been
allocated to the following cash generating units. The carrying
amount before impairment loss of goodwill allocated to these
cash generating units are as follows:

15. & & BE G @

SORERAHAME  BECEIEZENAT
ReELEN  RFHSELEVED
BB RERBAMEREEDT

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BET T BEET T
Khorgas Group (note a) ERRATE®E(MiEa) 386,805 419,007
BB ( H8) b EEAR AR ("Wenlan”) BB HE) XEEEER AR
(note b) (IER D) (FiF5ED) 39,169 42,466
425,974 461,473
Notes: BIsE -
(a)  During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group acquired the (a) EZ=2019F6A30BILFE @ A&E

entire equity interest in BRRMNEEULEEER A B)(Khorgas
Houhai Culture Media Company Limited “Khorgas Houhai”) and
its subsidiary, It REEEEHEAR A A (Beijing Juhai Culture
Media Company Limited) (collectively known as the “Khorgas
Group”) and goodwill of HK$411,876,000 was resulted from
the acquisition within TV series production and distribution
segment.

The recoverable amount of Khorgas Group has been determined
based on a value in use calculation.

The calculation of the recoverable amount of Khorgas Group
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a 5-year period and pre-tax discount
rate of 25.6% (2022: 25.0%) per annum as at 30 June 2023.
Cash flows beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated using a
steady expected inflation rate of 2.0% (2022: 2.0%) per annum.
Other key assumptions for the value in use calculation relate
to the estimation of cash inflows and outflows which include
budgeted sales and budgeted costs. Such estimation is based
on Khorgas Group's past performance and management'’s
expectations for the market development.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

15. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT
ASSESSMENT (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

The revenue and operating profit of Khorgas Group for the
current year did not meet those budgeted primarily due to the
impact of COVID-19 pandemic which had resulted in unexpected
interruptions in TV productions, so the management of the
Group assessed the recoverable amount of Khorgas Group to
which goodwill is allocated. As at 30 June 2023, the estimated
recoverable amount of Khorgas Group was below its carrying
amount. Accordingly the Group recognised impairment loss on
goodwill amounting to HK$100,701,000 (2022: HK$43,745,000)
during the year ended 30 June 2023.

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group acquired 60%
of equity interest in Wenlan and goodwill of HK$38,633,000 was
resulted from the acquisition within pan entertainment segment.

The recoverable amount of Wenlan has been determined based
on a value in use calculation.

The calculation of the recoverable amount of Wenlan uses
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a 5-year period and pre-tax discount rate
of 30.01% (2022: 24.94%) per annum as at 30 June 2023. Cash
flows beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated using a steady
expected inflation rate of 2.0% (2022: 2.0%) per annum. Other
key assumptions for the value in use calculation relate to the
estimation of cash inflows and outflows which include budgeted
sales and budgeted costs. Such estimation is based on Wenlan's
past performance and management’s expectations for the
market development.

The revenue and operating profit of Wenlan for the current
year did not meet those budgeted primarily due to the impact
of COVID-19 pandemic which had resulted in unexpected
interruptions in artiste management sector, so the management
of the Group assessed the recoverable amount of Wenlan to
which goodwill is allocated. As at 30 June 2023, the estimated
recoverable amount of Wenlan was below its carrying amount.
Accordingly the Group recognised impairment loss on goodwill
amounting to HK$17,101,000 (2022: HK$23,907,000) during the
year ended 30 June 2023.

15. BE R BEFE @

B AT

(b)

(&)

AEEERRMEENRAREZE R
%'J%%Ei%,ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%”ﬁﬂéﬁﬁ CEFER
RITEEENTEEHEREIEZE
KHZ@I\EFFE ' Iﬁtﬁ‘i@@éi@‘
A ESEEECERRETEE 2
Ik Bl & %8 - R2023F6HA30H - ER
RETEE 2 A5 E S BER R
HfE - AL - #E2023F6F308 1
FE - AEERADEREEEAH

75 #100,701,0007T (2022 4F : 7 #&
43,745,0007T) °

HZE2020F6 A30B ItFE A&
B Wi ERe0% B AR #E - kg

FERZRESHTELRELST
38,633,0007T °

ER R K E e BRI EREETE
EBE -

M2023F6 A30H @ ERM AT ME S
EMETEEAEREEERFTILER
ERFHVHEELIRARATRR
KEFH30.01% (20224 : 24.94% )5t
HEMBReREN - BRAFHNRS
RENERARBCEYRBERERERER
2.0% (20224 : 2.0% ) #HE - HibfF
AEBETENTIERAEAEEEH
EREERAZBRETARR L&
B o ZBHFREBEERNBAERR
LEBEBEHMBHRZEHEDL -

NEEZEBOUWARLEEF REZ
Iﬁﬁ%iﬁ et - TZEARHFBE
ERREEHRAETBITEZIER
ZHONOTE AR AEEERETE
BEoiimEzERzIlE S5 -
M2023%F6 A30H @ BB Z hstAT Uk
EESEENEERAEBE - At - B
20236 A30HILFE © AEEER
B R EE B AEE17,101,0007T
(20224 : ##23,907,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

16. BILEE

Agency
contract
REEH
HK$'000
BETIT
cOST R
At 1 July 2021 R2021%F7 818 113,271
Exchange adjustments b H SR 330
At 30 June 2022 R202296 530H 113,601
Exchange adjustments PE 5 A (8,738)
At 30 June 2023 R2023%F6 530H 104,863
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND R BHRRE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 July 2021 202178 1H 21,946
Provided for the year FNEAE 19,313
Exchange adjustments (RIS 758
At 30 June 2022 7202296 530H 42,017
Provided for the year FNEAE 17,876
Exchange adjustments (RIS (3,870)
At 30 June 2023 72023%F6 530H 56,023
CARRYING AMOUNTS FREE
At 30 June 2023 72023%F6 530H 48,840
At 30 June 2022 7202296 530H 71,584

Agency contract

The agency contract is a six-year agency contract associated
with Ms. Yang Chaoyue, a famous artiste in the PRC, which
is held by Wenlan, a non-wholly owned subsidiary acquired by
the Group on 12 March 2020. It is identified as an intangible
asset at the date of acquisition of Wenlan and amortised
over 6 years. The intangible assets arising from acquisition of
Wenlan together with the related goodwill are included in the
respective cash generating unit for the purpose of impairment

assessment as detailed in note 15.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

17. RENTAL DEPOSITS

17. HE#ZE

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BETIT

Rental deposits HeExme 17,450 16,274
17,450 16,274

Note:

CCLP had entered into a lease agreement on 27 December 2013 to
rent a cinema situated in Langham Place (the “Lease Premises”),
a prime location in Hong Kong, and to take the cinema operation
for a term of ten years commencing on 23 July 2014 and expiring
on 22 July 2024 (the "Lease”). Based on the terms of the Lease,
the Company is obliged to pay a deposit in a sum equivalent to the
aggregate of three months’ base rent for the tenth year, three months’
management charges for the first year, three months’ promotional levy
for the first year and one quarter's government rates in respect of the
Lease Premises. The operation of cinema and related operations in
the cinema could provide a platform for the development of the film
exhibition business of the Group.

X

M20134%12A278 » CCLPEI HE W% -
BENRBESECHBMZNER((HE
M) REFEEE - 5201457 R23H
HE2024F7A22R 1EABR+F(THE]) -
RBEAEHKK  ARRERAEMES ME
¢ SEAERESNETFEN=[EAELHE
& FB-FHN-EATER F-—FH=
RAHEBREEAR—AZFERNRTEM2HM -
FIREIE R B EE AT A AARER
EYRMREBNERIEHRTA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
/\/ \ l:l /\ﬁﬂz%i&?%MT HE

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

18. FILM RIGHTS AND TELEVISION SERIES 18. EXMERBIEFRERE
PRODUCTION IN PROGRESS
Television
series
production
Film rights in progress
EXNRE BEPERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BEET T
coSsT A
At 1 July 2021 MR2021F7 818 776,062 558,655
Additions NE - 249,918
Transfer upon completion and sold TER I B 18 s - (438,686)
Disposal HeE - (3,556)
Exchange adjustments PEE 5, 3 28 - 966
At 30 June 2022 7202296 A30H 776,062 367,297
Additions NE - 43,847
Transfer upon completion and sold RFER N & H 18 B - (10,631)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEH BN T (776,062) =
Exchange adjustments [E & % - (26,310)
At 30 June 2023 R2023F6 A30H - 374,203
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND E:H#ss RmE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 July 2021 and 30 June 2022 MR2021F7A1B K
202296 A30H 776,062 39,875
Additions NE - 12,722
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR (776,062) -
Exchange adjustments M 5, 8 B - (454)
At 30 June 2023 72023464308 - 52,143
CARRYING AMOUNTS BREE
At 30 June 2023 7202396 A30H - 322,060
At 30 June 2022 7202246 A30H - 327,422

During the year ended 30 June 2023, an impairment loss of
HK$12,722,000 (2022: nil) was recognised on television series
production in progress. Due to the production plan for certain
television production in progress was postponed and the
amount may not be fully recovered, the Directors are of opinion
that the carrying amount of HK$12,722,000 (30 June 2022: nil)
for certain television production was fully impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19. EZ R EMEWRIE
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ST IT
Trade receivables B 5 A 31,722 91,269
Less: Allowance for B TEHMEE RS
expected credit losses (1,109) (3,304)
30,613 87,965
Other receivables, deposits and HmEWEIE - e &k
prepayments T RIE 14,603 6,308
Other receivable from TV series BB E A U GROR 22,162 24,177
Less: Allowance for B TRHAEEEERE
expected credit losses (482) (648)
36,283 29,837
Investment in film and BAFEFTABRZEY
TV series producers at FVTPL (note i) BERBIRIEANRE (BFFEI) 10,613 11,909
Prepayment for artiste management EYNC LRSS e
agency and scriptwriters AR HIE 1,080 16,380
Other deposits and prepayments for BYREBNEMITE &
cinema operation TET IR 288 397
Other tax recoverable I R eI 5,838 5,664
84,715 152,152

Note i: The amounts represented the Group's entitlement to return

on certain film and TV series producers invested by the Group

which are variable based on contracts.

M ZeBEASEESHRENE

TEZRERBEEANEHRIOE
Mo REAKD  BRELERTH -

BFIRIREBR AR 2022/23 F#
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MRE MR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 19. EZ R HMERFIE@m

The aging analysis of the Group’'s trade receivables, net of
allowance for credit losses, based on the invoice date, at the
end of the reporting period is as follows:

RMER - AEEE S EWEIE (K
MR EEEERE) REZHHNRE
DT

N

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT ST IT

Trade receivables: B Z KGR
0 — 30 days 0%30H 8,170 16,289
31 - 60 days 31£60H 354 -
61 - 90 days 61290H 198 176
91 - 180 days 91%2180H 70 48,865
181 — 365 days 1812365H 2,267 22,489
Over one year il —F 19,554 146
30,613 87,965

Generally, with the exception of PRC TV series production
customers who are generally granted credit period ranging
from 30 to 90 days, no credit period is granted to the
Group's customers. Distribution fee from distributors in PRC
Mainland are normally settled upon delivery of negatives to
the customers. On a case-by-case basis, one to two months
of credit period may be granted to its customers with good
repayment history.

As at 30 June 2023, included in the Group's trade receivables
balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
HK$21,891,000 (2022: HK$71,500,000) which are past
due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances,
HK$21,821,000 (2022: HK$22,635,000) has been past due 90
days or more and is not considered as in default by considering
the background of the debtors and historical payment
arrangement. The Group does not hold any collateral over
these balances.

Details of expected credit losses assessment of trade and
other receivables are set out in note 35b.
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70 (20224 : B #71,500,0007T ) & &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

21.

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

20. BENFEFARGZEREE

2023 2022
20235 20224
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Financial assets at FVTPL BEAFEFABE SREE
— wealth management products —-EERER 10,850 2,410

Wealth management products are purchased from a bank with
expected rate of return ranging from 2.5% to 4.2% (2022:
2.8 % to 3.0%) per annum and with maturity date within one
year and classified as financial assets at FVTPL. The principal
and returns of these wealth management products are not
guaranteed.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

At 30 June 2023, bank deposit of HK$671,000 (2022:
HK$668,000) has been pledged to a bank to secure the 4Dx's
equipment rental fees payable to a supplier of 4Dx equipment
for the Group’s operation in the Lease Premises. The pledged
bank deposits carry interests at a fixed rate of 0.875% (2022:
0.1%) per annum.

In addition, at 30 June 2023, the Group has pledged bank
deposits of HK$41,600,000 (2022: HK$66,850,000) which carry
at fixed interest rate ranging from 0.3% to 0.54% (2022: 0.3%
to 0.54%) per annum to secure the bank borrowings granted
to the Group. The pledged bank deposits will be released upon
the repayment of the relevant borrowings.

The Group's pledged bank deposits that are not denominated
in the functional currencies of the relevant group entities are as
follows:

21.

mM—HRTEEMEEREER - BH
LR ABEF25%54.2% (20224 :
28%%E3.0%) BEHBEA—FKN I
DEBEAFEFABRZEMEE -
ZEVEEEERNAS RERTIER

e

fo

o

SR FRITIER

M2023F6 308 @ BITHEREE
671,0007T (20224 : B%668,0007T)
EEBTFRITUERRAEEREEY
LB M FEN T ADXER L FE T MY 4ADx
REREE EEHRTEREECSE
FZ+0.875% (20224 : 0.1%)5H 8 °

AN - 202346 A30H - AEBME
IR 1777 B #41,600,0007T (2022
F 766,850,000 7T ) B F E
E0.3% £0.54% (2022%F : 0.3% =
0.54%)FTE + MERKE FAEBE /IR
BN - BRIPRITEIENEEHE
BB -

REBAEBREERERIGEEEUINE
BEHEMDBRRITERAT :

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BEETIT

United States dollars (“USD") Ex(ZErx]) 671 668

Details of impairment are set out in note 35b.

BB BB ESSED °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MRE MR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

22. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 22. RITHBRRRE
Bank balances of the Group carry interest at market rates RNEBRITEGTIIRUN TS Xt
which are as follows: B
2023 2022
20234 20224

0.01% to 1.70% 0.01% to 2.00%

Interest rate per annum FR= 0.01%%£1.70% 0.01%%=2.00%
The Group's bank balances and cash that are not denominated AEBHEEE TR
in the functional currencies of the relevant group entities are as MELEMRITESRIRSMT
follows:

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT BETT

Renminbi (“RMB") ARBE(TARK]D - 11

usb e 26 148

Euro (“EUR") BTt l) - 9

HK$ ki 356 1,686

202 TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2022/23



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

23. EZ R EMENRIE

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT ST IT

Trade payables =) ABE e 43,587 64,146

Other payables and accruals HAERRIE R ERTE A 85,039 88,731

Advances from former shareholder R B U B BT B A BRI (E

of subsidiaries acquired (note i) % 3R &9 2 51 (B 3D 34,430 37,300

Provision for arbitration (note 35b) & 48 (M9 5E35b) 10,700 -
Accrued services fee for TV series BAERE RIERERT

production (note ii) AR5 & R (BT aEi) 9,835 11,708
Investment funds from investors at BATEET ABRKE

FVTPL (note iii) REEIRERE S (M) 6,480 -

190,071 201,885

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 60 to 90
days. The aging analysis of trade payables presented is based
on the invoice date. The following is the aging analysis of the

REEmNFHEEHA60E90A -
BHRMNRENREDM DERERER

27 c AEERNBEPRNEZEN

Group's trade payables at the end of the reporting period: RIEBER OO -
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT BT
Within 60 days 60A A 16,343 28,874
Within 61 to 90 days 61ZE90H A 1,938 1,625
Within 91 to 365 days 91E365H K 1,881 27,070
Over 365 days HiAm365H 23,425 6,577
43,587 64,146

Notes: BfsE -

(i) Advances from former shareholder of subsidiaries acquired are
non-trade, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(i) The amounts represented the accrued services fee payable to
scriptwriters of TV series production.

(i) Investment funds from investors represent investors’
entitlement to the return on film invested by the Group and the
return are variable based on contracts with other investors.

(i)

(i)

(iii)

R B B U BB BT B8 X B AT AR AR HO 28 5K
BHEESUHE  BIER RENEAR

N
ZREE -

ERRRERNBHEEREISERE
MRS ER

RERBENREESHRAEER
REBBENEZHOROEN - 1R
BEAMEEERTNALD  BHEE

BFIRIREBR AR 2022/23 F#
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

24. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

24. SHEE

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BEETIT

Advances from customers ZE8® 138,364 155,116

At 1 July 2021, contract liabilities of the Group amounted to
HK$356,999,000.

The amount of HK$2,528,000 as at 30 June 2022 had been
recognised as the Group's revenue during the year ended 30
June 2023.

Deposits are received by the Group as the instalments of
the PRC TV series production in progress and advances
of distribution income received from distributors prior to
release and delivery of TV series program. Payment terms are
negotiated on a case-by-case basis. When the Group receives
certain percentage of deposits as an advance payment upon
signing the contract, this will give rise to contract liabilities at
the start of a contract, until the revenue is recognised upon the
relevant performance obligation is fulfilled.

25. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

R2021F 7818 AEENALHEE
B 356,999,000 °

202256 A30H - % 2,528,0007T
BB R ERNEEH E2023F6 A
30H IFFEHUES -

AEBWEIZ S RRUET T EERE
1 Hi B9 20 B A5 R0 B 32 Be AR e X A
ERBI AW EITENBEITIRATEYRK
TH o N RHIRIZ AR B EITRER » B
AEBERFRERALWEE T B DL
BEERBENE  ERENMEREL
BHEE BEEMRBREOETTRILE
ARSI -

25. SRITREABER

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ST IT
Bank borrowings: WITHER
Fixed-rate, secured and L BERREER
guaranteed (note i) (P 5ED 32,411 29,238
Fixed-rate, unsecured and EE -~ EBEEREER
guaranteed (note ii) (PR EEI) 19,440 15,210
Variable-rate, secured and ZE - EEREREER
guaranteed (note iii) (P =i 16,200 33,930
Variable-rate, unsecured and guaranteed %8 - MK K B ER 5,400 5,850
73,451 84,228
Other borrowings (note iv) HAwE s (M sEiv) 24,855 24,873
98,306 109,101
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
/\/\E/\ﬁﬂvﬂ%i&%ﬁ,ﬁ;

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

25. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued) 25. RITREMER @
The Group's bank and other borrowings are repayable as AEEIPITREAETKBR A T EFE
follows: B
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BEET T
Carrying amount repayable (based on fEEERAEE
scheduled repayment terms): (ERBEEER
Within one year or on demand —iﬂﬂ&@i%ﬁi%ﬁ?fg 98,306 109,101
Less: Amounts due shown under current  J§ : RE8&E&E
liabilities: THIRE AR IR
On demand or due within one year BB Skel—F AN E|H (98,306) (109,101)
Amounts due after one year —F 1&g B HIR 5108 - -
Notes: 5T

(i)

(i)

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group obtained
new fixed rate and secured bank borrowings amounting
to HK$32,411,000 (2022: HK$11,688,000) and repaid bank
borrowings of HK$26,989,000 (2022: nil). The bank borrowings
are secured by bank deposits of HK$21,600,000 (2022:
HK$26,850,000), trade receivables amounting to approximately
HK$15,809,000 (2022: nil) and guaranteed by two directors of
the Company.

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group obtained
new fixed rate and guaranteed bank borrowings amounting
to HK$19,440,000 (2022: HK$15,210,000) and repaid bank
borrowings of HK$14,040,000 (2022: HK$21,060,000). The
amount of RMB8,000,000 (equivalent to HK$8,640,000)
(2022:RMB3,000,000 (equivalent to HK$3,510,000)) bank
borrowing is guaranteed by an insurance company in the PRC
as at 30 June 2023. The amount of RMB10,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$10,800,000) (2022: HK$11,700,000) bank borrowing is
guaranteed by an insurance company in the PRC, a director of
the Company and two subsidiaries of the Group as at 30 June
20283.

(i)

(ii)

HZE2023F6 A30RILEE A&
EmGHOETEMNERGFTEREREA
ﬁE 1T 18 3% 7 32,411,000 7T (2022
11,688,000 7T ) ¢ I B &
ﬁE 17 18 3% 7 ¥ 26,989,000 7T (2022
F:F)  FHBITIERARITER
7% # 21,600,000 7T (2022 F : B
26,850,0007T ) & & 5 FE YR IE 4 7%
#15,809,000 7T (20224 : &) I
- THARRMEBESIERER -

HZE2023F6 A30RILFEE » A&
ERGHOETEMNEFEREER
%Emﬁ XA ¥ 19,440, 00075<2022

@ B #15,210,0007T) © WIEE R
1718 F B 14,040, 00071(2022¢
75 #521,060,000 7T ) ° 7202346 A
308 - #R771E %K A R #8,000,000
7T (18 & 7 7% # 8,640,000 7T ) (2022
£ AR%3,000,000T(HHERE
#3,510,0007T)) A —HEH BRE A
71’#*‘1% 7K 20236 A30H ' R

1T R AR ¥10,000,0007T (FHE R

75 #10,800,000 7T ) (2022 F : # &
11,700,000 7T ) B —fAH B R 2
Al RAR—RBESRALEREM
BARERER -

BFRIREEIR AR 2022/23 F3f
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MRE MR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2023 &% 2023F6 A308 [FF[E

25. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group obtained
new variable-rate and secured bank borrowings amounting to
approximately RMB15,000,000 (equivalent to HK$16,200,000)
(2022: RMB29,000,000 (equivalent to HK$33,930,000)), and
repaid bank borrowings of RMB29,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$31,320,000)(2022: nil). The floating rate of the borrowing
was based on the Loan Prime Rate published by PRC National
Interbank Funding Center. The bank borrowings are secured by
bank deposits of HK$20,000,000 (2022: HK$40,000,000) as at 30
June 2023.

Other borrowings represented a loan from a third party
company, bearing interest at 15% per annum. During the
year ended 30 June 2023, Khorgas Houhai repaid the loan
of RMB613,000 (equivalent to HK$662,000) (2022: RMB
30,482,000 (equivalent to HK$35,664,000)) to the third party
company. The maturity date of the remaining loan was extended
to 31 December 2023 during the year ended 30 June 2023. The
loan is secured by the Group's trade receivables amounting to
RMB17,905,000 (equivalent to HK$19,338,000) (2022: RMB
16,731,000 (equivalent to HK$19,575,000)) as at 30 June 2023.

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal
to contracted interest rates) per annum on the Group’s bank
borrowings are analysed as follows:

25. RITREMER @

BaE : ()

(iii)

(iv)

HZE2023F6A30RILFE A&
EREMEZEANRTERAEA
AT A AR % 15,000,0007T (48
A7 % 16,200,000 7T ) (2022 4 :
A R # 29,000,000 7C (48 & R B &
33,930,0007T) ) + WIEERITE K
A R # 29,000,000 7T (48 & R B &
31,320,0007T) (20224 : &) - 56
BREZEFEDERPE R BT
MRZEFREFRLAGHERTISZRE
FIR o }A2023F6 308 * ZFRT
f& 3% f R 97 7% 3% % 20,000,000 7T
(20224 : #%40,000,0007T ) 1E K&
j:r:ﬁ o

HMEREREE=ZFARIMER -
EFEMEI5%E - B E2023F6
A30BLFE ERRFTEEASE
=5 RAAEERERARG613,000
7T (#8 & R /8 # 662,000 7T ) (2022
F . AR#30,482,0007T (HHE RB
& 35,664,0007T ) ) ° # = 202356
A30RLFE  #TEXRIHAE
JERZE2023412 318 » %2023
F6A30H ZEXBAEEES
FE U2 3B A R ¥ 17,905,000 7T (48
A8 # 19,338,000 7T ) (2022 4 :
AR #16,731,000 7C (48 & R B &
19,575,0007T) ) {EHE 1 -

AEBRITERZBERFMNEZHE (TR
HERERTHOFE)NIHAT

2023
20235

2022
20224

Fixed-rate bank borrowings: RMB
denominated borrowings

Variable-rate bank borrowings: RMB
denominated borrowings

ERRITER
ARBHEER
FRBIRITRER

ARBHERER

3.65% to 4.90%
3.65%%4.90%
3.40% to 4.00%
3.40%%4.00%

3.60% to 5.00%
3.60%%5.00%
3.50% to 4.20%
3.50%%4.20%
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

26. BONDS PAYABLE

On 16 September 2019, the Company has entered into the
placing agreement with the placing agent pursuant to which
the placing agent conditionally agreed to procure, on a best
effort basis, and the placees who are independent third parties
to the Group to subscribe in cash for the bonds (the “Bonds”)
in an aggregate amount of up to HK$150,000,000 with a
maturity date of three years from the issue date. Based on the
terms of the placing agreement, the Bonds are matured on the
third anniversary of the date of the issue of the Bonds or any
such other dates as mutually agreed in writing and shortened
or extended by the Company and the placing agent.

The Bonds will be issued in tranches and the Bonds are
unsecured, unsubordinated and carried at fixed coupon rate of
6.5% per annum which are payable semi-annually in arrears
from the date of issue. During the year ended 30 June 2020,
the Company issued an aggregate amount of HK$14,500,000
to the placees. The balance of the principal amount of bond
payable of HK$14,500,000 net of prepaid interest is fully repaid
during the current year.

27. LOANS FROM RELATED COMPANIES

26. ESES

R2019F9H16H » ARRIEERER
B ERE Bt BRERESR
1R R B iR I8 & Frae B {2 &R A
(REHEAEEBLE=F)UNEER
BEA(EF]) BeBERABE
150,000,0007T © EIEAH A B %/THE
BET=F - REREHZOER - EF
RBTEHFBHR-BFEAHAR
AIHEAERIZE FIZE M E TR
ERMERBBEMBERI -

EHFBOMEIT  MEFAERR - 3E
BEWIEEF6.5%E T ZmFF =Rt
B BRTAMBHEEFEIM—IK-
HZ202096A30B LFE - KAAE]M
B A I TARETE 14,500,000 TR E
% o BNEFHASIIBRENFIE R
# A E14,500,0000T © ERAFEE
HEE -

27. RERAB A TRANER

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BET T

Loans from related companies REBHATNER
— Loan 1 (note i) — B3 (M5ED 25,599 30,677
- Loan 2 (note ii) — B2 (M &EiD) 9,224 9,993
- Loan 3 (note iii) — BR3P Eiii) 26,393 -
— Loan 4 (note iv) — B4 5Eiv) 22,168 -
83,384 40,670

Analysed as: PaRilv =2

Current liabilities mEAaE 9,224 9,993
Non-current liabilities EmeaE 74,160 30,677
83,384 40,670

BFRIREEIR AR 2022/23 F3f
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

27. LOANS FROM RELATED COMPANIES

(Continued)

Notes:

(i) The balance as at 30 June 2023 represents a loan of
RMB18,954,000 (equivalent to HK$20,470,000) (30 June 2022:
RMB23,000,000 (equivalent to HK$26,910,000)) plus accrued
interest of RMB4,749,000 (equivalent to HK$5,129,000) (30
June 2022: RMB 3,220,000 (equivalent to HK$3,767,000))
from Guangzhou Puji. During the year, the Group repaid
RMB3,300,000 (equivalent to HK$3,564,000) (2022: nil). The
loan advance is unsecured, interest bearing at 7% per annum. In
December 2021, the maturity date of the loan was extended to
July 2023. In December 2022, the maturity date of the loan was

further extended to July 2025.

(ii) The balance as at 30 June 2023 represents interest payables
of RMB8,541,000 (equivalent to HK$9,224,000) (30 June 2022:
represents interest payables of RMB8,541,000 (equivalent to
HK$9,993,000) from Guangzhou Black Hole Investment Limited
(“Black Hole"), a company in which Mr. Zhang has controlling

interests.

(i)~ The balance represents loan of RMB10,500,000 (equivalent to
HK$11,340,000) (30 June 2022: nil) and loan of RMB13,000,000
(equivalent to HK$14,040,000) (30 June 2022: nil) plus accrued
interest of RMB469,000 (equivalent to HK$506,000) (30 June
2022: nil) and RMB470,000 (equivalent to HK$507,000) (30 June
2022: nil) from Guangzhou Puji as at 30 June 2023, respectively.
The loan advances are unsecured, interest-bearing at 4.50%
per annum and repayable in July 2024 and September 2024,

respectively.

(iv)  The balance represents loan of RMB15,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$16,200,000) (30 June 2022: nil), loan of RMB750,000
(equivalent to HK$810,000) (30 June 2022: nil), loan of
RMB880,000 (equivalent to HK$950,000) (30 June 2022: nil) and
loan of RMB3,616,000 (equivalent to HK$3,906,000) (30 June
2022: nil) plus accrued interest of RMB280,000 (equivalent to
HK$302,000) (30 June 2022: nil) from Guangzhou Puji as at 30
June 2023. The loan advances are unsecured, interest-bearing at

4.50% per annum and with 3-year loan term.
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27. REBEBH A TINER @

BaE

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

M2023F6 A308 « st AEEIM
HRIES 2 EHARK18,954,0007T
(B8 R #20,470,0007T ) (20224
65308 : AR #¥23,000,0007C (48
BB #26,910,0007T) ) K& R & F
B AR%4,749,000 7T (18 % 5 4 i
5,129,0007T) (202246 A30H : AR
#3,220,0007T (A& KB #3,767,000
TL)) c RAFE  AREBEEEAR
#3,300,0007T (AEE B ¥ 3,564,000
JL)(2022%F + &) - ZERBRAE
EH o IRFENETIREE - R20214F
128 ZEFHEHBE B LR E2023
F£78 - N2022F 128 ZEZHE
HAD#E—FHEEE202567A o

M2023E6 A308 @ ZEHAKB
REAEBMBERERZ ARIEMNE
HILEBRAE (2R ]) 2 EMF
B ARM8541,0007T (HHERE
9,224,0007T) (202256 A308 : fEft
FME A ARYS 541,0007T (HHERE
#9,993,0007T)) °

M 2023FE6 A308 © Z&EH DR
BEEMNETREBZERARE
10,500,0007T (FHE FA#E 11,340,000
7T)(20225%66 8308 : ) - X
A R ¥ 13,000,000 7T (48 & R & &
14,040,0007T) (20226 A30H : &)
AR 2517 B AR 469,000t (B
R #506,0007T) (202246 A30A8 :
T)REFFBEARKA70,0007T(HHE
RA#507,0007T) (202246 A30A8 :
T) c ZERBRAERF - REFEX
450% 8 - WAEDRIN2024F7 A
}2024F9 A 1EIE -

M2023F6 A30H @ & A B EM
T RESZERARY15,000,0007T
(FE A% 16,200,0007T ) (20224
6A30H : &)  ERARK750,000
7T (& R %810,0007T ) (2022 4F
6H30H : T) - ExX AR ¥880,000
JC(FHE R/ #950,0007T) (202246
A30H : T)REHKARS616,000
7T (48 % 7 78 # 3,906,000 7T ) (2022
F6A308 : T)URRAFEARE
280,000 7T ( #H & 1 7 ¥ 302,000 7T )
(20226 A30H : &) - ZERBH
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

28. LEASE LIABILITIES 28. HHEEE
Information about leases for which the Group is a lessee is EANEBEARBANBEER 25
presented below. o e
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Lease liabilities payable: ENEEEE
Within one year —FR 81,039 90,215
Within a period of more than one year —FABREUAR
but not more than two years 6,480 80,850
Within a period of more than two years REAERFEUR
but not exceeding five years 2,609 7,836
90,128 178,901
Less: Amount due for settlement with W ORBBEETEY
12 months shown under current A28 A NEE
liabilities KB (81,039) (90,215)
Amount due for settlement after 12 FERBABEHETNRMNNZAE
months shown under non-current R12E A1 EERNIE
liabilities 9,089 88,686
The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied is MR2023F6A308 * FTER 2 m#EF
6% (2022:6%) per annum as at 30 June 2023. HIEEERIFNESBTEEK (20224F :
6%) °
All lease obligations are denominated in the functional FrEHEETEBEEETEMINESE
currencies of the relevant group entities. WS o

BFIRIREBR AR 2022/23 F#
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
/\/\m/\ﬁﬂ?ﬂ%i&%’zﬁuf

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

29. SHARE CAPITAL 29. B
Number of Share
shares capital
RHEE (&N
HK$'000
BEFT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.0025 each: FIEER0.0025TH) L B@A% :
Authorised: EE
At 1 July 2021, 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2023 72021%7A18 * 202296 A30H
}2023%F6A30H 32,000,000,000 80,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRHE
At 1 July 2021, 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2023 7202157718 * 202246 A30H
2023F6H30H 2,595,613,733 6,489

30. PERPETUAL BONDS

On 1 July 2021 and 13 July 2021, Guangzhou Daide
Management Consultancy Company Limited (“Guangzhou
Daide”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company issued
perpetual bonds amounting to RMB78,520,000 (equivalent
to HK$94,224,000) and RMB58,990,000 (equivalent to
HK$70,788,000), respectively to Black Hole and Guangzhou
Puji for the purpose of repaying the outstanding loan
balance. On 1 July 2021 and 31 July 2021, Guangzhou
Daide and the Company issued perpetual bonds amounting
to RMB35,000,000 (equivalent to HK$42,000,000) and
HK$45,000,000 to Mr. Zhang respectively, for the purpose of
repaying the outstanding loan balance. On 7 March 2022, the
Company issued perpetual bonds amounting to HK$8,000,000
to Mr. Zhang. The perpetual bonds are redeemable at the
issuer’s option.

On 27 February 2023, the Company redeemed perpetual
bonds issued by the Company amounting to HK$17,500,000 to
Mr. Zhang.
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MEBRAEEMERETT ABARE
78,520,000 7T (48 & 77 #594,224,000
7T) B AR#58,990,0007T (FHE RE
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BEERBE - 12021F7 818 2021
F7A31H - EMBERARFDFIE
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JC (& R #42,000,0007T ) K&
45,000,0007T Z 5K & & Méi%ﬂif%ﬁi%
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

30. PERPETUAL BONDS (Continued)

31.

On 24 February 2023, the Company issued perpetual bonds
amounting to HK$950,000 to Skynova International Limited
(“Skynova"”). The perpetual bonds are redeemable at the
issuer's option.

Interests are payable annually in arrears at a fixed rate of 4.5%
per annum, which may be deferred at the issuers’ discretion
and in which event, the Company and Guangzhou Daide will
not declare or pay any interests or redeem, reduce, cancel or
buy back or otherwise acquire any of the Company’s and/or
Guangzhou Daide's securities of lower or equal rank.

The Group is considered to have no contractual obligations to
call its principal or to pay any interests. The perpetual bonds
do not meet the definition of financial liabilities. They are
classified as equity instruments and any distributions made by
the Group to the holders are also recognised in equity in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

30. XKE B @

M2023%F2H24H © AR & FISkynova

International Limited ([ Skynova ] ) %

ﬁi%%z;%ﬁ%%o 000TC ZKEE - 81T
BIEBERIZEKER -

MEBREEFMNEILNNEBFFRX
- ERTATRBECEBENE - ©
EERT AABARENEEIEE
IRSORASE RIS ER - B Eﬁﬁ
KEE KA EAMT ANRBEAAR
&,/ REMBEEBRE SRR SRR E
2

AEERERERNETEEERASH

XHERFE - KEBATTEERE

ENTER  TESBAERTA  MA

SERFA AFHBERDIRIFRALE
BiR & M5k M R

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 31. EZXEBEAEE
The followings are the deferred tax assets (liabilities) AEBRAFEERANELHRBEE
recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the (Eﬁ)&ﬁ%@}ﬁﬂ—l— 3
current year:
Intangible
assets arising
Tax losses on acquisition Total
WEEREL
BIEEE WEFEE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETIT BT
At 1 July 2021 M2021F7/818 164 (21,379) (21,215)
(Charge) credit to profit or (BIEZHR)ETABR
loss (note 9) (Bf7E9) (164) 4,992 4,828
Exchange adjustments b W AR - (1,509) (1,509)
At 30 June 2022 14202246 A308 - (17,896) (17,896)
Credit to profit or loss (note 9) 3t A4825 (Fft:19) = 4,469 4,469
Exchange adjustments P 5 8 2 - 1,217 1,217
At 30 June 2023 7202346 4308 - (12,210) (12,210)

BFRIREEIR AR 2022/23 F3f
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

31. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (continued)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

Deferred tax assets BT IBE E
Deferred tax liabilities BEEFRIBEE

Under the EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries
from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been
provided for in the consolidated financial statements in respect
of temporary differences attributable to undistributed earnings
of the Group's PRC subsidiaries as the Group is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

As at 30 June 2023, the Group has unused tax losses of
HK$455,044,000 (2022: HK$457,678,000) available for
offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of tax losses of HK$455,044,000 (2022:
HK$457,678,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of
HK$67,411,000, HK$74,009,000, and HK$72,950,000 (2022:
HK$52,667,000, HK$77,644,000 and HK$83,962,000 will
expire in 2023, 2024 and 2027, respectively) that will expire
in 2024, 2027 and 2028, respectively. Other losses may be
carried forward indefinitely.

As at 30 June 2023, the Group has deductible temporary
differences of approximately HK$1,660,000 (2022:
HK$3,733,000). No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
relation to such deductible temporary differences as it is not
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary difference can be utilised.
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31.

FEERIEA & @)

BV BRENEEHRIBLERON DTN
T

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BETIT
(12,210) (17,896)
(12,210) (17,896)

BIBGEMSEDE - FREMBAR®E
200841 A1 HRBEINA & F FTE IR
IR EBBMNTEIRT o AEBWREB
RAEBEFRRME AR KREF L
B ERBRRE M ERERFTIRBELERIA -
JR PR 2 A 55 (B R 128 1) B B 22 BRI (Bl A B
fE LA R 3% B B 22 B A 7] T R AR R AT BE T
gD -

MR2023F6830H * "EEEAREB AR
TA J&5 18 4 1 455,044,000 7T (2022 4 -
7B 457,678,000 7T ) A {E K $8 oK 2K &
B o ARRICEFR 2 T FEAIE - &
& B30 R ph B4 18 E5 188 86 455,044,000
JC (2022 % : B 457,678,000 7C ) &
RELEHBEE - AERATEEBBRE
5 2 B 2024 &~ 2027 F 2028
FlEm 2 EEBE¥67,411,000T B
# 74,009,000 7T & 7 # 72,950,000 7T
(2022 % : #B¥52,667,0007T * B
77,644,000 7t } /& 83,962,000 7T 2
B #8 7R 2023 4F ~ 2024 F & 2027 £ &
W) o BB gL MR AR o

7R2023F 6 A308 + A& E A HIK
i 2= 8 4075 851,660,000 7T (2022
& @ B#3,733,0007T) ° AR T KA BE
BRERT T A AR A R E R
AR MW ERBEARE R ERE
HRIRERIEEE -



For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

The Company's share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
approved and adopted by the sole shareholder on 5 October
2012 for the primary purpose to grant options to eligible
persons as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the
Group.

Under the Scheme, the board of directors of the Company
may, at its discretion, grant options pursuant to the Scheme
to the Directors (including executive directors, non-executive
directors and independent non-executive directors),
employees, advisors and consultants of the Company and
its subsidiaries who the board of directors of the Company
considers, in its absolute discretion, have contributed or will
contribute to the Group (the “Participants™).

The total numbers of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. The
number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which
options granted and may be granted to any individual in any
one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any point in time, without prior approval
from the Company’s shareholders.

For the years ended 30 June 2023 and 2022, there were no
share options granted under the Scheme by the Company.
There was no share option outstanding as at 30 June 2023 and
30 June 2022.

The Scheme was valid and effective for a period of 10 years
commencing on 5 October 2012, and was expired on 5
October 2022.

32. LR AERNRNRS

AARRBERERTE (TZEE]) R
2012910 A5 A &M — R R HEf#E R F
W EEZEMAREERATERER
- EAREHAEEELERINEE
EACIE

RiEZE > ARAEFSARBRE
ZAtEMEEERREAREFEL K
BIELERMES(BRAUTES  3F
HITEERBIFNTES) ARF
REMBRARNEES  BREREAAL
(T28%E )X HBGE -

REARRNERRELAE - BRIBZFTE
A BB R R B AR D B BTN 5
BARRNBEAEHRE ZHTRDAI10% ©
REARNBRREBLAAE - RER—F
WRMER A T35 & A $% 0 A B AR B Py
HREEEITREBITHROEE ~F
BBRARREAREEZITREM1% °

H = 20234 K 202246 A30H It F
B ARBWERBEZTEERLER
#E - 73202346 A30H K&2022%6 A30
B WESRITERERE -

Z:t2 82012510 A B HFERE
W WE 202210 A5 H#AH] ©
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

33. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

For the year ended 30 June 2023

On 28 December 2022, Green Riches Holdings Limited, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered into a sale
and purchase agreement with Mandarin Film and Culture
Development Limited, a company which is beneficially owned
by Mr. Wong Pak Ming who is a connected person of the
Company at the subsidiary level, to dispose of the entire equity
interests in Pegasus Motion Pictures (Hong Kong) Limited,
Pegasus Motion Pictures Distribution Limited and Pegasus
Motion Pictures Production Limited, at a cash consideration of
HK$84,000. The disposed entities are mainly engaged in movie
investment and film distribution. The disposal was completed
on 31 December 2022, on which date when the control of
disposed entities passed to the acquirer.

33. HEHWBAFE

B Z22023F6H30HLFE

M2022F 125280 * ARAIZEEW
B AR RBIERE R A F EMandarin
Film and Culture Development
Limited(Z A HEBBEE(ENE
RAEHLEARARMNBEEAL)ER
BHE)FILEERE  UWHEXBEEY
Hm(BEB)ERAAE - KEEFETH
RARIRRSEXEEBRARNES
IxtE - IMESREABEES4,0000T - EH
EERITENSTEXRENET - BE
FIFM2022F12A3185%E/K * BHE
EREMEGIREEZERWNETEE -

Consideration received: BURRIE -
HK$'000
BET T
Cash received EUIR 4 84

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost:

RERFIEZEERABIN

HK$'000

BETT
Property, plant and equipment WE - BB k& 5
Interest in a joint venture RN—EaahEmEE 155
Trade and other receivables B 5 & E b FE R IE 1,700
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRNEIRE 2,009
Trade and other payables B 5 N E M ER RIE (16,417)
Amount due to a joint venture B —RE&aERENRIE (424)
Tax payable FES TR IE (294)
Net liabilities disposed of EHECBEFHE (13,266)
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

33. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2023 (continued)

33. HEMB 23 @)

HE2023F6H30H L FE @)

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HERBAT U
HK$'000
BT
Consideration received 2HRE 84
Reclassification of the cumulative gain upon HEEINEREEN OB BT
disposal of foreign operations 830
Less: net liabilities disposed of B BEREZABEFE 13,266
Gain on disposal (note 7) & 2 e (BEE7) 14,180
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HeE RS R IR
HK$'000
BT IT
Cash received B IR & 84
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of EEREAREFEY (2,009)
(1,925)

34. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to the shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash
equivalents, bank and other borrowings, loans from related
companies, bonds payable, lease liabilities, perpetual bonds
and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
share capital and reserves.

Management reviews the capital structure on a regular basis.
As part of this review, management considers the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.
Based on recommendations of management, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of new debt
or the redemption of existing debt.

34. EXREBRERE

AEBEREAE AEFRASETRR
FEQYE  WHEBERERERENR
=P EmARRIERRARR - NEE
MR E FEERLERTE -

AEENENEEERRENREEFE
Yo RITREMER REBBH QG
B ENfER  HERE KEER
ARBEE NE S (BB R
) -

BEEE MBI ENER - (FRRTH
—®Wo - EEEEREANKANEE
ERERIEENERR - REEEEMNZ
& NEBEFEERMERE - BITHK
ARETHEHRERRAES FEHE
ERENGE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fre BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 35. T H
35a. Categories of financial instruments 3%5a. Rl T EAVELE
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost HEENATTENESRMEE 200,807 308,425
Financial assets at FVTPL AT ETABEDN
TREE 21,463 14,319
Derivative financial assets TESREE - 3,576
Financial liabilities tRaE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost HEHER A ENSRmAans 354,581 366,338
Financial liabilities at FVTPL BAFERTABZRD
= 132,330 127,509
35b. Financial risk management objectives 3%b. EREREEEERBER

and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
rental deposits, trade and other receivables, wealth
management products, derivative financial assets, loan
to a related party, restricted bank balances, pledged bank
deposits, bank balances, trade and other payables, loans
from related companies, amount due to a joint venture,
bank and other borrowings, contingent consideration
payable, bonds payable and lease liabilities. Details
of these financial instruments are disclosed in the
respective notes. The risks associated with the Group’s
financial instruments include market risk (including
currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. Management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2022/23

ARENTIRSRTAGREEE
Be  BEHREMEWE - B
EEREM TEERMEE -
[ — 2B ER - XREIRTT
rEgR - DHERRITER - RITE
B NEMEMFE KA
M ARNER BN —H&%
EEFIE - RITREMER - B
NEARE  ENEZREESR
B -ZEeRMIANFBENIEH
MERE - FEARESRTA
MEReET SRR (ZEEER
B~ FIRRERMEBERER)
EERBRERBDESER - BH
AR IR0 B % 5 R B ) BR SR B T
X - EREERRERZER
% EARREAAZBRIGEE
EHE ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

35b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

Market risk

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a
financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes
in foreign exchange rates.

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount of

35. €M I Eum)

3bb. TR AR EE R BERBR

(&)

™5 B

B @
ERREBRRERMIANRRRS
B A S HE T K B B T R B PR EE
R R

REBEHR - KEKB QR A

the monetary items of the group companies, which are MAENEEEREERELNT
denominated in foreign currencies, are as follows:
Assets
BE

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

RMB AREE = 1
usDb ETT 697 824
EUR BT - 9
HK$ B 356 1,686

No sensitivity analysis is presented as management
considered the Group's foreign exchange exposure is
insignificant.

B E R AN K E RSN E R R I
PEXR FAWE2NBRES
#r o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fre BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

35b. Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate

because of changes in market interest rates.

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed rate restricted bank balances, pledged
bank deposits, fixed rate bank and other borrowings,
bonds payable, loans from related companies and lease
liabilities (see notes 21, 25, 26, 27 and 28 for details of

these balances, respectively).

In addition, the Group is also exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank balances

and bank borrowings.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points (2022: 50 basis
points) higher for variable-rate bank balances and bank
borrowings, and all other variables were held constant,
the impact to the Group's loss for the year would
be as follows. For a 50 basis points (2022: 50 basis
points) lower for variable-rate bank balances and bank
borrowings, and all other variables were held constant,
there would be an equal and opposite impact on the

Group's loss for the year.

35. €I Eum)

3bb. TR AR EE R BERBR

(%)

5 &b )

FI = 7 ez
MNERB AL TENAFEL
ARBEEREBEMIZF EEDH)
ifn B3R F B A RS ©

REBEHEBEEFEZRG
RITA S  BHEBRTER
EFMERITREMER - EBAE
- REBBARNEREEE
BENAFTENEZRBR(ZEE
BEEB YR 2MM 521 ~ 256 -
26~ 27%28) °

HE5h 7 % B 7N B B B
RRITEEBARRTERORS
EST

{8 )2 B) Bl R IR 1T 45 # LA KSR AT 18
FEFE EFAB0EE 2 (20224 -
BOfEEEL) - AFTE &8RS
g AT A AEEAF
EBENTZE - W2 FIREIT
KRR A MR 1T 18 BT PR B0 E £ 25
(20224 : 5OfEEE;) - BEFfEE
B RFIE  AHAFEAR
SEEEEEESRERNTE -

2023 2022

20235 20224

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Decrease in loss for the year FREER D 264 192

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent interest rate risk as the
year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during

the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

35b. Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk in respect of its wealth
management products issued by banks, purchased call
option, investment in film and TV series producers at
FVTPL, contingent consideration payable and investment
funds from investors at FVTPL. The above financial
instruments are exposed to price risk because of
changes in market prices, where changes are caused
by factors specific to the individual financial instruments
or their issuers, or factors affecting all similar financial
instruments traded in the market. The fair value change
of wealth management products issued by banks is
not considered to be significant taking into account
the short-term duration of such wealth management
products, while for other financial instruments measured
at fair value, the sensitivity analysis of which has been
disclosed in the fair value measurement information in
the consolidated financial statements.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

At 30 June 2023, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group performed impairment assessment for
financial assets at amortised cost under ECL model.
Information about the Group’'s credit risk management,
maximum credit risk exposures and the related
impairment assessment, if applicable, are summarised as
below:

35. €I Eum)

3bb. TR AR EE R BERBR

(%)

5 &b )

H 1 (E15 /7 bz
AEEMBTETNVEERE
o CIERERE - BRAYES
ABTZZ2EENERBERIEAR
& EASHARE RERAFER
ABEMNEREEREREZCHERE
R - Fite T BEmRER
BBROREATMSERES  m
EREEZHAE e/ T A HEE
TANBEREZ k¥ E8mE L
EEMNEEUSR T AMNAER
FTe - ZEANRITHITHNHESE
BEERBEH BHEERNAYF
BEEHTHERABEKN » MEAMIE
AFEAENEHRTENSEE
DIMERGETBHRENH A FE
STEERPRENRE -

EER R RBEFT G
MR2023FE6 A308 @ W% F &
BEETET  ASERYTISE
BrM&AEERRKARERE M
BRAKRAINSEERRESME
ERIRAEE -

AEBERBEBEBEEBEEARR
BBER AT ENEREEELTT
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BE  BREERRRBERRE
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 &% 2023F6 A308 [FF[E

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

35b. Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers
In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has a credit
control policy in place under which credit evaluations
of customers are performed on all customers requiring
credit. Other monitoring procedures are in place to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Directors closely monitor the credit
quality of those counterparties and perform impairment
assessment under ECL model on trade balances

individually or based on provision matrix.

The Group measures the loss allowance on trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. Reversal
of impairment loss on trade receivables of HK$2,195,000
(2022: impairment loss on trade receivables of
HK$1,322,000) is recognised during the year. Details
of the quantitative disclosures are set out below in this

note.

Other receivables, loan to a related party and rental

deposits

The credit quality of other receivables, loan to a related
party and rental deposits has been assessed with
reference to historical information about the financial
position of the counterparties. The Directors closely
monitor the credit quality of those counterparties and
consider those amounts are of a good credit quality in
view of the good historical repayment record of such
parties. The Group performs impairment assessment
under ECL model under HKFRS 9 on these balances

individually or on a collective basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

N

P

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

35b. Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

Other receivables, loan to a related party and rental
deposits (Continued)

For the purpose of impairment assessment of other
receivables, loan to a related party and rental deposits,
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equals to
12m ECL, unless there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. In determining the
expected credit losses for these assets, the Directors
have taken into account the financial position of the
counterparties, the industries they operate, as well as
their latest available operating results, in estimating the
probability of default of each of these financial assets
occurring within their respective loss assessment time
horizon, as well as the loss upon default in each case.

Restricted bank balances, pledged bank deposits and
bank balances

Credit risk on pledged bank deposits, restricted bank
balances and bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit
ratings in the PRC and Hong Kong.

The Group assessed 12m ECL for pledged bank deposits,
restricted bank balances and bank balances by reference
to information relating to probability of default and loss
given default of the respective credit rating grades
published by external credit rating agencies. Based
on the average loss rates, the ECL on pledged bank
deposits, restricted bank balances and bank balances is
considered to be insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
/\/ \ IZI E\ﬁﬁ"%i&%ﬁ'ﬁ; I:UI_

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 35. R T R

35b. Financial risk management objectives 35b. TRLEMEE B EREBER
and policies (continued) ()
Credit risk and impairment assessment FEER N BE @)

(Continued)

Restricted bank balances, pledged bank deposits and
bank balances (Continued)
The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment

RIRFRITHERE  EEARITF
KR IRTTHEER (4
AEBENABEERRFRERE

comprises the following categories: AT 485
Internal Other
credit rating  Descriptions Trade receivables financial assets
RBMEETR  FHH g5 EWEE HitemEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL - 12m ECL
not credit-impaired
1 Bz HBFANENRRRE PHRHEEEE - 12 ATEEBEEEE
W ARBEEEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
credit risk since initial recognition through not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
information developed internally or
external resources
75t BEABERSINBER - FERRE TR rPHEBEEEE- THRBEEEE -
BRI K IEE N W AREEEERE WAREEEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
Eita ARBEREELRGEERE PHEEEEEE - FHRREEEHE-
BREEERAE BEEEERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor Amount is written off ~ Amount is written off
is in severe financial difficulty and the
Group has no realistic prospect of recovery
g BERBERNEBARAERBEE - M EE IR WEH R IE

BN 3 & B R A] AUk B 5B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 35. R T R

35b. Financial risk management objectives 3%5b. EFEMEIE B EREEER
and policies (continued) ()

=& B ba RO E G ()

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Restricted bank balances, pledged bank deposits and
bank balances (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of
the Group's financial assets, which are subject to ECL

RIRFRITHERE  EEARITF
KR IRTTHEER (4

TREJAEEERMEERER
HEEEBRFENEERRS

assessment:
External Internal
credit credit 12m or Gross
rating rating lifetime ECL carrying amount
S ki 128525
FEFIR EEFR EHEERR BEEE
2023 2022
20235 2022
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Firsk BETT  B¥TL
Financial assets at amortised cost
REBERATENSREE
Trade receivables 19 N/A  Low risk (note a) Lifetime ECL 31,722 91,269
B S MR TER  BEKR(MEa) 2HEEEEEE
Other receivables 19 N/A  Low risk (note b) 12m ECL 25,327 27,615
Ef R TER BER(EEL) N2EABRHEESE
Rental deposits 17 N/A  Low risk (note b) 12m ECL 17,450 16,274
HERSE TER  EER(WEbD) N2EAESHEESE
Loan to a related party - N/A  Low risk (note b) 12m ECL - 2,835
A—&BE AR TER  ERER(MED) 2EAESREESE
Restricted bank balances - AA N/A (note ¢) 12m ECL 520 3,404
XRBIRITES TER (M) NEABHEESE
Pledged bank deposits 21 AA N/A (note c) 12m ECL 42,271 67,518
BEBRIER TEB(Mie) 12ABBEEESR
Bank balances and cash 22 AA+ N/A (note c¢) 12m ECL 85,108 103,462
RITEHREAS TER (M) NEABHEESE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fre BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

35b. Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)
Notes:

a. For trade receivables, the Group has applied the
simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with
significant outstanding balances in which ECL is assessed
individually, the Group determines the ECL on these items
by using a provision matrix, grouped by internal credit

rating.

b. For the purposes of the internal credit risk management,
the Group uses past due information to assess whether
credit risk has increased significantly since initial

recognition.

As at 30 June 2023, the balances of other receivables and
rental deposits are not past due and the internal credit

rating is considered as low risk.

c. The Group did not provide any 12m ECL on restricted bank
balances, pledged bank deposits and bank balances as the

amount is insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 35. R T R

35b. Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)
The following table shows the movement in ECL that has
been recognised for trade and other receivables.

3bb. TR AR EE R BERBR

(%)

=& B ba RO E G ()

TRINTHE 5 K E e YRR

RHTEHEEERNESIEN -

Lifetime ECL

12m (not credit-
ECL impaired) Total

ZHIFEHEE

12 A7EH EBEREELER
EEEE EERE) 5T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T ST IT
At 1 July 2021 M2021F7 818 972 1,982 2,954
Impairment losses recognised 2 R E &8 - 1,322 1,322
Impairment losses reversed =& [ EEE (324) - (324)
At 30 June 2022 7202296 A30H 648 3,304 3,952
Impairment losses reversed =& [EIE{EEE (166) (2,195) (2,361)
At 30 June 2023 7202396 A30H 482 1,109 1,591

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by management to
finance the Group's operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows. Management monitors
the utilisation of bank borrowings and other sources of
funding and considers the risk is minimal.

The following tables provide details of the Group’s
remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative
financial liabilities based on the agreed repayment
terms. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest dates on which the Group can be required to
pay. The tables include both interest and principal cash
flows.

REE TR
REERBDECERE - AEH
ERMRFEEERSEHNE
ERBRSFEYWKE  UAX
SENEERHESYRERS
MENPNTE  EEEERR
TTHE R AR R E B 2 5K
R R BRBRRE -

TRAVNAKEETESRAR
Rt E B R GRFREERT & X2 H]
B » %F I RRIZ A K B A 1
EXRXMNERBENZT A B
AUERRERERH - ZFINR
HAMBERASHRERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R IR

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 35. €M T R
35b. Financial risk management objectives 3%b. EFIEAMREIEBERBEE
and policies (continued) (%)
Liquidity risk (Continued) nBEEREMRE @)
On demand Total
Interest or less than 3 months to 1-2 2-5 undiscounted  Carrying
rate 3 months 1 year years years  cash flows amount
ERE] RERRS

AE  SREA  SEAEIE 1R2f 2E5F REAE REfE
% HK000  HKOOO  HKOOD  HK0OO  HKD00  HK'000
EETT  AMTT  AMTn ARTn BBtn BETR

At 30 June 2023 R2023%6A30H
Trade and other payables st~ BEHHATENEHR

amortised cost HftERTE - 172,891 - - - 12891 172,891
Bank and other borrowings ~ H{TREMES 3.40-15.00 38,508 62,957 = = 101,465 98,306
Loans from related companies & BB A TV 3% 450-7.00 9,24 - 27,690 54,304 91,218 83,384
Contingent consideration ERARE

payable - 131,672 - - - 131,672 125,850
Investment funds from EATESABERE

investors at FVTPL REZMREAS - - 6,480 - - 6,480 6,480
Subtotal et 352,295 69,437 27,690 54,304 503,726 486,911
Lease liabilities HEEE 6.00 21,110 63,400 6,994 2,654 94,158 90,128
Total 3 373,405 132,837 34,684 56,958 597,884 577,039
At 30 June 2022 R2022%6A30H
Trade and other payables at ~ BEHHATENEFR

amortised cost EftERFE - 20188 - - - 201885 20188
Amount due to a joint venture  Eff—FAE LB - 424 - - - 424 424
Bank and other borrowings FOREME 3.50-15.00 44.214 68,493 - - 112,707 109,101
Loans from related companies  REEHA K ES 7.00 9,993 - 32,561 - 42,554 40,670
Bonds payable ERES 6.50 10,805 4638 - - 15,443 14,258
Contingent consideration ERARE

payable - - - 142,645 - 142,645 127,509
Subtotal g 267,321 73131 175,208 - 515858 493847
Lease liabilities HE&E 6.00 35,352 62,411 83,850 7,963 189,576 178,901
Total 3 302,673 135,542 259,056 7,963 705,234 672,748
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

35. €M I Eum)

35b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

Fair value measurements of financial

instruments

Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring

basis

The following table gives information about how the fair
values of these financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined (in particular, the valuation techniques and
inputs used) as well as the level of the fair value hierarchy
into which the fair value measurements are categorised
(levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to
the fair value measurements is observable.

3bb. TR AR EE R BERBR

()
ERMTANAFEFE

U1t Z B N PR B
EETHEERTBRENRF
=]
TREHREHETZSEREE
rkEBABENAFEZTE(LHE
TR BERMN REARBER) 2
BERARBEAFEAERABE
ZABRBEEME N 2 A FER
FIKF(BE—E=R)2EH -

Significant Relationship of
Financial assets/ Fairvalue  Valuation techniques unobservable unobservable
financial liabilities Fairvalueasat  hierarchy  and key inputs inputs inputs to fair value
SRHEE/ HERTR IEFTRE FUERHARE
tRER RTHIBBNATE AVEER TEBAHE BAHE EAVENBR
2023 2022
028%F  02%
HK$'000  HK$'000
BT AT
Financial assets at FVTPL 10,850 2410 Level 2 Discounted cash flow. Future cash N/A N/A
(note 20) flows are estimated based on
the contractual terms of wealth
management products and discounted
at a rate that reflects the credit
risk of the counterparties.
BATESARRZ o ERBenE RENEERERNAN TER 1R
eBEE(M20) BRRRBEFAEERRNERELR

R ARBERE «
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fre BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

35b. Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)

Fair value measurements of financial

instruments (Continued)

Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring

35. €M I Eum)

LA, Ak

35b. & mbJE fe B

(&

EBEEEREBEK

EMITEMNAFETE@

U1t Z B N PR B
EETHEERTBRENRF

basis (Continued) 1B (4#)
Significant Relationship of
Financial assets/ Fair value  Valuation techniques unobservable unobservable
financial liabilities Fairvalueasat  hierarchy  and key inputs inputs inputs to fair value
SREE/ HERTR IETABE TUBRRAUE
tRER RTSIBBHATE AVEER FERAEE BAEE EATENEE
2023 2022
08%F  202%
HK$'000  HK$'000
BEIT  AETR
Derivative financial assets- - 3,576 Level3 Black Scholes model. The model was — Note (i) Note (i)
purchased call option hased on fair value and book value
of the underlying net assets as well
as estimate of the exercisability
of the option. The fair value of net
assets was affected by the estimated
cash flows, based on an appropriate
discount rate.
fiemaE- E=0 hRR—SRMEERN  ARADER M) o)
B REFAENATERERE AR
REBREATRESHEE - ERER
MEERE  FAENATER MRS
nEFE
Investment in film and 10,613 11,909 Level 3 Discounted cash flow. Future cash Discount rate Note (ii)
TV series producers at flows are estimated based on the
FVTPL contractual terms and discounted at
a rate that reflects the credit risk of
the counterparties.
E=0 ERRERE  REANBTRRHMET ERX (i

BRTEFAREZEF R
ERBIREARE

HEERBMRERR R A AR R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 35. €M T R
35b. Financial risk management objectives 3%5b. EFEMEIE B EREEER
and policies (continued) ()
Fair value measurements of financial ERMITENAFETE @
instruments (Continued)
Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial KB BB EG N FEFEAAN
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring ERHEERSE B EHAF
basis (Continued) 1B (4#)
Significant Relationship of
Financial assets/ Fair value  Valuation techniques unobservable unobservable
financial liabilities Fairvalueasat  hierarchy  and key inputs inputs inputs to fair value
SREE/ HERTR TEFTEE TUBRRAUE
tREE RTSIBBHATE ATEER FERAEE BAEE BATENEE
2023 2022

03%F  2022F
HK$'000  HK$'000

B¥IT  AETR
Investment funds from 6,480 - Level3 Discounted cash flow. Future cash Discount rate Note i)
investors at FVTPL flows are estimated based on the
contractual terms and discounted at
a rate that reflects the credit risk of
the counterparties.
BATETARRRE E=R ERRENE - REGHETRRBHT MRE k(i
REENREES FEERROEXELR R ARR S
e o
Contingent consideration 125,850 127,509 Level 3 Discounted cash flow method was used Discount rate Note (iv)
payable to capture the present value of the
expected cash outflows arising from
the contingent consideration payable,
hased on an appropriate discount rate.
ERFEARE E=0 BEFEMRE  RRERREREER ERX Fzt(v)
A ERAFAREFREEN SRR S
MHBER(E «
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MRE MR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

35b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial

instruments (Continued)
Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring

basis (Continued)
Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Discounted cash flow method was used to determine
the fair value of underlying net assets of Wenlan. The
fair value of underlying net assets of Wenlan is most
significantly affected by estimated cash flows. The higher
the estimated cash flows, the higher the fair value of
the call option will be. A 5% increase/decrease in the
estimated cash flows, holding all other variables constant,
would increase/decrease the carrying amount of the call
option by HK$791,000 as at 30 June 2022.

A slight increase in the discount rate used in isolation
would result in a slight decrease in the fair value
measurement of the investment in film and TV series
producers at FVTPL, and vice versa. A 5% increase/
decrease in the discount rate holding all other variables
constant would decrease/increase the carrying amount
of investment in film and TV series producers at FVTPL
by HK$32,000 as at 30 June 2023 (30 June 2022:
HK$36,000).

A slight increase in the discount rate used in isolation
would result in a slight decrease in the fair value
measurement of the investment funds from investors at
FVTPL, and vice versa. A 5% increase/decrease in the
discount rate holding all other variables constant would
decrease/increase the carrying amount of investment
funds from investors at FVTPL by HK$20,000 as at 30
June 2023 (30 June 2022: nil).

A slight increase in the discount rate used in isolation
would result in a slight decrease in the fair value
measurement of the contingent consideration payable,
and vice versa. A 5% increase/decrease in the discount
rate holding all other variables constant would decrease/
increase the carrying amount of the contingent
consideration payable by HK$275,000 (30 June 2022:
HK$695,000) as at 30 June 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

35b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

Fair value measurements of financial

instruments (Continued)

Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis (Continued)

35. €M I Eum)

3b. TRLAMEE B ZERBR

()
EMITEMNAFETE@
A 1 B E I N FEF S K

EEcHEERTHA BN
E(&)

The following table represents the reconciliation of level

3 fair value measurement:

TRR/E=-RDFEAENHEE

Purchased

call option

SR EHE

HK$'000

BT T

At 1 July 2021 R2021F7 818 20,332
Fair value change in profit or loss RBEPH R FEEE (16,803)
Exchange adjustments PE 5, #E 47
At 30 June 2022 720226 A30H 3,576
Fair value change in profit or loss REZFHRFEEZY (3,423)
Exchange adjustments & 5 A (153)
At 30 June 2023 202296 A30H =
Investment

in film and

TV series

producers

at FVTPL

RATE

FFABHEZ

EXRERE

BEARE

HK$’000

BT T

At 1 July 2021 7202147 H1H -
Addition 1 12,317
Exchange adjustments & 5 (408)
At 30 June 2022 7202296 A30H 11,909
Addition i 448
Settlement T (843)
Exchange adjustments [E & % (901)
At 30 June 2023 7R2023%F6 A30H 10,613
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R IR

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 35. €M I Eum)
35b. Financial risk management objectives 35b. TRlEMREE B EREEE
and policies (continued) (%)
Fair value measurements of financial ERTEMNAFETE @
instruments (Continued)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial A E MR N FEGE A
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring EHeBEERTHEBENAF
basis (Continued) 1B (4#)
The following table represents the reconciliation of level TRAE=ZHLATFEFENY
3 fair value measurements: (Continued) B (&)
Investment
funds from
investors
at FVTPL
BRAYE
FABERE
BEEN
REES
HK$'000
BT T
At 1 July 2021 R2021F781H 10,728
Repaid AR (10,728)
At 30 June 2022 7202296 A30H -
Reclassification Ebo sk 6,480
At 30 June 2023 7202346 A30H 6,480
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

35. €M I Eum)

35b. Financial risk management objectives 3%5b. EFEMEIE B EREEER

and policies (continued)

Fair value measurements of financial

instruments (Continued)

(#&)

EMITEMNAFETE@

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial A E MR N FEGE A
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring EHeBEERTHEBENAF
basis (Continued) & (&)
The following table represents the reconciliation of level TRAE=ZHLATFEFENY
3 fair value measurements: (Continued) iR (&)
Contingent
consideration
payable
B RANKE
HK$°000
BT T
At 1 July 2021 M202147 818 139,947
Fair value change in profit or loss RiBmPHRFEEZ (1,529)
Settlements F=N] (7,560)
Exchange adjustments PE R % (3,349)
At 30 June 2022 720226 A30H 127,509
Fair value change in profit or loss REZFHRTFEEZY 8,538
Exchange adjustments [E & % (10,197)
At 30 June 2023 7R2023%F6 A30H 125,850

ERREF RN 7] 2022/23 F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fre BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

35b. Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring

basis (Continued)

The contingent consideration payable measured at fair
value on Level 3 fair value measurement represents
contingent consideration payable relating to the
acquisition of Khorgas Group. Fair value change on
contingent consideration payable is charged to profit
or loss. As at 30 June 2023, the Group recognised a
provision of HK$10,700,000 in respect of the arbitral
award against Guangzhou Daide from a former
shareholder of Khorgas Houhai in relation to a claim of its
portion of contingent consideration payable, after taking

into account legal advice.

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that
are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis (but

fair value disclosures are required)

Management considers that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost recognised in the consolidated financial

statements approximate their fair values.
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35. €I Eum)

3bb. TR AR EE R BERBR

()
EMITEMNAFETE@

LR B I BB NP EFE AR
EFTHEERHBENLF
E(#)
BEE=ZRAFEFERAFE
EMNENRAREBEREER
RTEEEHEMNENRARE -
ERASKARENRFESENIE
AR - H2023F6A30H -
AEBREREEER% - 5tH
ERRWE SR REREMNEE
REEBEBLIENIAREBEZ
HERMNMPRFRAERBEEE
10,700,0007T °

WHUEF MR E RN FEAE
(MEREH N FERE) AT BE
ERTHAENAFE

EEERREEMBHRERAER
REBEHKAGENEREERS
BMAENREEREQFERS -



For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

36. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group participates in MPF Scheme for all its
qualifying employees in Hong Kong under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (“MPF Ordinance”).
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in funds under the control of trustees.
Under the rule of the MPF Scheme, the employer and
its employees are each required to make contributions
to the scheme at rates specified in the rules. The only
obligation of the Group with respect of MPF Scheme
is to make the required contributions under the MPF
Scheme. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce
the contribution payable in the future years as at 30 June
2023 (2022: nil).

The contribution to the MPF Scheme is calculated based
on the rules set out in MPF Ordinance which is 5% on the
basic salary of the relevant employee subject to a specific
ceiling of HK$1,500.

The Group’'s employees employed in the PRC are
members of the state-managed retirement benefits
scheme operated by the PRC government. The PRC
subsidiary is required to contribute a certain percentage
of its payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to fund
the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the
required contributions under the scheme. No forfeited
contribution is available to reduce the contribution
payable in the future years as at 30 June 2023 (2022: nil).

36. RIRERIFTE

AEERERSERTES T BE
IR EIEH ) BEBAR
EENEEREBLHE—HMRE
SrE - BEBEEEMEERR
EEEENHARAE WHIFTA
| o IRIFRBE ST EIMRA
BERHEHEESAAKRRAEE
RILE R A AT B - NEEE 4
BertdlmE—EENRERE
SEFEIEL T 3K - 120234
6308 « IS ULH) A AT 0
S A R AF S B A R (2022 4F
/) -

HaaRe st B NERDRERE
T GROIEIR AN E - BIAAREE
BEEAFHFHL% @ AR B
1,6007CH5 € LR AR ©

FEHRHEEANEAEEEE YA
BT B RN B R E B IRKEF
T2l E - FEKBARA
ZEBEIENETEDLARAK
B EER R - WIREER
B o REBREBKRERE
WS EREAEELEH
oo 20234 6H30R - WED
SR U A 3R BT BB YRR R TR R Y
FEfHEFR (20224 : &) -

The total cost of HK$3,135,000 (2022: HK$2,900,000) charged AT 2= B 48 K AN % 5 3,135,000 7T
to profit or loss represents contributions paid or payable to the (20224 : #&%2,900,0007T ) FEARNEH
above schemes by the Group for the year ended 30 June 2023. RE E£2023F6 A308 It FE R Fitst

SN HEN SR -

BFIRIREBR AR 2022/23 F# 235
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fre BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

37. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 37. MEETEEANEE YR
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities TRV EETHEEANAEEBES
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non- 5 BREESNIERSES - gt EEE
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are EXNBEERAEEBEARERER
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, RO SesEARETSHEERE
classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows IS RER R KBS RENEE °
as cash flows from financing activities.
Prepayment
of bond interest
included in Loansfrom  Loans from Bank and
trade and other Bonds related the controlling other Lease
receivables payable  companies  shareholder  borrowings liabilities Total
HAEAR
LDV RE RE
E5HEH BREAIN  BREEN #ITR
RAff3E EfiE% g5 £ Hfp st T st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AETT AT BT BT AT AT AT
(Note 26) (Note 27) [Note 25) (Note 28)
(t3k26) (H327) (Ki3k25) (Kik2e)
At 1 July 2021 R021ETA1A 191 27,589 188,992 38,560 96,556 224,668 578,276
Financing cash flows RERERE - (16,101) 0,972 45,000 6,167 (60,834) (15,796)
Interests accrued ExAlE - 1,101 1,949 - 8,792 11523 23,365
Exchange adjustments 1 - - (1,068) - (2,414) 213) (3,685
New lease entered HRLE - - - - - 4279 4279
Issuance of perpetual bonds RINEE - - 159,185) (83,560 - - 242,745)
Termination of lease RIREE - - - - - (522) (522)
Transfers i (1,669) 1669 - - - - -
At 30 June 2022 1202256308 yIvi 14,258 40670 - 109,101 178,901 MM
Financing cash flows HEnenE - (15,016 45,300 - (8,874) (97,591) (76,181)
Interests accrued EitAlS - 516 320 - 7,241 7613 18590
Exchange adjustments Enge - - (4,856) - (8,498 (1,155 (14,509)
New lease entered BiUNFRE - - - - - 4,693 4,693
Termination of lease ALEE - - - - - (2,333) (2,333)
Transfers &5 (242) 242 - - - - -
Gain on modification of BieRERNE
financial liabilities - - (950) - (664) - (1,614)
At 30 June 2023 1420235657308 - - 83,384 - 98,306 90,128 271,818
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

38. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES AND

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

(1)

(1)

Transactions

During the year, the Group entered into the following
significant transactions with related parties:

BB HEBITBERETERR S

R
() X5

FA - AKBEEBBTIAT
BRRS :

Name of related parties Nature of transaction 2023 2022

) e XEME 2023F 20224
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B BETT BT T

Guangzhou Puji (a) Interest expenses 3,220 1,949

FIHER

Guangzhou Puji FIERE

BME R

Skynova (b) Interest income 135 270

Skynova FIBIA

Notes: FizE -

(@) The amounts represented the interest expenses for the
loan advances to the Group from Guangzhou Puji.

(b)  The interest income was received from Skynova for the
loan provides to Skynova which are beneficially owned by
Mr. Zhang.

Balances

Details of loans from related companies are set out in
note 27. The loan to Skynova is repaid during the year
ended 30 June 2023.

(a) ZEBEEMERAAEEE
HAOERBROMEFX -

(b) & FE U A ThFE A Skynova 2
f#£ B F M [ Skynova Y% BX -
SkynovaFHRFEAEERHEER ©

(1) #&R
o 2 B 2 ) A0 B3 A A M
27 - REE2023F6H30H Ik

FE > mSkynovalRti v BEHE
EEE -

BFIRIREBR AR 2022/23 F#
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MRE MR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

38. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES AND I HEHBEAIRERETEHFRRE S

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION (continued) X5 @)

(Ill) Major non-cash transaction () FEHFRERH
During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group entered #H E2023F6H30HILFE © &K
into certain new lease agreements for the use of leased EERFERBEEMEILETH
property for 2-5 years. Further detail of the new lease is HEWE AH2E5F - BB
set out in note 14, HE ZFHRHEHNMEE14
On 1 July 2021 and 13 July 2021, Guangzhou Daide 72021 F7 A1 H k2021 F7
issued perpetual bonds amounting to RMB78,520,000 A138 - EMEEDRIMEE
(equivalent to HK$94,224,000) and RMB58,990,000 RMEEBEMEREITT BEA
(equivalent to HK$70,788,000), respectively to Black R ¥ 78,520,000 7T ( #8 & ® B
Hole and Guangzhou Puji for the purpose of repaying 94,224,000 T ) & A R ¥
the outstanding loan balance as detailed in note 30. 58,990,000 7t ( #H & »® & ¥
On 1 July 2021 and 31 July 2021, Guangzhou Daide 70,788,000 7T ) My sk B fE + KA
and the Company issued perpetual bonds amounting BEREEERGE HBH
to RMB35,000,000 (equivalent to HK$42,000,000) RM5E30 - R2021F7 1B K
and HK$45,000,000 to Mr. Zhang respectively, for the 20217 A31H » EMBEER
purpose of repaying the outstanding loan balance as RARDRMEEERETT R
detailed in note 30. # A R # 35,000,000 5T ( 8 &

R 7 842,000,000 7T ) K B
45,000,000 T MK B EAEE &

EEE S - FHEHNRMIEES0 -
(IV) Compensation of key management (IV) EESTE A S Z B
personnel
The remuneration of directors and other key FA %%&@%@ﬁ\@}gﬁ
management personnel of the Group during the year was BAB®FMESNAT -
as follows:
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BETIT
Salaries and other allowances e M E bR 9,528 13,354
Retirement benefit scheme RIRFEFET B R
contributions 735 754
10,263 14,108
The remuneration of directors and other key EERHEMETEESIE A B H N
management personnel is determined by the HARARFHEZESLEER/A
remuneration committee of the Company having regard KENMIGHBEEEE -

to the performance of individuals and market trends.
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%

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

THE COMPANY

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

39. RRQ T MBI R

2023 2022
20234 20224
NOTE HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BET T BT T

Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RITB AR ZIKE 66,113 66,113
Plant and equipment W E & 1 13
Right-of-use assets FHEEE 327 818
Amounts due from subsidiaries  JEUSHIE A 7l 718 3,538 3,471
69,979 70,415

Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 & E b el s A 654 702
Amounts due from subsidiaries  FEUFE A FIZRIE 20,000 61,000
Loan to a related party m—& A ER — 2,835
Bank balances IR1TH 8 1,151 2,126
21,805 66,663
Current liabilities REBEE

Other payables Hib et ziia 2,494 2,692
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERH B AT A 128,953 128,870
Bonds payable R ES = 14,258
Lease liabilities HERE 335 474
131,782 146,294
Net current liabilities REEEFEE (109,977) (79,631)

Non-current liability FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEEE - 335
Net liabilities E8EFHE (39,998) (9,551)

Capital and reserves ERN#E
Share capital A& X 29 6,489 6,489
Reserves (note) i (HE) (82,937) (69,040)
Deficit in shareholders’ equity [R5 x5 & 4l (76,448) (62,551)
Perpetual bonds KEE 36,450 53,000
Total deficits B A4 R (39,998) (9,551)

BRREERA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MRE MR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 39. A& A) B iR & @)
THE COMPANY (continued)

The amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest- FEW FENTHT B A R FUE TR -
free and repayable on demand. B REREREE -
Note: BIsE -
Share Special Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
B2 RE Rl E RitEE wct
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB T T BB T T BB T T BB T T
(Note)
(B %)
At 1 July 2021 H2021F7A1H 521,046 47,196 (622,392) (54,150)
Loss and total comprehensive EREE &
expense for the year >HEMALBE - - (14,890) (14,890)
At 30 June 2022 72022F6 A30H 521,046 47,196 (637,282) (69,040)
Loss and total comprehensive R EE K&
expense for the year 2HEMAZERE - - (13,897) (13,897)
At 30 June 2023 #2023F6 A30H 521,046 47,196 (651,179) (82,937)
Note: Special reserve represented the capital contribution from Mizk: BRIREEREERARBERE
Honour Grace Limited which is based on the total equity of ZERAERAG([RR])NELABE
Green Riches Holdings Limited (“Green Riches”) at the date of R TR ETTIEE

Reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
/\/\l:l /\ﬁﬁ’%i&%MTEE

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

40. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 40. 2D M B D B EE1E
COMPANY

a. The Company had the following a. RIMEEKR > XRQBHEE
subsidiaries at the end of the reporting THHEAT :
period:

Issued and fully
Place of paid ordinary
incorporation/  share capital/  Attributable equity Proportion of
establishment/ registered  interest held by  voting power held

Name of subsidiaries operations capital the Company by the Company  Principal activities
ERTRER
ML,/ LERRE/ KAEREN NG
WEARER R/ BEhE ERER FEfE g REEHLA TEEHK

2023 2022 2023 2022
2023F 20226 2023F  2022fF

Green Riches (Note i) BVI US$1 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding

21 () EBERAMS (EF REBR

Pegasus Motion Pictures Hong Kong HK$1 N/A 100% N/A 100%  Film production
Production Umited (Note i)

REEZHEBRL B A¥iT  FEA TER EAE

(W‘ﬂu)

Pegasus Motion Pictures Hong Kong HK$1 N/A 100% N/A 100%  Film distribution
(Hong Kong) Limited
(Note iii)

AEEFLM(ER) 0 A¥iT  FEA TER BYET
BRAE i)

Pegasus Motion Pictures BVI US$1 N/A 100% N/A 100%  Film distribution and
Distribution Limited production
(Note iii)

AEEFRTERAA EERAMS 11 TER TER BEYATREE
(i)

ERREBETE PRC HK$1,500,000 N/A - 100% N/A 100%  Service provider of the
BB (Note iil Group for facilitating

the establishment and
expansion of the Group's
business in the PRC

AzUNGE =y 25 ¢| HE #%1,500,0000  FEA TER RERERAEERDE
BRAF (M) EBMASERBHES
Cinema City Group Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% 100% 100%  Cinema operations and
management
EYNEEBRAR BE BRI FhEfERER

BFIRIREBR AR 2022/23 F#
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
/\/ \ IZI /\ﬁﬁ’%i&%MT I:UI_

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

40. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

40. AR T B A B FHE @

IR - NARER

a. The Company had the following a. wE
HIYE A

subsidiaries at the end of the reporting
period: (Continued)

—/|?§

B

Issued and fully

Place of paid ordinary
incorporation/  share capital/  Attributable equity Proportion of
establishment/ registered  interest held by  voting power held
Name of subsidiaries operations capital the Company by the Company  Principal activities
ERTRER
ML,/ LERRE/ KAEREN NG
MEARER A/ BEhE ERER FEfE g RERENLA TEEK
2023 2022 2023 2022
2023F 202266 2023F  2022FF
Cinema City (Langham Place)  Hong Kong HK$3,000,000 100% 100% 100% 100%  Cinema operations
Limited
EXH (AR ERR 0 7%:3,000,00070 gl
Hope Sound Limited BVI US$100 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
("Hope Sound") (Note i)
ABERRAR(5E)) ABRIES 100%7T REBR
()
Hong Kong Transmit Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
Entertainment Limited
EEERREARAT B 1007 REBR

HERMEYIRERERAR PRC RMB10,000,000 N/A 100% N/A 100%  Cinema management and

(Note iii)

operation in the PRC

TERNEYRERERAR HE ARE  TER TER REBEEEREEY
(i) 10,000,0007C

HEREXEEERLG PRC RMB5,000,000 N/A 100% N/A 100%  Film distribution in the PRC
(Note iii)

TAREXERBRAR  HE ARE  TER TER REERTEY

(i) 5,000,0007T

LENEEZRERBRBLA  PRC RMB$7,500,000  100%  100%  100%  100%  Cinema operation in the PRC
(Note i, v)

LENEEYREBEERAR HE AR JialEE A

(BizHi ~ v) 7,500,0007C

Guangzhou Huohua PRC HK$500,000 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding

Investment Company

Limited (Note i, v)
BEMAEREBRAR HE
(BfEii - v)

7 #500,0007 RARK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
/\/ \ IZI /\ﬁﬁ’%i&%MT I:UI_

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

40. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

40. AR T B A B FHE @

a. The Company had the following a. RIMWEEKR > XRQBHEE
subsidiaries at the end of the reporting THMBAT | @

period: (Continued)

Issued and fully

Place of paid ordinary
incorporation/  share capital/  Attributable equity Proportion of
establishment/ registered  interest held by  voting power held
Name of subsidiaries operations capital the Company by the Company  Principal activities
ERTRER
ML,/ LERRE/ KAEREN NG
MEARER A/ BEhE ERER FEfE g REEHLA TEEK
2023 2022 2023 2022
2023F 20226 203F 2022F
Guangzhou Daide (Note v) PRC RMB500,000 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
BMEE(Fzy) h AE#500,0007 RERR
Beijing Transmit Hong Kong HK$100 100%  100% 100%  100% Investment holding
Entertainment Limited
FRERREBRAA) B 1007 REBR
Transmit Creation Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
BREAEARAR BE AB1007T RERR
Transmit Talent Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
BEERERAA B 100 REBR
Khorgas Houhai (Note v) PRC RMB12,500,000 100% 100% 100% 100%  Television series production
ERMRIEG(Fv) i AR EREIRE
12,500,0007T
Beijing Juhai Culture Media ~ PRC RMB3,000,000 100% 100% 100% 100%  Television series production
Company Limited (Note v)
RS EEAERAT  H AEE EREIRE
(Fi3Ev) 3,000,0007T
PHESXLERERAR  PRC RMB5,000,000  100%  100%  100%  100% Television series production
(Note v)
ANEEEBRARAT & AEE ERBIRE
(Fi3Ev) 5,000,0007T
REBEBRILEE PRC RMB1,000,000  100%  100%  100%  100%  Screenwriter management
AR (Note v)
REERAR ULER i AEH REIER
AR () 1,000,0007
REBEREREBRAR  PRC RMB1,000,000  100%  100%  100%  100% Artiste management
(Note v)
AEEEREREABLRE  THE AR ZAER
(fitzEv) 1,000,007
BIRIREEF R AR 2022/23 3R 243



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
/\/\l:l Eﬁ &%Mﬁ%ﬁt_

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

40. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

40. AR T B A B FHE @

a. The Company had the following a. RIMWEEKR > XRQBHEE
subsidiaries at the end of the reporting THMBAT | @

period: (Continued)

Issued and fully

244

Place of paid ordinary
incorporation/  share capital/  Attributable equity Proportion of
establishment/ registered  interest held by  voting power held
Name of subsidiaries operations capital the Company by the Company  Principal activities
BRTRAR
HMRL/ LERRA,/ RRRBEN RRFRE
MEARERE R/ EE s ZREX FEfh R A BREENLH FTEEER
2023 2022 2023 2022
2023% 2022 2023F  2022F
REBENATILEE PRC RMB1,000,000  100%  100%  100%  100%  Director management
EB 7 (Note v)
REEEMHNILEE HE ARE EEER
BRAR (Fiv) 1,000,0007
REEEARLEE PRC RMB1,000,000 100% 100% 100% 100%  Internet celebrity
EB 7 (Note v)
REBERRILER HE ARE N
BRAR (Fiv) 1,000,0007
REERSHULER PRC RMB1,000,000  100%  100%  100%  100% Internet celebrity
EB 7 (Note v)
REERSHULER HE ARE N
BRAR (Fiv) 1,000,0007
REBELHEEERRAR  PRC RMB500,000  100%  100%  100%  100%  Advertising
(Note v)
REEREBEEARAT  E AR#500,0007 45
(Mizty)
REBEERYILERRAR  PRC RMB10,000,000 51% 51% 51% 51% Internet celebrity
(Note v)
REBEERVICARDR  HE ARE N
(M) 10,000,0007C
BEEEHE(KE)BRAR  PRC RMB6,000,000  100%  100%  100%  100% E-commerce business
(Note v
BEAERE(KE)BRAT  HE ARE EHER
(MizEv) 6,000,0007C
EERGK(LE)RHERLE  PRC RMBS6,000,000 N/A  100% N/A  100%  E-commerce business
(Note iv)
BERR( LB RBARLRR  HE AR%E  TER TER EHER
(PizEiv) 6,000,0007C
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/\/ \ IZI Eﬁﬂ’j} $&%§I}H>EJ\I_

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

40. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

40. AR T B A B FHE @

a. The Company had the following a. RIMWEEKR > XRQBHEE
subsidiaries at the end of the reporting THMBAT | @

period: (Continued)

Issued and fully

Place of paid ordinary
incorporation/  share capital/  Attributable equity Proportion of
establishment/ registered  interest held by  voting power held
Name of subsidiaries operations capital the Company by the Company  Principal activities
BRTRAR
HMRL/ LERRE/ KATREN N2
MEARERE MY/ BEh ZREX FEfL I RERENLA TREH
2023 2022 2023 2022
2023F 202266 2023F  2022FF
Wenlan (Note v) PRC RMB11,666,667 60% 60% 60% 60%  Artiste management
BIR (i) HE ARE AR
11,666,6677C
aEEELEEERRAR  PRC RMB5,000000  100%  100%  100%  100%  Film distribution and
(Note v) production
RRRELEEERAA A ARE BYRITRAE
(Btstv) 5,000,0007%
ERMRIBEULER PRC RMB5,000,000  100%  100%  100%  100%  Film distribution and
BRAF (Note v) production
ERERBEULER i AR BY BT REE
ARAR(Hz) 5,000,0007
FRERREBRAR) PRC RMB1,000,000  100%  100%  100%  100% Investment holding
(Note v)
FREEREBRAT HE AR REZR
(Fstv) 1,000,0007%
AR EEBRAE  PRC RMB5,000,000  100%  100%  100%  100% Television series/films
(Note v) production
KBZEXBEERAE  H ARE ERE/TRALE
(Fstv) 5,000,0007C
IRBETMLER PRC RMB2,000,000 60% 60% 60% 60%  Artiste management
BB (Note v)
FREEFALEE HE AR EAER
AR (M) 2,000,007
FRESXEEERAR  PRC RMB1,000,000  100%  100%  100%  100% Television series/films
(Note v) production
FEREN(BREARLR ARE ERE/TRALE
(Firstv) 1,000,0007%

BFIRIREBR AR 2022/23 F#
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fre BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

40. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

a. The Company had the following
subsidiaries at the end of the reporting
period: (Continued)

Notes:

(i) Except Green Riches and Hope Sound, all other subsidiaries
are indirectly owned by the Company.

(i) The subsidiary is a wholly-foreign owned enterprise
established in the PRC.

(i)  These subsidiaries were disposed of during the year
ended 30 June 2023. Details are set out in note 33.
(iv)  The subsidiary was deregistered during the year ended 30

June 2023.

(v) These are limited liability companies established in the
PRC.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities

outstanding at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2022/23

40. AR T B A B FHE @

Q
—/|9'§

Wi -

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

EHR - ARBHER

'JKﬁJ;"AE L (@)

B

BRMRABI  AHMLN
BRFEEARRARZESR

% MY B A R) A S o B AR A7 B S
BEELE -

ZEWE R AR B E202356
H30RLLEERADHE - #1565
BRMIFESS ©

%M B A B R B E20235F6 A
B0RILLFEAT G

ZERABPERINABRE
ERA] e

RERKFEREAER - ZHB
NABER AR E R ESES



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

40. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

b.

Details of non-wholly owned

subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interests

The table below shows details of the non-wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Company that has material non-

controlling interests:

Place of

40. AR T B A B FHE @

b. BEEERFERERAIF
2EWE L RIS

TREJNEAEANIFEBHE RN
ARRFFREMBARNFE

Proportion of
ownership interests Total comprehensive
and voting rights  (expense) income

incorporation and held by allocated to Accumulated
principal place of non-controlling non-controlling non-controlling
Name of subsidiaries business interests interests interests
ML B R FERBERENNE SEREFERERN
WEAREE TEREmH REZRREELS 2EER)BALE R FERES
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
2023%F  2022F  2023%F  2022F  2023%F  2022F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BE%Tn BETx
Wenlan PRC 40% 40% (3,207) 1,661 48,881 52,088
R s
Individually immaterial subsidiaries PRC 513 (304) 4,525 4,012
with non-controlling interests
BRFERES 2 ERTEXR H
fEAR
(2,694) 1,357 53,406 56,100
BEIRREEE R A R] 2022/23 F3R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R IR

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

40. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 40. AARIME X AFE @

COMPANY (Continued)
b. Details of non-wholly owned b. BEEEAREEZRERAIE
subsidiaries that have material non- 2EMB A TR @)

controlling interests (continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the ERBEEEAREERERTNAE
Group's subsidiary that has a material non-controlling EffE QR BERSEEH
interest is set out below. The summarised financial WM AN BERERRY S
information below represents amounts before intragroup B REEE ALY -
eliminations.
Wenlan i
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T ST IT
Current assets RENEE 98,868 95,750
Current liabilities mEIAaE (14,841) (21,315)
Non-current assets EREEE 52,237 76,521
Non-current liabilities EmeEatE (14,063) (20,736)
Equity attributable to owners RAEER ANEL R
of the Company 73,320 78,132
Non-controlling interests FEIERR 48,881 52,088
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A30H IFFE

40. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

b.

Details of non-wholly owned b.

subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interests (continued)

40. AR T B A B FHE @

BAEEARFFIERERMIE
2EMNE DTS @

Wenlan (Continued) RS ()
For the For the
year ended year ended
30 June 30 June
2023 2022
BZ HE
2023%F 20224
6H30H 6H30H
WHFE IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Revenue Wz 58,477 103,044
Expenses X (56,217) (94,719)
Profit for the year FE R 2,260 8,325
Other comprehensive expense FRAEMEERX
for the year (10,277) (4,173)
Total comprehensive (expense) income FARAZME(F X ) WA EEE
for the year (8,017) 4,152
Profit for the year attributable to: THIATHEAEFEAER] -
— Owners of the Company VNI Z=DN 1,356 4,995
- Non-controlling interests —JEfE R 904 3,330
2,260 8,325
Other comprehensive expense THA TR FEAREAM
for the year attributable to: ZHEMX :
— Owners of the Company e VNSIE 2PN (6,166) (2,504)
— Non-controlling interests — IR (4,111) (1,669)
(10,277) (4,173)

ERREF RN 7] 2022/23 F



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MRE MR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H L FE

40. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 40. ZRFMBE A AFHF @

COMPANY (Continued)
b. Details of non-wholly owned b. BEEEAREEZRERAIE
subsidiaries that have material non- 2EM B A TS @)

controlling interests (continued)

Wenlan (Continued) B (@)
For the For the
year ended year ended
30 June 30 June
2023 2022
BZE HE
2023% 20224
6A30H 6H30H
LtFE IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT

Total comprehensive (expense) income T3 A+ EEFRNE2E

for the year attributable to: (FZ) A 4% -
— Owners of the Company B YNGIEZ=DN (4,810) 2,491
- Non-controlling interests —JEfE Rt (3,207) 1,661
(8,017) 4,152
Net cash inflow from operating WRESTE) 7 IR M ASEEE
activities 14,848 12,822
Net cash (outflow) inflow from K& EFSH2ESCRE)
investing activities AFEE (8,945) 8,285
Net cash outflow from financing MEEFH RS R LR
activities (765) (1,925)
Net cash inflow BemAFE 5,138 19,182
41. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 41. REBERSBE
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a freezing MRIREEIKRZ - BMNTHR R AR ERT
order under assets protection in respect of the Group’s 60% M 3T 360 AT 5 3l 2 {35k 3 AN &= B A RS
equity interest in Wenlan was imposed by the Guangzhou HE0% RIERHEERERES ES
Intermediate People’s Court in connection with the arbitration 25 ANEBRFEEFZBERNHE
detailed in note 3bb. In the opinion of the Directors, the THERAZEABITME W TBHELS
Group is in the process of conciliation with claimant with the EENERNEEES AREFENERYE
assistance of the Group's legal advisor and it is not expected EERE AT Z o

that the freezing of the equity interests in Wenlan would have
a material adverse impact on the Group's business operations.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

B 75 478 &

FINANCIAL RESULTS

B RE

For the year ended 30 June

BZ6A30ALEE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
20194 20204 2021F 20224 2023F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BB BETT BB BB BETR
Revenue 6 668,130 465,534 456,988 703,981 166,429
Cost of sales HEMKK (405,843)  (291,830)  (325,857)  (577,836)  (120,238)
Gross profit EA 262,287 173,704 131,131 126,145 46,191
Other gains and losses ElE REE 21,055 -580 115,287 (1,108) 3,739
Other income Hip e A 11,347 42,348 70,416 66,945 48,709
Selling and distribution expenses 4% RE{TH (207,271) (181,793) (159,453) (84,225) (74,928)
Administrative expenses THHY (67,316) (60,997) (82,413) (82,634) (65,499)
Net foreign exchange (loss) gain X (18 ) Yias $48 (226) (2,210) - - =
Fair value change on purchased CERBREATES
call option - - 4,781 (16,803) (3,423)
Impairment loss on property, ME  BEREEN
plant and equipment REEE - (2,189) - - =
Impairment loss on interests in REE N AR
associates BEEE (16,317) - - - =
(Impairment loss) reversal of EHEEBBEAET
impairment loss on trade and other 25 & A eI FIE
receivables under expected (REERE)RERERRD
credit loss model - (2,998) 44 (998) 2,361
Impairment losses recognised on B EHAMREERE
goodwill - - - (67,652) (117,802)
Impairment loss on right-of-use FREBERESSE
assets - (28,895) - - -
Fair value change on contingent ENGAREBENATE
consideration payable EE) (20,511) (6,161) 1,268 1,529 (8,538)
Finance costs AR A (11,630) (57,630) (67,382) (23,365) (18,590)
Share of results of associates NG ES (1,484) (855) - - -
Share of results of a joint venture  fEfE—fIA KX ELEE 97 (6) 8) - -
(Loss) profit before tax BRI (B8 B H (29,969) (128,262) 13,671 (82,166)  (187,780)
Income tax (expense) credit EH (AL ER (5,719) 885 (5,450) (6,974) 2,276

BFIRIREBR AR 2022/23 F#
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

B 75478

For the year ended 30 June

HZ6A30ALEE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
20194 20204 2021F 2022F 20235
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
(Loss) profit for the year FR(EE)EN (35,688)  (127,377) 8,221 (89,140)  (185,504)
Other comprehensive income FREMZERA(FAS)
(expense) for the year
Items that may be reclassified BrAeET I EZ A
subsequently to profit or loss HE B
Reclassification adjustments upon 5 ARz 7 — M EAF
disposal of a subsidiary included REEEETDEAZ
in profit or loss 165 - - - (830)
Reclassification adjustments upon s AfB% 7 — 4 A F)
disposal of an associate included ~ RHEREHN DAL
in profit or loss - (321) - - -
Share of exchange difference of (B E DB RAE g
associates arising on translating BELNERZ%E
foreign operation 305 - - - =
Share of exchange difference of E—FAEC£RAE
a joint venture arising on BIEBEENELESR
translating foreign operation (133) - - - -
Exchange difference on translating B5MERinE 7 EH =4
foreign operation 5,266 (1,144) 24,144 (12,386) (28,962)
Total comprehensive income FREARA () @8
(expense) for the year (30,085) (128,842) 32,365 (101,526) (215,296)
(Loss) profit for the year THALHER
attributable to: FABE)RN :
Owners of the Company NGIE 2N (35,504) (126,598) (7,633) (92,166) (186,920)
Non-controlling interests g (184) (779) 15,854 3,026 1,416
(35,688)  (127,377) 8,221 (89,140)  (185,504)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERABE
Total assets BERE 989,832 1,784,249 1,630,880 1,264,286 922,564
Total liabilities BfERRE (903,616)  (1,578,644)  (1,381,072)  (865,259)  (755,383)
86,216 205,605 249,808 399,027 167,181
Equity attributable to owners of AREEE NEG
the Company 1B 90,179 (37,884) (9,535) (121,685  (334,287)
Perpetual bonds KEEE - 204,600 204,600 464,612 448,062
Non-controlling interests FERER (3,963) 38,889 54,743 56,100 53,406
86,216 205,605 249,808 399,027 167,181
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